AGENDA for the Zeeland Board of Public Works
3:30 p.m. — Tuesday, November 11, 2025
Zeeland Board of Public Works
Water Warehouse Meeting Space

330 E. Washington Ave., Zeeland, Ml 49464

Call Meeting to Order — Announcement of Quorum

Review and Approve Minutes of the October 14, 2025 Regular Meeting*
Public Comment

Safety Minute

Financial Reports*
A. Electric Utility Statement of Revenues and Expenditures
B. Water Utility Statement of Revenues and Expenditures
C. Cash Disbursements
1. Electric
2. Water
D. Summary of Cash Position and Recommended Cash Transfers

Department Reports, Project Updates, Bid Recommendations
A. Accounting, Finance & Customer Service
1. Finance & Customer Service Department Report
2. Approve Water Rate Revisions®
3. Approve Electric Rate Revisions*
4. Approve Request to Commit PFAS Settlement Funds*
B. Water
1. Water Department Report
2. Bid Recommendation: Church Street Reconstruction — Central Ave. to Clean Water
Plant*
3. Professional Services Recommendation: Carlton Pump Station Addition of 3¢ Pump*
C. Transmission & Distribution
1. T&D Department Report
D. Power Supply and Market Operations
1. Power Production Department Report

Other Business

A. Introduction of New Employee

B. Approve MPPA Commercial & Industrial Demand Response Resolution and Participation
Agreement*

C. Informational - Water and Electric Terms of Service
D. Informational - MPIA Fall 2025 Board Meeting Summary
E. Upcoming Events

Adjourn

* denotes Board Action requested



Regular Meeting
Board of Public Works
Water Warehouse
October 14, 2025

The regular meeting of the Board of Public Works Commission was held at the BPW Water Warehouse, 330 E. Washington,
Tuesday, October 14, 2025. Chairperson Boerman called the meeting to order at 3:31 p.m.

PRESENT: Commissioners — Chairperson Boerman, Vice Chair Cooney, Query, Walters

ABSENT: Commissioners — VanAst

Staff Present: BPW General Manager Boatright; Electric Power Supply & Market Operations Manager
Mulder; Electric, Transmission and Distribution Manager Coots; Water Operations
Manager Postma, City of Zeeland ACM/Finance Director, City of Zeeland IT Director
Maloney

Guests Present: Mark Beauchamp, Utility Financial Solutions; Kurt Wassink, HR Solutions

Motion was made by Commissioner Walters and seconded by Commissioner Query to approve the minutes of the September
9, 2025 Regular Meeting. Motion carried. All voting aye.

Public Comment
No public comment given.

Safety Minute
The Safety Minute this month was “October is National Pedestrian Safety Month.”

25.047 Approve Cash Disbursements and Regular Monthly Transfers

Motion was made by Commissioner Query and seconded by Commissioner Walters to approve the July, 2025 cash
disbursements and the regular monthly transfers for the month of August, 2025 as follows:

Cash and Investments as of : August 30, 2025
Electric Water

Receiving $ 3,640,487 ) 817,417
Accumulated Debt Service (in Receiving Fund) - -
Plant Improvements and Contingencies 12,833,910 12,081,834
Bond and Interest Payment Reserve* - -

Totals $ 16,474,397 ) 12,899,250
* Reserve required per electric and water revenue bond ordinances.
Recommended Transfers for the Month: August-25

Electric Water

Receiving (57,645) (345.,200)
Accumulated Debt Service - -
Plant Improvements and Contingency - 345,200
General Fund (per charter provision) 57,645 -

Motion carried. All voting aye.



Water Department Report
Water Operations Manager Postma updated the Board on activities, current operations status, and projects.

Transmission and Distribution Operations Report
Manager Coots updated the Board on current activities including the T & D Department Report.

Manager Coots explained as part of a comprehensive preventative maintenance program, switchgear should be periodically
cleaned to remove dust, debris, and corrosion that accumulate naturally over time, especially in outdoor equipment.
Compromised equipment insulation increases the risk of arcing to the ground, potentially damaging equipment, causing
outages, and posing safety risks to employees and the public. Cleaning reduces the likelihood of energized equipment
tracking and ensures the effectiveness of the equipment's insulation.

For several years, the BPW has had our pad-mounted switchgear and metering cabinets cleaned by Premier Line Services
with excellent results. Premier Line Services also cleans equipment for neighboring municipal utilities, such as the Holland
Board of Public Works and the Grand Haven Board of Light and Power. However, Premier Line Services has disclosed not
coming to Michigan to perform the dry ice cleaning. It was stated that this was due to other large projects tying up their
available resources.

Finding a utility dry ice cleaning contractor has been somewhat challenging due to the niche job being performed. Staff
found a Michigan based outfit that specializes in dry ice cleaning for both utility and industrial products. References were
provided by Strength H20 Industrial Solutions to confirm their track record in working in the utility space. The budgeted
professional service has been included in the FY 2026 Operations and Maintenance budget for utility lines professional and
contracted services. We estimated the cost to be approximately $30,000 for three days of switchgear and equipment dry ice
cleaning.

25.048 Approve Padmount Switchgear Dry Ice Cleaning Contract Professional Services

Motion was made by Commissioner Query and seconded by Commissioner Walters that a not-to-exceed professional
services contract totaling $29,500 be awarded to Strength H20 Industrial Solutions to perform padmount switchgear dry ice
cleaning. Motion carried. All voting aye.

Manager Coots explained as part of our transmission and five-year substation system maintenance schedule, the BPW is
planning for equipment testing and maintenance to be performed at Washington Substation. This maintenance and testing
ensure compliance with all manufacturer and NETA guidelines for proper operation of equipment and utility best practice.
Also, maintenance and testing identify equipment that may be nearing failure that can be replaced before it creates outages
or hazards. The following recommendation is for preventive maintenance and equipment testing at Washington
Substation.

Bidder Name ' Quote Meets Comments
Specification
Shermco $62,812 YES Recommendation
Premier Power Maintenance | $69,357 YES
Electric Power Systems $64,500 YES
25.049 Award Bid for Washington Substation Preventative Maintenance and Equipment Testing Professional
Services

Motion was made by Commissioner Walters and seconded by Commissioner Query to award the bid for Washington
Substation Preventative Maintenance and Equipment Testing to Shermco Industries, Inc. for a total price of $62,812.
Motion carried. All voting aye.



Manager Coots explained that padmount switchgears have many uses on our system ranging from circuit sectionalizing,
load transfers, and looping electrical feeds to customers. Currently our system has 178 pad-mounted switchgear cabinets,
and with our continued growth and increased exposure, keeping a proper supply of switchgear in inventory is imperative.
The following bid award recommendation was submitted for Board approval:

Zeeland Board of Public Works Medium Voltage Switchgear Bids
Switchgear QTy. IRBY Border States PLS
PMH-9 or PSI/II-9 5 ]S 105,205 |$ 128967 | $ 134,915
PMH-10 or PSI/II-10 2 |s 48,438  |$ 54,748 | S 57,273
PMH-11 or PSI/II-11 3]s 68061 | 72,955 S 76,319
PMH-12 or PSI/II-12 1 s 19,651 |$ 28516 | S 29,829
Total Cost: | $ 241,355 S 285,186 S 298,336

*|RBY lead times for all units to be roughly 30 weeks, Border States & PLS roughly 40 weeks

25.050 Award Bid for Padmount Switchgear

Motion was made by Commissioner Query and seconded by Commissioner Walters to award the bid for padmount
switchgear to Stuart C. Irby Co. in the amount of $241,355.00. Motion carried. All voting aye.

Commissioner Cooney joined the meeting at 4:10 p.m.

Electric Cost of Service Study Presentation

Mark Beauchamp, President of Utility Financial Solutions, presented the results of the Electric Cost of Service Study. The
study’s findings were reviewed with the Board of Commissioners. Staff listened to Commissioner input which will be used
to guide the next phase of the process - rate design. After thoughtful discussion, the Commissioners directed staff and
Consultant Beachamp to proceed with rate design based on a 1.5 percent overall average rate increase and a $1.00 per month
increase in the customer charge for the Residential customer classification.

Accounting, Finance & Customer Service Report

ACM/Finance Director Plockmeyer updated the Board on current operations status, activities and projects. Director
Plockmeyer also provided a review of FY 2025 financials as well as an update on the anticipated rate adjustment for the
Water Utility effective January 1, 2026.

Electric Power Supply & Market Operations Report
Manager Mulder updated the Board on current operations status, activities, projects and buildings & grounds.

Manager Mulder explained that in conjunction with the BPW Office expansion and remodel project, staff have identified
the need to upgrade the current security system from a few basic motion detectors to a modern security / intrusion
detection system. This upgrade includes a centrally located security panel, keypad displays for control, numerous door
contacts, and motion/glass-break sensors throughout, along with an auto-dialer for remote notification.

Quotes were requested from several local contractors, one of which chose to sub-contract a portion of these services. The
results are provided below.



Monitoring
Quoted Bidder Bid Service
Bidder System Location Amount (Monthly) MNotes
*Bid includes 10% mark-up
) | ic /R ) DMP ; $}30.0?I$35,10? through Inline Electric
Inline Electric / Riverside XR150 Holland / GR, Ml $12,800.00 (Intru&.lon rlly «Does not include Lakewood's
Fire & Intrusion) | ge; op fee
Recommendation
Inline Electric / Total Fire & DMP $65.00 | “Bidincludes 10% mark-up
Security XR150 Holland / GR, MI $11,700.00 (Fire & Intrusion) | tfrough iniine Electric
*Does notinclude Lakewood's
8% CM fee
) Honeywell $35.00
Parkway Electric & Comm. Vista 128bpt Holland, Ml $11,850.00 (Intrusion Onty)
Honeywell £39.90
717. )
Town & Country Group Vista 128FBPT Zeeland, M| $11,717.00 (Intrusicn Only)

As shown above, the bid spread was narrow with three of the bids falling within $150. The low bidder was Inline Electric
sub-contracting the services of Total Fire & Security. Inline Electric is currently contracted through Lakewood
Construction to perform installation of the general electrical, data, and fire systems associated with the office remodel and
expansion project. The proposals provided by Inline represent combining the fire and security systems and installing them
using a single provider, rather than installing separate systems. Because Inline Electric is already under contract with
Lakewood Construction, staff recommend that this service be added to Lakewood’s scope of work, adding an additional
8% construction management fee to the bid for a total estimated cost of $12,636.00. While this service could be
contracted directly, the additional cost to include it with the overall project managed through Lakewood seems prudent on
a project of this scale. Staff believe this method is preferred, in addition to being the most cost-effective. A $12,000
allocation in the office remodel and expansion project’s amended construction budget was included for this upgrade.

25.051 Award Bid for Intrusion Detection System Installation

Motion was made by Commissioner Walters and seconded by Commissioner Query to include the installation of the
intrusion detection system by Inline Electric/Total Fire & Security in Lakewood Construction’s scope of work for a total
estimated cost of $12.636.00, including 8% construction management fee. Motion carried. All voting aye.

Other Business

Approve Mutual Aid Resolutions

General Manager Boatright requested Board approval of four resolutions recognizing and commending the Holland Board
of Public Works, Lowell Light & Power, Coldwater Board of Public Utilities, and the City of Niles for their exceptional
assistance following the September 20, 2025 straight-line wind event.

25.052 Mutual Aid Resolutions 2025-01, 2025-02, 2025-03, and 2025-04

Motion was made by Commissioner Walters and seconded by Commissioner Walters to approve Resolutions 2025-01
through 2025-04. Motion carried. All voting aye.

Informational — Michigan West Coast Chamber Inspire Award to Yellow Lime Creative

General Manager Boatright shared that Zeeland BPW’s marketing consulting firm, Yellow Lime Creative, was recognized
with the Inspire Award at the Michigan West Coast Chamber of Commerce Annual Awards Celebration held on September
18, 2025. This award honors organizations that exemplify creativity, innovation, and community connection. Yellow Lime
Creative, an all-female marketing agency, was commended for its contagious energy, bold ideas, and strong community
relationships that inspire others to think differently and take bold risks that foster growth and connection.

General Manager Job Description

The Commissioners discussed key considerations and potential decisions related to the General Manager recruitment
process. The discussion included the review of the updated General Manager job description, the proposed recruitment
approach and timing thereof, and selection panel structure.

Kurt Wassink, HR Solutions, was on-hand at this meeting to participate in the discussion. Mr. Wassink will also facilitate
the recruitment process and provide support throughout.



The Commissioners agreed by consensus that the General Manager recruitment process is to begin with an internal-only
recruitment. It was further agreed that there would be a two-stage interview process beginning with a panel made up of a
cross-section of Commissioners and external stakeholders and the second interview stage would consist of the full Board of
Commissioners. The Commissioners agreed by consensus that Commissioners Cooney and Van Ast would serve on the
initial interview panel. The Commissioners directed consultant Wassink to recruit additional external members of the initial
panel to include City Manager Klunder, a representative from the large industrial class of ZBPW customers, Executive
Coach Jeff Boersma, and a representative from the public power utility community. The Commissioners further directed
consultant Wassink to target an internal recruitment posting by no later than mid-November 2025 and that the initial and
second interviews are targeted for completion on or around the December 9, 2025 regular Board of Commissioners meeting.

25.053 Approve the General Manager Job Description

Motion was made by Commissioner Cooney and seconded by Commissioner Query to approve the General Manager Job
Description dated September 2025. Motion carried. All voting aye.

Upcoming Events

e Next Regular ZBPW Board Meeting, Tuesday, November 11, 2025, 3:30 p.m., Water Warechouse Meeting Space,
330 E. Washington Ave, Zeeland

e Power Supply Strategic Planning and Stakeholder Engagement Initiative Public Meeting, Thursday, October 16,

6:00 p.m., Howard Miller Community Center Banquet Room

MPIA Fall Board Meeting, Tuesday, October 28, 2025, 1:00 p.m., Grand Haven Board of Light and Power

New Utility Billing System Go-Live Date, Monday, November 17, 2025

Holiday Power Dollars Distribution, Monday, December 1 — Friday, December 12, 2025

Zeeland Magical Christmas Parade, Monday, December 1, 2025, 6:30 p.m., Downtown Zeeland

Motion was made and supported that the regular meeting be adjourned at 6:11 p.m. Motion carried. All voting aye.

Andrew Boatright, General Manager



Are you at risk
for complacency?

Complacency affects every workplace and employee to different
degrees. It often shows up as a feeling of security that leads to a
lack of awareness of your surroundings. Though you might think
you are immune, it can be as simple as letting your guard down,
losing focus or not looking for hazards as often as you should.
Depending on your role, this can create serious risks for yourself
and others in your workplace. While no one plans to become
complacent, we all have to be on the lookout for it, and being an
engaged worker can help.

COMPLACENCY RISKS

Safe, engaged employees often work in-the-moment, meaning
they are focused on their tasks and their surroundings.
Complacent workers, however, may perform their jobs in an
“auto-pilot” mode, moving from step to step without thinking
critically about their actions. This can increase the potential

for risks and injuries, and it can happen regardless of age or
experience. Whether it's the result of spending too much time on
a task or getting too comfortable with a daily routine, we can all
work to prevent complacency risks.

SPOTTHE SIGNS OF COMPLACENCY

No one knows you better than yourself, but complacency can
mean you don't see the dangers right in front of you. To stay safe,
you must learn to spot the signs of complacency in yourself:

+ Dissatisfaction with your work and/or lack of motivation

+ Missing steps in work processes

* Frequent near-misses or incidents

Since it can be difficult to recognize these signs in yourself, you
should also learn to spot them in your co-workers. The more

you learn to see these signs in others, the easier it may be to
see them in yourself. In addition to the above signs, look for:
+ Changes in attitude

+ Noticeable increase or decrease in communication

+ Tardiness for meetings or shifts

Complacency isn't just about losing focus on the task at

hand, it can also come up in terms of expectations. If you
work closely with a co-worker or team and you get used to
their performance, you might expect that same performance
each time and neglect to check in on them. Those expectations
can create risks if they cause you to overlook the signs of
complacency in your co-workers.

National Safety Council | nsc.org

598071 1120 ©2020 National Safety Council

S-MINUTE

Safety Talk

EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT

If complacency is a rut which many workers fall into, then
employee engagement can be the key to getting them out of
it. Simple steps to regain focus and invest in safety can reduce
everyone’s risks:

- Set yourself up for success at work by consciously focusing
on your tasks

+ Recognize and dismiss distractions when they come up

+ Look for improvements in your routine or the way you
approach your tasks

- If possible, consider changing some elements of your schedule
for the day; the change could help you focus and keep you from
falling into "auto-pilot” mode

In addition to getting yourself engaged, find ways to do the same

for your co-workers so you are all working safely:

- Make safety a part of your routine by including co-workers in
safety talks and inspections

+ Encourage your co-workers to talk through the steps of a task
with you, even if you have lots of experience working together

- Offer to help your co-workers with a task, and point out any
apparent risks so they aren't overlooked

Don'tignore the signs of complacency in yourself, and don't

be afraid to voice your concerns when you see them in your

fellow employees. Everyone is susceptible to these risks, and

sometimes we need an outside perspective to notice how our

behaviors have changed.




Zeeland Board of Public Works
Statement of Revenue & Expenses
Electric Utility Fund
September 2025

PRIOR YEAR
ACTIVITY FOR ACTIVITY % OF September 2025 BUDGET % OF COST AS BUDGET % DELTA YTD BALANCE 2025-26 2025-26 YTD BALANCE
GLNUMBER MONTH 9/30/2025 OPERATING REVENUE BUDGET OPERATING REVENUE OF ACTUAL REVENUE F/(U) 9/30/2025 AMENDED BUDGET REMAINING BUDGET 9/30/2024
Fund 582 - ELECTRIC UTILITY FUND
CHARGES FOR SERVICE 3,308,180.44 3,268,310.69 10,658,791.93 38,769,996.34 28,111,204.41 10,272,148.51
OTHER REVENUE 6,306.97 6,775.19 13,550.79 80,370.00 66,819.21 15,837.96
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 3,314,487.41 3,275,085.88 10,672,342.72 38,850,366.34 28,178,023.62 10,287,986.47
240 - CONTINGENCIES 0.00 0.00% 14,259.94 0.44% S 14,431.49  $ 14,431.49 0.00 169,157.00 169,157.00 0.00
252 - FRINGE BENEFITS 0.00 0.00% 126.45 0.00% $ 127.97 $ 127.97 0.00 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.00
536 - POWER PRODUCTION 75,425.76 2.28% 109,887.24 336% S 111,209.26 $ 35,783.50 268,706.46 1,303,526.00 1,034,819.54 239,270.55
537 - INTERCHANGE POWER 2,017,608.87 60.87% 2,184,059.24 66.69% $ 2,210334.97 $ 192,726.10 6,377,280.59 25,908,176.00 19,530,895.41 6,040,588.69
539 - TRANSMISSION (166,375.48) -5.02% 366,776.15 11.20% $ 371,188.72 $ 537,564.20 917,370.24 4,350,844.00 3,433,473.76 1,213,783.88
540 - UTILITY LINES 145,321.27 4.38% 163,464.72 4.99% $ 16543131 $ 20,110.04 416,215.58 1,939,083.23 1,522,867.65 415,092.10
542 - STREET LIGHTING & SIGNALS 76.93 0.00% 521.45 0.02% $ 527.73 $ 450.80 2,892.32 6,185.67 3,203.35 3,961.91
543 - METERS 380.45 0.01% 3,663.20 0.11% $ 3,707.27 $ 3,326.82 4,116.76 43,454.30 39,337.54 4,884.00
545 - SUBSTATIONS 28,208.11 0.85% 18,566.39 0.57% $ 18,789.75 $ (9,418.36) 63,285.41 220,241.85 156,956.44 19,160.85
546 - ACCOUNTING 20,840.46 0.63% 33,038.20 1.01% $ 33,435.67 $ 12,595.21 58,635.03 391,912.23 333,277.20 65,617.87
547 - ADMINISTRATION 83,948.04 2.53% 146,220.88 4.46% $ 147,980.01 $ 64,031.97 311,309.18 1,734,529.97 1,423,220.79 297,910.99
551 - CLEAN ENERGY PROGRAM 20,108.72 0.61% 37,935.00 1.16% $ 3839138 $ 18,282.66 120,055.11 450,000.00 329,944.89 78,770.19
571 - BUILDINGS & GROUNDS 17,730.78 0.53% 29,451.98 0.90% $ 29,806.31 $ 12,075.53 51,468.79 349,371.10 297,902.31 60,177.41
572 - INSURANCE & BONDS 35,307.15 1.07% 42,611.12 130% $ 4312376 S 7,816.61 105,921.45 505,470.00 399,548.55 105,477.30
576 - CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS 0.00 0.00% 4,215.00 0.13% $ 4,265.71 $ 4,265.71 0.00 50,000.00 50,000.00 0.00
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENDITURES 2,278,581.06 68.75% 3,154,796.95 96.33% $ 3,192,751.32 914,170.26 8,697,256.92 37,423,451.35 28,726,194.43 8,544,695.74
Fund 582 - ELECTRIC UTILITY FUND:
NET OF OPERATING REVENUES & EXPENDITURES 1,035,906.35 120,288.93 1,975,085.80 1,426,914.99 (548,170.81) 1,743,290.73
NON-OPERATING REVENUES
Equity Adjustment in MPIA 620,842.01 84,300.00 1,268,227.21 1,000,000.00 (268,227.21) 1,069,737.04
Equity Adjustment in MPPA 11,948.99 8,430.00 45,178.97 100,000.00 54,821.03 190,021.00
Interest Earnings - Imp & Add 88,899.40 16,860.00 132,532.37 200,000.00 67,467.63 82,188.21
Sale of Fixed Assets 0.00 2,529.00 12,000.00 30,000.00 18,000.00 0.00
Capital Contributions (390.96) 4,215.00 8,688.75 50,000.00 41,311.25 8,033.25
TOTAL REVENUES 4,035,786.85 3,391,419.88 12,138,970.02 40,230,366.34 28,091,396.32 11,637,965.97
NON-OPERATING EXPENSES
550 - DEPRECIATION 239,276.64 7.22% 246,825.00 7.54% S 249,794.48 S 10,517.84 717,829.93 2,927,936.00 2,210,106.07 648,498.36
965 - TRANSFERS OUT 57,644.50 1.74% 58,313.18 1.78% $ 59,014.72 % 1,370.22 172,933.50 691,734.00 518,800.50 161,368.26
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 2,575,502.20 3,459,935.13 9,588,020.35 41,043,121.35 31,455,101.00 9,354,562.36
NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES 1,460,284.65 (68,515.25) 2,550,949.67 (812,755.01) (3,363,704.68) 2,283,403.61



Zeeland Board of Public Works
Statement of Revenue & Expenses

Water Utility Fund
September 2025

PRIOR YEAR
ACTIVITY FOR ACTIVITY % OF September 2025 BUDGET % OF COST AS BUDGET % DELTA YTD BALANCE 2025-26 2025-26 YTD BALANCE
GLNUMBER MONTH 9/30/2025 OPERATING REVENUE BUDGET OPERATING REVENUE OF ACTUAL REVENUE F/(U) 9/30/2025 AMENDED BUDGET REMAINING BUDGET 9/30/2024
Fund 591 - WATER UTILITY FUND
CHARGES FOR SERVICE 552,505.35 543,686.74 1,863,390.13 5,808,619.00 3,945,228.87 1,646,919.12
OTHER REVENUE 878,052.31 1,949.22 1,263,610.66 20,825.00 (1,242,785.66) 10,681.20
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 1,430,557.66 545,635.96 3,127,000.79 5,829,444.00 2,702,443.21 1,657,600.32
240 - CONTINGENCIES 0.00 0.00% 883.40 0.16% $ 2,316.12 2,316.12 0.00 10,130.78 10,130.78 0.00
252 - FRINGE BENEFITS 0.00 0.00% 87.20 0.02% $ 228.62 228.62 0.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00
534 - SOURCE OF SUPPLY 207,910.81 14.53% 223,076.09 40.88% $ 584,864.69 376,953.88 636,846.56 2,558,212.00 1,921,365.44 595,241.47
535 - PUMPING 27,623.08 1.93% 41,838.82 7.67% $ 109,693.72 82,070.64 108,591.50 479,802.94 371,211.44 95,178.44
538 - TRANSMISSION 15,762.94 1.10% 39,257.94 7.19% $ 102,927.14 87,164.20 53,406.82 450,205.73 396,798.91 93,638.20
546 - ACCOUNTING 11,357.03 0.79% 16,863.82 3.09% $ 44,213.85 32,856.82 32,720.04 193,392.41 160,672.37 35,122.87
547 - ADMINISTRATION 40,349.69 2.82% 61,570.08 11.28% $ 161,425.49 121,075.80 123,658.54 706,078.93 582,420.39 125,291.09
571 - BUILDINGS & GROUNDS 7,164.40 0.50% 12,594.66 231% $ 33,020.90 25,856.50 21,104.56 144,434.22 123,329.66 28,148.24
572 - INSURANCE & BONDS 11,769.05 0.82% 14,693.20 2.69% $ 38,522.88 26,753.83 35,307.15 168,500.00 133,192.85 35,159.10
576 - CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS 0.00 0.00% 872.00 0.16% $ 2,286.22 2,286.22 0.00 10,000.00 10,000.00 0.00
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENDITURES 321,937.00 22.50% 411,737.21 75.46% S 1,079,499.64 757,562.64 1,011,635.17 4,721,757.01 3,710,121.84 1,007,779.41
Fund 591 - WATER UTILITY FUND:
NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES 1,108,620.66 133,898.75 2,115,365.62 1,107,686.99 (1,007,678.63) 649,820.91
NON-OPERATING REVENUES
Interest Earnings - Imp & Add 84,808.47 12,645.00 118,641.37 150,000.00 31,358.63 81,711.15
Rents 38,688.00 6,722.26 38,688.00 79,742.08 41,054.08 0.00
Sale of Fixed Assets 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Contributed Capital 3,901.00 2,107.50 15,152.00 25,000.00 9,848.00 486.00
TOTAL REVENUES 1,557,955.13 567,110.72 3,299,482.16 6,084,186.08 2,784,703.92 1,739,797.47
NON-OPERATING EXPENSES
550 - DEPRECIATION 90,180.70 6.30% 102,077.63 18.71% $ 267,628.87 S 177,448.17 270,542.09 1,170,615.00 900,072.91 292,132.38
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 412,117.70 513,814.84 1,282,177.26 5,892,372.01 4,610,194.75 1,299,911.79
NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES 1,145,837.43 53,295.88 2,017,304.90 191,814.07 (1,825,490.83) 439,885.68




FUND 582 - ELECTRIC
CHECK DATE FROM 09/01/2025 - 09/30/2025

Check Date Check # Payee Description Amount
09/02/2025 140993(A)# ACE HARDWARE CHECK GEN 140993(A) TOTAL FOR FUND 582: 155.46
09/08/2025 141029(A)# ACE HARDWARE CHECK GEN 141029(A) TOTAL FOR FUND 582: 64.19
09/22/2025 141088(A)# ACE HARDWARE CHECK GEN 141088(A) TOTAL FOR FUND 582: 153.93
09/29/2025 141122(A) ACE HARDWARE TERM RNG INS, TERMINAL RING 41.96
09/02/2025 140995(A) ACTION INDUSTRIAL SUPPLY CO. LENS CLEANING TOWELETTES 8.48
09/29/2025 141123(A) ACTION INDUSTRIAL SUPPLY CO. MEGA PAM PERSONAL ANTI-FATIGUE MAT INSOLE 20.79
09/22/2025 141091(A) AD BOS OFFICE COFFEE SERVICE EQUIPMENT RENTAL NEWCO AIRPOT BREWER - SEPTEMBEF 14.24
09/19/2025 187190 ALLYSON HOEKSTRA REFUND OF DEPOSIT ON FINAL ACCOUNT: 50090440-27 48.17
09/22/2025 141093(A) B.J.W. Berghorst & Sons 1-1/2" CONSTANT SWING 49.99
09/02/2025 140998(A) BORDER STATES INDUSTRIES WIRELESS PHASING METER, END SECTION TEL-O-POLE 3,530.08
09/19/2025 187195 BRUCE BECKETT REFUND OF DEPOSIT ON FINAL ACCOUNT: 50031074-12 31.84
09/19/2025 141084(A) CONSTELLATION NEWENERGY NATURAL GAS USAGE 8/1/25 - 8/31/25 7,322.82
09/22/2025 141095(A)# COOPERATIVE RESPONSE CENTER, INC. CHECK GEN 141095(A) TOTAL FOR FUND 582: 528.86
09/22/2025 141096(A) CRESCENT ELECTRIC SUPPLY CO,. CHECK GEN 141096(A) TOTAL FOR FUND 582: 3.05
09/29/2025 141125(A) DEYOUNG IND. WASTE DISPOSAL DISPOSAL FEE 530.00
09/08/2025 141037(A) Don's Flowers & Gifts INTERIORSCAPING - BPW 61.50
09/19/2025 187199 DUTCH KLEEN JANITORIAL SERVICE 8/15/25 - 9/15/25 1,800.00
09/19/2025 187200# ECOLAYERS, INC. TREEAM/IMAM HOSTING - SEPTEMBER 2025 125.00
09/19/2025 187201 EVELYN HOEKJE CLEAN ENERGY PROGRAM: APPLIANCE RECYCLING 50.00
09/22/2025 141099(A) EXTEND YOUR REACH BPW BILL STUFFING AND MAILING SEPTEMBER 2025 257.50
09/12/2025 187160 FARABEE MECHANICAL INC. POWER PLANT UNIT #1 REPAIR DIAGNOSE/REPLACE CRACK 5,213.19
09/30/2025 141149(E)#  FIRST BANKCARD CREDIT CARD ACCT THRU 8/29/25 4,420.61
09/30/2025 141285(E)#  FIRST BANKCARD CREDIT CARD ACCT THRU 9/30/25 6,660.26
09/12/2025 187162 FRESH COAST LABEL LLC ANODIZED ALUMINUM CORNERS, PREMASK ADHESIVE 151.64
09/12/2025 187164 GRAPHIX EMBROIDERY CORNERSTONE TEE BLACK, NAVY ROAL, REGATTA BLUE 92.64
09/26/2025 187271 HOLLAND LITHO PRINTING SERVICE POSTAGE ESTIMATE 1,738.69
09/15/2025 141069(A) HR SOLUTIONS GROUP OF WEST MICHIGAN HR SERVICES - AUGUST 2025 - TALENT ACQUISITION HR SPI 1,330.86
09/22/2025 141101(A) HR SOLUTIONS GROUP OF WEST MICHIGAN HR SERVICES - AUGUST 2025 - TALENT ACQUISITION WATEF 286.09
09/22/2025 141102(A) INTEGRITY BUSINESS SOLUTIONS PAPER 8.5X11 10RM/CT 210.83
09/08/2025 141042(A) INTEGRITY LANDSCAPE MANAGEMENT LLC BPW SITES LAWN MAINTENANCE INSTALLMENT 6 OF 6 840.75
09/16/2025 141083(E)#  INVOICE CLOUD AUGUST 2025 BILL PRESENTMENT & CREDIT CARD FEES 2,132.18
09/12/2025 187167 JAMES A. DONKERSLOOT CITY LEGAL FEES - AUGUST 2025 1,136.81
09/19/2025 187206 JASON SPAREY-LEVAC UNIFORM ALLOWANCE REIMBURSEMENT 410.22
09/19/2025 187208 JONATHAN & BETH WILMOT CLEAN ENERGY PROGRAM: 10318 SUMMERWOOD DR 35.00
09/05/2025 187111 JOON YOUNG CHAN CLEAN ENERGY PROGRAM: 10356 JILL LYNN DR 100.00
09/26/2025 187278 KACIE KRUITHOF REFUND OF DEPOSIT ON FINAL ACCOUNT: 50016183-03 59.66
09/19/2025 187210 KEVIN STOUT & SAMANTHA BACON REFUND OF DEPOSIT ON FINAL ACCOUNT: 50031096-03 103.53
09/26/2025 187283 KRISTINE & JEANETTE IDE REFUND OF DEPOSIT ON FINAL ACCOUNT: 50094350-01 155.51
09/22/2025 141106(A) LAMB INDUSTRIAL SUPPLY 16" ROLLING HEAD PRY BAR, KNOCK'ER LOOSE OIL, CONTA 127.47
09/19/2025 187211 LARRY DOORNBOS CLEAN ENERGY PROGRAM: 136 SOUTH ELM STREET 250.00
09/19/2025 187213 LINDE GAS & EQUIPMENT INC. CYLINDER RENTAL 7/20/25 - 8/20/25 300.88
09/02/2025 141006(A) MAIN STREET AUTO REPAIR FULL SERVICE OIL CHANGE VEHICLE #554 67.42
09/12/2025 187172 MARK BAUMANN GRASS COST REIMBURSEMENT AFTER TREE TRIMMING 189.43
09/19/2025 187216 MAST HEATING & COOLING PSA COOLING MAINTENANCE - 347 E WASHINGTON 122.00
09/26/2025 187286 MAST HEATING & COOLING CHECK GEN 187286 TOTAL FOR FUND 582: 2,589.75
09/02/2025 141008(A) MERLE BOES INC. DEF FLUID, BARRELS, HS&E, BARRELS 531.30
09/05/2025 141027(A)#  MICHIGAN PUBLIC POWER AGENCY PURCHASED POWER EXPENSE - 8/16/2025-8/22/2025 299,628.87
09/12/2025 141059(A)#  MICHIGAN PUBLIC POWER AGENCY PURCHASED POWER EXPENSE - 8/23/2025-8/29/2025 929,083.13
09/19/2025 141085(A)#  MICHIGAN PUBLIC POWER AGENCY PURCHASED POWER & COMMITTEES - MONTHLY BILLING - ¢ 433,623.14
09/26/2025 141121(A)#  MICHIGAN PUBLIC POWER AGENCY PURCHASED POWER EXPENSE - 9/6/2025-9/12/2025 456,472.35
09/05/2025 187117 OC COMMUNITY ACTION AGENCY DIRECT ASSISTANCE GRANT APPOINTMENTS SERVICE FEE 389.06
09/19/2025 187223 OFFICE OUTLET CLEAN ENERGY PROGRAM C&l: OFFICE OUTLET 310.46
09/19/2025 187224 OTTAWA COUNTY ROAD COMMISSION 72ND AVE AND BYRON ROAD PERMITS 400.00
09/22/2025 141108(A)#  Parkway Electric & Comm. LLC CHECK GEN 141108(A) TOTAL FOR FUND 582: 1,415.00
09/19/2025 187225 PAULA-MARIE FERRARA REFUND OF DEPOSIT ON FINAL ACCOUNT: 50254006-07 95.90
09/04/2025 141028(E) PITNEY BOWES PREPAID POSTAGE FOR STAMPS 750.00
09/02/2025 141012(A)# PKM CONSULTING, LLC SUBSTATION ENGINEERING SERVICES 11,010.57
09/29/2025 141133(A) PKM CONSULTING, LLC RECKITT, EMPLOYEE MEAL REIMBURSEMENT 819.58



09/22/2025 141109(A)#  Plant Growth Management System CHECK GEN 141109(A) TOTAL FOR FUND 582: 2,097.60
09/02/2025 141013(A)# POWER LINE SUPPLY CHECK GEN 141013(A) TOTAL FOR FUND 582: 348.43
09/08/2025 141046(A) POWER LINE SUPPLY CHECK GEN 141046(A) TOTAL FOR FUND 582: 6,202.32
09/22/2025 141110(A)#  POWER LINE SUPPLY CHECK GEN 141110(A) TOTAL FOR FUND 582: 3,137.18
09/29/2025 141134(A)# POWER LINE SUPPLY CHECK GEN 141134(A) TOTAL FOR FUND 582: 5,469.48
09/26/2025 187290 PREMIER POWER MAINTENANCE REMOVE & INSTALL NEW BUSHING 7,676.10
09/02/2025 141014(A) PURITY CYLINDER GASES, INC. NITROGEN, CYLINDER EXCHANGE PROGRAM, GAS HAZ MAT 63.65
09/29/2025 141135(A) PURITY CYLINDER GASES, INC. NITROGEN, GAS HAZ MAT FEE 30.95
09/26/2025 187292 RACHEL GRAYBILL REFUND OF DEPOSIT ON FINAL ACCOUNT: 50094170-39 51.81
09/19/2025 187226 RANDY HILL REFUND OF DEPOSIT ON FINAL ACCOUNT: 50254046-05 42.47
09/02/2025 141016(A) Repco-Lite Paints, Inc. METL CLAD SEMI GLOSS BASE, RAZOR SCRAPER & BLADES 72.30
09/05/2025 187122 REPUBLIC SERVICES #240 WASTE PICKUP - AUGUST 2025 1,076.42
09/19/2025 187228 RITAJUDSON REFUND OF DEPOSIT ON FINAL ACCOUNT: 50240222-04 (0.88)
09/19/2025 187229 RIVER CLUB APARTMENTS REFUND OF DEPOSIT ON FINAL ACCOUNT: 50274900-19 270.43
09/19/2025 187231 RYAN GELDERLOOS REFUND OF DEPOSIT ON FINAL ACCOUNT: 50057004-01 50.33
09/30/2025 141278(E)# SEMCO ENERGY GAS COMPANY SERVICE 8/20/25 - 9/18/25 242.94
09/19/2025 141086(A) SEMCO ENERGY, INC. USAGE 8/1/25 - 8/31/25 4,838.48
09/22/2025 141112(A) Signs Now BPW PARKING & DOWNSTAIRS SIGNS 192.05
09/19/2025 187233 SPARTAN STORES, LLC. PURIFIED WATER & BUTTER 59.47
09/15/2025 141073(A) SPRYPOINT SERVICES IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS PAYMENT - MILESTONES 45, ¢ 26,332.50
09/05/2025 187126 STATE OF MICHIGAN MONTHLY SALES TAX PAYMENT - AUGUST 2025 55,894.94
09/05/2025 187127 STUART C IRBY CO DURH SOCKET - OFFSET METER 4 TERMINALS RINGLESS CO 6,860.00
09/19/2025 187236 STUART C IRBY CO DIE PRESS 3757-P TOOL ACCESSORY 919.24
09/05/2025 187130 UNIFIRST CORPORATION MATS, WIPERS, MOPS, AIR FRESHENER 167.97
09/26/2025 187296 UNIFIRST CORPORATION MATS, WIPERS, MOPS, AIR FRESHENER 167.97
09/08/2025 141054(A) WEST MICHIGAN DOCUMENT SHREDDING SECURE SHREDDING PURGE 101.62
09/22/2025 141115(A) WEST MICHIGAN DOCUMENT SHREDDING SECURE SHREDDING PURGE 67.50
09/05/2025 187132 WESTENBROEK MOWER CENTER SWITCH-SINGLE POLE FOR LAWN MOWER 13.49
09/02/2025 141022(A) Western Tel-Com, Inc. SERVICES PLACED INJULY 2025 625.00
09/22/2025 141116(A) Western Tel-Com, Inc. CHECK GEN 141116(A) TOTAL FOR FUND 582: 54,693.30
09/08/2025 141057(A) YELLOW LIME CREATIVE MONTHLY FIXED AMOUNT - BPW 3,999.54
09/12/2025 187187 ZEELAND BAKERY DOZEN DONUTS & 5 PIGS IN A BLANKET FOR ZEELAND LUME 48.50
09/19/2025 187242# Zeeland BPW BPW UTILITIES STATEMENT DUE 9/22/25 2,514.08
09/19/2025 187243# ZEELAND PUBLIC SCHOOLS JULY FUEL CHARGES - BPW 1,423.67
Total for fund 582 ELECTRIC UTILITY FUND 2,363,803.49

'#-INDICATES CHECK DISTRIBUTED TO MORE THAN ONE DEPARTMENT



FUND 591 - WATER
CHECK DATE FROM 09/01/2025 - 09/30/2025

Check Date Check # Payee Description Amount
09/02/2025 140993(A)# ACE HARDWARE CHECK GEN 140993(A) TOTAL FOR FUND 591: 128.95
09/08/2025 141029(A) ACE HARDWARE BEDNG FRK 10TN FBGL HNDL 11.25
09/22/2025 141088(A)# ACE HARDWARE CHECK GEN 141088(A) TOTAL FOR FUND 591: 33.66
09/22/2025 141091(A) AD BOS OFFICE COFFEE SERVICE EQUIPMENT RENTAL NEWCO AIRPOT BREWER - SEPTEMBEF 4.75
09/19/2025 187191 ALYSSA BRASWELL REFUND OF DEPOSIT ON FINAL ACCOUNT: 50240392-05 9.00
09/19/2025 187195 BRUCE BECKETT REFUND OF DEPOSIT ON FINAL ACCOUNT: 50031074-12 1.99
09/22/2025 141095(A) COOPERATIVE RESPONSE CENTER, INC. BASE FEE, CRC LINK USER LICENSE, MULTISPEAK OMS INTE 339.95
09/08/2025 141037(A) Don's Flowers & Gifts INTERIORSCAPING - BPW 20.50
09/19/2025 187199 DUTCH KLEEN JANITORIAL SERVICE 8/15/25 - 9/15/25 600.00
09/02/2025 141003(A) ETNA SUPPLY INC. MEGALUG RET GLAND FOR DI IMPORT BOLT AND GASKET SE 602.75
09/22/2025 141099(A) EXTEND YOUR REACH BPW BILL STUFFING AND MAILING SEPTEMBER 2025 128.75
09/22/2025 141100(A) FASTENAL PPHMS 8-32X1/2Z 8.88
09/30/2025 141149(E)#  FIRST BANKCARD CREDIT CARD ACCT THRU 8/29/25 1,333.61
09/30/2025 141285(E)#  FIRST BANKCARD CREDIT CARD ACCT THRU 9/30/25 1,533.03
09/26/2025 187267 GREAT LAKES ENERGY SERVICE FROM 8/7/25 - 9/7/25 65.29
09/01/2025 140935(E)# HOLLAND BOARD OF PUBLIC WORKS WATER/COMMUNICATIONS JULY 2025 USAGE 209,739.32
09/05/2025 187103 HOLLAND BOARD OF PUBLIC WORKS BACTI SAMPLES - AUGUST 2025 600.00
09/15/2025 141069(A) HR SOLUTIONS GROUP OF WEST MICHIGAN HR SERVICES - AUGUST 2025 - TALENT ACQUISITION HR SPI 443.62
09/22/2025 141101(A) HR SOLUTIONS GROUP OF WEST MICHIGAN HR SERVICES - AUGUST 2025 - TALENT ACQUISITION WATEF 2,178.59
09/22/2025 141102(A) INTEGRITY BUSINESS SOLUTIONS PAPER 8.5X11 10RM/CT 70.27
09/08/2025 141042(A) INTEGRITY LANDSCAPE MANAGEMENT LLC BPW SITES LAWN MAINTENANCE INSTALLMENT 6 OF 6 395.25
09/16/2025 141083(E)# INVOICE CLOUD AUGUST 2025 BILL PRESENTMENT & CREDIT CARD FEES 1,059.83
09/12/2025 187167 JAMES A. DONKERSLOOT CITY LEGAL FEES - AUGUST 2025 131.69
09/22/2025 141104(A) KENNEDY INDUSTRIES, INC. PUMP STATION PREVENTATIVE MAINTENANCE 5,650.00
09/19/2025 187210 KEVIN STOUT & SAMANTHA BACON REFUND OF DEPOSIT ON FINAL ACCOUNT: 50031096-03 32.36
09/26/2025 187283 KRISTINE & JEANETTE IDE REFUND OF DEPOSIT ON FINAL ACCOUNT: 50094350-01 67.36
09/26/2025 187286 MAST HEATING & COOLING CHECK GEN 187286 TOTAL FOR FUND 591: 961.25
09/04/2025 141028(E) PITNEY BOWES PREPAID POSTAGE FOR STAMPS 250.00
09/08/2025 141047(A) PREIN & NEWHOF P.C. CHECK GEN 141047(A) TOTAL FOR FUND 591: 540.00
09/05/2025 187122 REPUBLIC SERVICES #240 WASTE PICKUP - AUGUST 2025 358.81
09/19/2025 187228 RITA JUDSON REFUND OF DEPOSIT ON FINAL ACCOUNT: 50240222-04 0.68
09/19/2025 187231 RYAN GELDERLOOS REFUND OF DEPOSIT ON FINAL ACCOUNT: 50057004-01 0.93
09/30/2025 141278(E)#  SEMCO ENERGY GAS COMPANY SERVICE 8/20/25 - 9/18/25 100.62
09/22/2025 141112(A) Signs Now BPW PARKING & DOWNSTAIRS SIGNS 64.02
09/12/2025 187180 SITE WORK SOLUTIONS SERVICES THROUGH 8/2/25 - 8/29/25 - TAFT, LAWRENCE AN 129,066.89
09/15/2025 141073(A) SPRYPOINT SERVICES IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS PAYMENT - MILESTONES 45, « 8,777.50
09/19/2025 187237 THOMAS & MIRANDA CUATT REFUND OF DEPOSIT ON FINAL ACCOUNT: 50240436-09 6.84
09/05/2025 187129 TOTAL ENERGY SYSTEMS, LLC CHECK GEN 187129 TOTAL FOR FUND 591: 3,014.88
09/05/2025 187130 UNIFIRST CORPORATION MATS, WIPERS, MOPS, AIR FRESHENER 37.78
09/26/2025 187296 UNIFIRST CORPORATION MATS, WIPERS, MOPS, AIR FRESHENER 35.39
09/05/2025 187131 VAN DER KOLK PLUMBING LLC WATER SERVICE REPLACEMENT AT 157 N STATE ST 3,352.91
09/12/2025 187183 VAN DER KOLK PLUMBING LLC WATER SERVICE REPLACEMENT 32,013.98
09/19/2025 187238 VAN DER KOLK PLUMBING LLC WATER SERVICE REPLACEMENT 8,819.53
09/08/2025 141054(A) WEST MICHIGAN DOCUMENT SHREDDING SECURE SHREDDING PURGE 33.88
09/22/2025 141115(A) WEST MICHIGAN DOCUMENT SHREDDING SECURE SHREDDING PURGE 22.50
09/05/2025 187132 WESTENBROEK MOWER CENTER SWITCH-SINGLE POLE FOR LAWN MOWER 4.50
09/02/2025 141023(A) Windemuller Electric Inc. AUTOMATION SERVICES AT ZEELAND CARLTON BOOSTER S 1,175.11
09/19/2025 187241 WONDER PROPERTIES LLC REFUND OF DEPOSIT ON FINAL ACCOUNT: 50130716-00 1,087.19
09/08/2025 141057(A) YELLOW LIME CREATIVE MONTHLY FIXED AMOUNT - BPW 1,000.46
09/19/2025 187242# Zeeland BPW BPW UTILITIES STATEMENT DUE 9/22/25 22,295.25
09/22/2025 141119(A) Zeeland Print Shop BUSINESS CARDS FOR JASON POSTMA 90.00
09/19/2025 187243# ZEELAND PUBLIC SCHOOLS JULY FUEL CHARGES - BPW 377.75
Total for fund 591 WATER UTILITY FUND 438,679.30

'#-INDICATES CHECK DISTRIBUTED TO MORE THAN ONE DEPARTMENT



BOARD OF PUBLIC WORKS

SUMMARY OF CASH POSITION

Cash and Investments as of : September 30, 2025
Electric Water

Receiving $ 4,676,506 1,760,536
Accumulated Debt Service (in Receiving Fund) - -
Plant Improvements and Contingencies 12,711,793 12,215,845
Bond and Interest Payment Reserve* - -

Totals $ 17,388,299 13,976,381
* Reserve required per electric and water revenue bond ordinances.
Recommended Transfers for the Month: September-25

Electric Water

Receiving (934,145) (1,288,400)
Accumulated Debt Service - -
Plant Improvements and Contingency 876,500 1,288,400
General Fund (per charter provision) 57,645 -

Notes on Recommended Transfers:

1 The annual operating transfer for FY 25-26 from the Electric Fund to the General Fund is a combination of
1% of net fixed assets as of June 30, 2024 and 1% of gross sales, less sales tax, for the year ended June 30, 2024,

less any franchise payments. The annual operating transfer is divided into twelve monthly

payments.

2 Assumed carrying amounts (minimum) in Receiving accounts are established at approximately 10%

of budgeted operating expenses, before depreciation.

Electric = 10% of $ 37,423,451 or approximately $ 3,742,345

Water = 10% of $ 4,721,757 or approximately $ 472,176

3 Further surpluses of $876,500 in the Electric Fund and $1,288,400 in the Water Fund are recommended

for transfer to the Plant Improvements and Contingencies Reserve.



ZEELAND
TO: Chairperson Boerman and Members of the Board of Public Works 0 Board orpub|iclv:r!,rks
FROM: Kevin Plockmeyer, ACM of Infrastructure/City Services and Finance

SUBJECT:  Accounting, Finance & Customer Service Update

DATE: November 4, 2025
September 2025 Customer Metrics August 2025 Customer Metrics
e Overdue/Disconnect Notices = 209 e Overdue/Disconnect Notices = 212
e Active Accounts = 8,015 e Active Accounts = 8,012
e Total Bills Sent = 8,046 e Total Bills Sent = 8,050
o Paperless Bills = 2,454 o Paperless Bills = 2,437
e NorthStar Pre-Authorized Payment e NorthStar Pre-Authorized Payment
Customers = 2,264 Customers = 2,272
e Invoice Cloud = 3,440 e Invoice Cloud = 3,401
o Credit Card = 2,722 o Credit Card = 2,680
o EFT=718 o EFT=721
MyMeter

e MyMeter Active Accounts as of March 31, 2024 = 738

Sprypoint Billing Software Transition — After extensive testing and numerous meetings, the Sprypoint Team
informed us on October 29 that we are approved to go live with Sprypoint on November 17. The Customer
Service and Sprypoint Teams will be working over the November 15 weekend in preparation for the transition.
Our goal is for customers to experience minimal impact to their service, with the exception of Invoice Cloud,
which will be unavailable November 12 through 19 during the transition from Northstar to Sprypoint. Again, |
want to express my sincere thanks to Kelcie and Kerri for their hard work in making this transition possible.

Holiday Power Dollars — Our annual Holiday Power Dollars program officially begins December 1.
From December 1 through December 12 at 5:00 p.m., customers can claim their certificates, which
can be redeemed through January 31. Thank you to the Board for their continued support of this very
popular program.

November Electric Shutoffs — Due to new state legislation, electric shutoffs can now occur between
November and April, which was previously not allowed. While we have communicated this change to
our customers, we recognize it may come as a surprise since it has not been standard practice.
Additionally, as part of financial assistance requirements during the winter months (November
through April), the BPW is now responsible for covering heating costs in addition to electric. We will
be navigating this new process and will monitor its impact closely. Unfortunately, we do not yet know
the financial implications of this legislative change, but we will keep the Board updated as the season
progresses.




_ . ZEELAND
TO: Chairperson Boerman and Commissioners Board of Public Works
FROM: Andrew M. Boatright, General Manager
CC: Kevin Plockmeyer, City of Zeeland Assistant City Manager / Finance Director

SUBJECT: 2026 Water Rate Revision Ordinance

DATE: November 7, 2025

Attached for the Board’s consideration are materials outlining the 2026 Water Rate Design and the
corresponding Ordinance to implement the updated water utility rates effective January 1, 2026.

The 2026 Water Rate Design, prepared by Utility Financial Solutions, LLC, recommends an overall 4.9%
revenue increase to maintain adequate reserves, recover inflationary and debt-related costs, and ensure
continued reinvestment in water utility infrastructure. This adjustment aligns with the multi-year cost-of-service
plan initiated in 2025 to sustain the long-term financial stability of the water utility.

The accompanying Ordinance formally updates Section 40-121 of the Zeeland City Code to reflect the revised
water rate schedule, including readiness-to-serve and commodity charges. These rates continue to be cost-
based, equitable, and consistent for water utility customers served by the Zeeland BPW.

Recommendation:

Approve the proposed 2026 Ordinance language as presented. Upon Board approval, this action item will be
placed on the November 17, 2025 City Council agenda for consideration and adoption.

Attachments: 2026 Utility Financial Solutions Water Rate Design Memo
Ordinance No. 1045: Water Rate Revisions Effective January 1, 2026

Zeeland Board of Public Works o 350 East Washington Avenue o Zeeland, Michigan 49464 o 616-772-6212 o www.zeelandbpw.com



UFS UTILITY FINANCIAL
SOLUTIONS, LLC

October 8, 2025

Mr. Kevin Plockmeyer
City of Zeeland
Zeeland, M| 49464
Dear Mr. Plockmeyer,

Per your request below is the 2026 Water Design with an overall 4.9% revenue increase.

2026 Rate Design 4.9%

Proposed
Meter Size Current Rates 2026
5/8" 'S 11.00 $ 12.00
3/4" é 15.75 17.00
1" é 27.00 29.00
11/2" g 53.00 57.00
2" d 97.00 104.00
3" d 179.00 192.00
4" é 277.00 297.00
6" é 625.00 625.00
8" é 1,290.00 1,290.00
10" é 1,930.00 1,930.00
Commodity Charge S 1.66 S 1.73
e 1

LOveraII Increase 4.9%}



Rate Impacts by Meter Size and Usage - 4.9%

Current Proposed
5/8" Rates Rates
Customer Charge S 11.00 S 12.00
Commodity Charge 1.66 1.73
Monthly Usage 1,000 Current Dollar Percent
Gallons Rates Proposed Impact Change
3 S 1598 $ 17.19 §$ 1.21 7.57%
5 S 19.30 S 20.65 1.35 6.99%
8 S 24.28 S 25.84 1.56 6.43%
11 S 29.26 $ 31.03 1.77 6.05%
14 S 34.24 S 36.22 1.98 5.78%
Current Proposed
34" Rates Rates
Customer Charge S 15.75 ' $ 17.00
Commodity Charge 1.66 1.73
Monthly Usage 1,000 Current Dollar Percent
Gallons Rates Proposed Impact Change
4 S 2239 §$ 2392 $§ 1.53 6.83%
5 S 24.05 S 25.65 1.60 6.65%
6 $ 25.71 S 27.38 1.67 6.50%
12 S 35.67 S 37.76 2.09 5.86%
15 S 40.65 S 42.95 2.30 5.66%
Current Proposed
1" Rates Rates
Customer Charge S 27.00 S 29.00
Commodity Charge 1.66 1.73
Monthly Usage 1,000 Current Dollar Percent
Gallons Rates Proposed Impact Change
7 S 38.62 §$ 4111 $ 249 6.45%
10 S 43.60 S 46.30 2.70 6.19%
13 S 48.58 S 51.49 2.91 5.99%
16 S 53.56 $ 56.68 3.12 5.83%
19 S 58.54 S 61.87 3.33 5.69%
Current Proposed
11/2" Rates Rates
Customer Charge S 53.00 S 57.00
Commodity Charge 1.66 1.73
Quarterly Usage Level in Current Proposed Dollar Percent
CCF Gallons Rates Rates Impact Change
20 $ 820 $ 9160 S 540 6.26%
25 S 94.50 $ 100.25 5.75 6.08%
30 S 102.80 S 108.90 6.10 5.93%
35 $ 11110 $ 117.55 6.45 5.81%
40 S 11940 S 126.20 6.80 5.70%




Current Proposed
2" Rates Rates
Customer Charge S 97.00 $§ 104.00
Commodity Charge 1.66 1.73
Quarterly Usage Level in Current Proposed Dollar Percent
CCF Gallons Rates Rates Impact Change
45 $ 171.70 $ 181.85 $ 10.15 5.91%
55 S 18830 S 199.15 10.85 5.76%
65 S 20490 $ 216.45 11.55 5.64%
75 S 22150 $ 233.75 12.25 5.53%
85 S 23810 S 251.05 12.95 5.44%
Current Proposed
3" Rates Rates
Customer Charge S 179.00 S 192.00
Commodity Charge 1.66 1.73
Quarterly Usage Level in Current Proposed Dollar Percent
CCF Gallons Rates Rates Impact Change
105 S 35330 $ 373.65 S 20.35 5.76%
135 S 403.10 S 425.55 22.45 5.57%
185 S 486.10 S 512.05 25.95 5.34%
215 $ 53590 $ 563.95 28.05 5.23%
250 S 594.00 $ 624.50 30.50 5.13%
Current Proposed
4" Rates Rates
Customer Charge S 277.00 S 297.00
Commodity Charge 1.66 1.73
Quarterly Usage Level in Current Proposed Dollar Percent
CCF Gallons Rates Rates Impact Change
105 S 45130 S 47865 $ 27.35 6.06%
135 $ 501.10 $§ 530.55 29.45 5.88%
185 S 58410 $ 617.05 32.95 5.64%
215 S 63390 S 668.95 35.05 5.53%
250 S 692.00 $ 729.50 37.50 5.42%
Current Proposed
6" Rates Rates
Customer Charge S 625.00 $§ 625.00
Commodity Charge 1.66 1.73
Quarterly Usage Level in Current Proposed Dollar Percent
CCF Gallons Rates Rates Impact Change
120 S 82420 S 83260 $ 840 1.02%
170 S 907.20 S 919.10 11.90 1.31%
220 S 990.20 S 1,005.60 15.40 1.56%
270 S 1,073.20 $ 1,092.10 18.90 1.76%
320 $ 1,156.20 S 1,178.60 22.40 1.94%




Current Proposed

8" Rates Rates
Customer Charge S 1,290.00 s 1,290.00
Commodity Charge 1.66 1.73

Quarterly Usage Level in Current Proposed Dollar Percent

CCF Gallons Rates Rates Impact Change
175 S 1,580.50 $ 1,592.75 $ 12.25 0.78%
250 S 1,705.00 $ 1,722.50 17.50 1.03%
325 S 1,829.50 $ 1,852.25 22.75 1.24%
400 S 1,954.00 $ 1,982.00 28.00 1.43%
475 $ 2,07850 S 2,111.75 33.25 1.60%

Current Proposed

10" Rates Rates
Customer Charge S 1,930.00 S 1,930.00
Commodity Charge 1.66 1.73

Quarterly Usage Level in Current Proposed Dollar Percent
CCF Gallons Rates Rates Impact  Change

200 S 2,262.00 $ 2,276.00 S 14.00 0.62%
300 S 2,428.00 S 2,449.00 21.00 0.86%
400 S 2,594.00 $ 2,622.00 28.00 1.08%
500 $ 2,760.00 S 2,795.00 35.00 1.27%
600 S 2,926.00 S 2,968.00 42.00 1.44%

I would be happy to set up a call to review. Thank you for the opportunity to provide these
services.

Sincerely,

Dawn Lund

Dawn Lund, Vice-President
Utility Financial Solutions, LLC



CITY OF ZEELAND

ORDINANCE NO. 1045

(Water Rates and Fees— Cost of Service Rate Adjustment -
An Ordinance to Amend Section 40-121 of
Volume I of The Code of the City of Zeeland, Michigan)

Portions of minutes of a Regular Meeting of the City Council of the City of Zeeland, County of Ottawa,

Michigan, held in the Zeeland City Hall in said City on ,2025 at 7:00 o’clock P.M. Local Time.

PRESENT: Council Members

ABSENT: Council Members

The following preamble and ordinance were offered by Council Member

and supported by Council Member

WHEREAS, The Zeeland Board of Public Works desires to have cost-based water utility rates;

AND WHEREAS, based on a recent Cost of Service Study, the BPW current water rates will no longer
sustain adequate cash reserves and net income levels;

AND WHEREAS, water rates must adequately recover interest expense on outstanding debt, if any, and
inflationary increases on the assets invested in the system, and must also provide an adequate rate of return on
investment to ensure that current customers are paying their fair share of the use of infrastructure and not
deferring charges to future generations;

AND WHEREAS, beginning in January 2025, a multi-year rate adjustment plan has been implemented,
providing for an overall average rate increase of approximately 4.9 percent annually over approximately five

years to ensure the timely replacement of assets and to maintain the financial stability of the water utility;



AND WHEREAS, such charges serve a regulatory purpose to ensure that water is used and rationed
in accordance with the need for such commodity;

AND WHEREAS, customers can voluntarily control the amount of their bills since customers have
the ability to somewhat control the amount of water which they use;

AND WHEREAS, the proposed new rate charges are fair and equitable and will promote the public
welfare and they are necessary utility charges.

THE CITY OF ZEELAND ORDAINS.

Section 1. Section 40-121 of the Zeeland City Code, Volume 1 is hereby amended to read in its entirety as
follows:

“Sec. 40-121. - Water rates.

(a) The monthly water charge for a customer is the sum of the “readiness to serve charge”,
the “commodity charge” and the “fire protection charge”. Such charges are to be
determined as follows:

) Readiness to serve charge. This monthly charge for water service is based on

the size of the meter used, and the readiness to serve charge is as follows:

Meter Size (inches) Readiness to Serve Charge*
5/8 $12.00

Ya $17.00

1 $29.00
1 $57.00

2 $104.00

3 $192.00

4 $297.00

6 $625.00

8 $1,290.00
10 $1,930.00

*The readiness to serve charge does not include the purchase of any amount of
water. The commodity charge is applied for all water used.

.



2) Commodity charge. The water commodity charge is $1.73 per hundred cubic feet. (A
ccfis 100 cubic feet of water or approximately 748 gallons.)

3) Fire protection charge. For customers with no private fire protection lines, there shall
be no charge. For customers with private fire protection lines, the fire protection charge

1s as follows:

Service Line Size (inches) Fire Protection Charge**
4 $30.00
6 $67.50
8 $120.00
10 $187.50
12 $270.00

**The fire protection charge shall be multiplied by a factor of 1.5 if the service
line is equipped with a fire booster pump.

(b) The water rate schedule for customers shall be the same for all customers located within
and outside of the Zeeland city limits, except as otherwise provided by this section.

(©) The board of public works is hereby authorized to enter into contracts with large water
users with charges varying from those specified by this section if such water customers
by contract agree to pay a fixed minimum monthly reservation charge. All such
contracts, however, shall be subject to approval by the city council.

(d) The above referenced water charges are found to be user fees. Such water charges serve
aregulatory purpose of ensuring that water is used and rationed in accordance with the
needs of a customer for such a commodity. The charges are proportionate to the costs of
providing water to customers. In addition, it is noted that water customer can
voluntarily control the amount of their bills since water customers have the ability to
control their use of water and they determine the size of their water service, the size of
their water meter, and the size of their fire protection lines.”

Section 2. All Ordinances or parts thereof in conflict with the provisions of this Ordinance are to the extent of

such conflict hereby repealed.



Section 3. The rate adjustment shall first be applied to water customers in January, 2026, and such rate
adjustment shall first be applied to water bills which are due on or after February 1, 2026.

This Ordinance is hereby adopted on the day of , 2025, at a Regular Meeting

of the Zeeland City Council, with the following vote:

AYES: Council Members
NAYS: Council Members
ABSENT: Council Members
City of Zeeland
By:
Richard J. Van Dorp 111, Mayor
By:
Kristi DeVerney, City Clerk
CERTIFICATE
I hereby certify that the foregoing constitutes a true and complete copy of Ordinance No. which
was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Zeeland, County of Ottawa, Michigan, at a Regular Meeting
held on , 2025, and that said meeting was conducted and public notice of said meeting was

given pursuant to and in full compliance with the Open Meetings Act, being Act 267, Public Acts of Michigan,
1976, as amended, and that the minutes of said meeting were kept and will be or have been made available as
required by said Act. I hereby certify that the above Ordinance known as Ordinance No. or a summary
of such Ordinance was published in the Zeeland Record on the day of , 2025.

Kristi DeVerney, City Clerk



_ . ZEELAND
TO: Chairperson Boerman and Commissioners Board of Public Works
FROM: Andrew M. Boatright, General Manager
CC: Kevin Plockmeyer, City of Zeeland Assistant City Manager / Finance Director

SUBJECT: 2026 Electric Rate Revision Ordinance

DATE: November 7, 2025

Attached for the Board’s consideration are materials summarizing the 2025 - 2028 Electric Rate Design and
the associated Ordinance to implement updated electric rates effective January 1, 2026.

The Electric Rate Design presentation, prepared by Utility Financial Solutions, LLC, outlines a planned 1.5%
annual system rate adjustment for January 1 of 2026, 2027, and 2028. The design also includes a $0.015
Power Cost Adjustment (PCA) true-up, establishing a new PCA base rate of $0.060 to align with increased
power supply costs. These updates are part of Zeeland BPW’s continued efforts to ensure cost-based,
financially stable, and transparent electric rates consistent with long-term system reliability and operational
sustainability.

The accompanying Ordinance updates the City Code to reflect the new electric rate schedules, ensuring
consistency with Zeeland BPW’s approved rate design and cost-of-service principles.

Recommendation:

Approve the proposed Electric Rate Design and corresponding Ordinance language as presented. Upon Board
approval, the item will be placed on the November 17, 2025 City Council agenda for City Council consideration
and adoption.

Attachments: Zeeland BPW 2025 Electric Rate Design Slide Presentation
Ordinance No. 1044: Electric Rate Revisions Effective January 1, 2026

Zeeland Board of Public Works o 350 East Washington Avenue o Zeeland, Michigan 49464 o 616-772-6212 o www.zeelandbpw.com



UFS UTILITY FINANCIAL
SOLUTIONS, LLC

Zeeland Board of Public Works

Electric Rate Designs

Jill Jurczyk, Rates Manager
Utility Financial Solutions, LLC



Overview of Proposed Rate Changes

with guidance from the BPU

* 1.5% system rate adjustment to take place on 1/1/2026, 1/1/2027,
and 1/1/2028

* True up the PCA by $S0.015 to reflect increased power supply costs.
* PCA Base will become $0.065



Financial Projection

Projected Rate Track

Projected Debt Adjusted Optimal Bond Issues

Fiscal Rate Coverage Operating Operating Projected Recommended | Including

Year Adjustments Ratio Income Income Cash Balances Minimum Cash Fees Period Rate
2026 1.50% N/A S (742,000) S 2,923,151 'S 16,766,913 S 11,153,149 - - 0.0%
2027 1.50% N/A 179,953 3,003,921 18,366,420 11,318,992 - - 0.0%
2028 1.50% 9.77 415,762 3,203,177 18,044,281 11,884,533 | S 6,000,000 20 5.0%
2029 1.50% 5.39 482,573 3,439,772 17,929,687 12,472,819 | S 6,000,000 20 5.0%
2030 1.50% 5.86 654,754 3,543,431 18,734,615 12,209,593 - - 0.0%

UFS soiirons e 2



Rate Desigh Summary

Implementation Date  1/1/2026 1/1/2027 1/1/2028
Projected Projected Projected
Percentage Percentage Percentage

Change Year Change Year Change Year

Customer Class 1 2 3 COS Rate Adjustment Guidance
Residential (A) 2.25% 2.25% 2.25% 36.2% Higher than avg
General Secondary (B) 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 13.8% Average
Street Light (S) 2.90% 2.90% 2.90% 43.5% Higher than avg
General Secondary (C) 1.37% 1.37% 1.37% 3.1% Lower than avg
Commercial & Industrial Primary (D) 1.37% 1.37% 1.37% 7.2% Lower than avg

Totals 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 13.5% System Average

UFS UTILITY FINANCIAL
SOLUTIONS, LLC



Residential Summary

PCA True Up S 0.015
Rates Current 1/1/2026 1/1/2027 1/1/2028
Monthly Charge:
Service Charge S 12.50 S 13.50 S 1450 S 15.50
Energy Smart Program Fee S 0.50 S 0.50 S 0.50 S 0.50
Total Monthly Charge S 13.00 S 14.00 S 15.00 S 16.00
Energy Charge:
Power Cost Energy S 004500 S 0.06000 S 0.06000 S 0.06000
Distribution Energy S 00180 S 0.01940 S 0.02025 S 0.02115
Total Energy S 006360 S 0.07940 S 0.08025 S 0.08115
Power Cost Adjustment:
All Energy $ 0.02000 $ 0.00500 $ 0.00500 $ 0.00500
Revenue from Rate S 4,868,696 S 4,978,241 S 5,090,252 S 5,204,782
Change from Previous 2.25% 2.25% 2.25%

UTILITY FINANCIAL
SOLUTIONS, LLC

UF



Residential Impacts

Monthly $ Change by Energy Usage

Energy 2026 2027 2028

300 S 1.24 S 1.26 S 1.27

400 S 132 § 134 S 1.36

500 $ 1.40 S 1.43 S 1.45

Change by Monthly Energy (kWh) Usage (%) 600 3 148 5 151 5 1.54

700 S 1.56 $ 1.60 $ 1.63

10.0% e Year 1 em=Year 2 Year 3 800 $ 164 $ 168 $ 1.72
ZZi 900 $ 172 S 177 S 1.81
7:@; 1,000 $ 1.80 $ 1.85 $ 1.90
6.0% 1,100 S 1.88 S 1.94 S 1.99
1,200 S 196 S 202 S 2.08

5.0%

4.0%

3.0% \

Monthly % Change by Energy Usage

. Energy 2026 2027 2028
20% D 300 3.2% 3.2% 3.1%
Lo 400 2.8% 2.8% 2.8%
o 300 400 500 600 700 800 900 1,000 1,100 1,200 500 2.6% 2.5% 2.5%
Energy (kWh) 600 2.3% 2.3% 2.3%
700 2.2% 2.2% 2.2%
800 2.0% 2.1% 2.1%
900 1.9% 2.0% 2.0%
1,000 1.9% 1.9% 1.9%
UFS UTILITY FINANCIAL 1' 100 1'8% 1'8% 1'8% 5

SOLUTIONS, LLC 1,200 1.7% 1.8% 1.8%




General Secondary (B) Summary

Rates Current 1/1/2026 1/1/2027 1/1/2028
Monthly Charge:
Service Charge 26.50 31.50 S 36.50 S 41.50
Energy Optimization S 3.50 S 350 S 3.50 S 3.50

W
W

Total Monthly Charge S 30.00 S 35.00 S 40.00 S 45.00
Energy Charge:

All Energy S 0.07780 S 0.09288 S 0.09298 S 0.09310
Power Cost Adjustment:

All Energy S 0.02000 S 0.00500 S 0.00500 S 0.00500

Voluntary Green Energy S 000940 S 0.00940 S 0.00940 S 0.00940

Revenue fromRate $§ 3,772,746 S 3,829,337 S 3,886,777 S 3,945,079

Change from Previous 1.5% 1.5% 1.5%

Change by Monthly Energy (kWh) Usage (%)

0%
100 nY@ar 1 em—Year 2 Year 3
8.0%

6.0%
0% \
2.0% —

UTILITY FINANCIAL 0.0% c
SOLUTIONS, LLC 1,000 1,500 2,000 2,500 3,000 3,500 4,000 4,500 5,000 5,500

Energy (kWh)




Street Light Summary

Rates Current 1/1/2026 1/1/2027 1/1/2028

Monthly Facilities Charge:
HPS 100W or Less S 890 S 9.20 S 952 S 9.84
HPS 150W 9.50 9.82 10.16 10.50
HPS 250W 11.20 11.58 11.97 12.38
HPS 400W 14.85 15.36 15.88 16.41
HPS 1000W 19.75 20.42 21.12 21.83
MV 100W 6.25 6.46 6.68 6.91
MV 175W 7.15 7.39 7.64 7.90
MV 250W 10.25 10.60 10.96 11.33
MV 400W 21.75 22.49 23.25 24.04
MV 1000W 21.75 22.49 23.25 24.04
LED 1-40W 7.05 7.29 7.54 7.79
LED 41-100W 7.50 7.76 8.02 8.29
LED 101-200W 11.50 11.89 12.30 12.71
100 METALARC 15.35 15.87 16.41 16.97

Revenue fromRate S 145,315 S 149,529 S 153,866 S 158,328
UFS T onaaNa Change from Previous 2.9% 2.9% 2.9% 7



General Secondary (¢) Summary

Rates Current 1/1/2026 1/1/2027 1/1/2028
Monthly Facilities Charge:

Service Charge S 35.00 S 45.00 S 55.00 S 65.00
Energy Optimization S 3250 S 3250 S 3250 S 32.50
Total Monthly Charge S 67.50 S 77.50 S 87.50 S 97.50
Energy Charge:
All Energy S 0.03510 $§ 0.05100 S 0.05215 S 0.05331
Demand Charge
All Demand S 14.00 S 14.00 S 14.00 S 14.00
Power Cost Adjustment:
All Energy S 0.02000 S 0.00500 S 0.00500 S 0.00500
Revenue from Rate S 2,259,757 S 2,290,715 S 2,322,098 S 2,353,911
Change from Previous 1.4% 1.4% 1.4%

Change by Load Factor based on Class Average Demand (%)

10086 e R Ar ] e 23 2 Year 3
9.0%
8.0%
7.0%
6.0%
5.0%
4.0%
3.0%
2.0%

10%
0.0%

UFS UTILITY FINANCIAL 355 0% 455 0% 555 0% 65% 70% 75% 80% 8

SOLUT|ONS, LLC Load Factor




Commercial & Industrial (d) Summary

Rates Current 1/1/2026 1/1/2027 1/1/2028
Monthly Facilities Charge:

Monthly Charge S 75.00 S 100.00 S 125.00 S 150.00
Energy Charge:

All Energy S 00368 S 0.05188 S 0.05198 S 0.05209

Energy Smart Program Fee S 0.00065 S 0.00065 S 0.00065 S 0.00065
Total Energy S 003745 S 0.05253 S 0.05263 S 0.05274
Demand Charge

All Demand S 11.50 S 12.00 S 12.50 S 13.00
Power Cost Adjustment:

All Energy S 0.02000 S 0.00500 S 0.00500 S§ 0.00500

Revenue from Rate $27,851,680 S 28,233,248 $28,620,043 $29,012,138

Change from Previous 1.4% 1.4% 1.4%

Change by Load Factor based on Class Average Demand (%)

10.0% ——YEarl e———Yearl Year3
9.0%
B.0%
7%
6.0%
5.0%
4.0%

3.0%
2.0%

10%

0.0%
UFS UTILITY FINANCIAL 5% 505 555 60% 65% 70% 75% 80% 85% o085 9

SOLUTIONS, LLC Load Factor




Electric Vehicle Charging Station

Rates Current Year 1l Year 2 Year 3
Monthly Facilities Charge:
Single Phase Monthly Charge S 45.00 S 45.00 S 55.00 S 65.00
Three Phase Monthly Charge S 100.00 S 100.00 S 125.00 S 150.00

Energy Charge:

All Energy S 008272 S 0.10294 S 0.10294 S 0.10294
Demand Charge

All Demand S 3.80 S 3.85 S 3.85 S 3.85
Power Cost Adjustment:

All Energy S 0.02000 S 0.00500 S 0.00500 S 0.00500

UF UTILITY FINANCIAL 10

SOLUTIONS, LLC



UTILITY FINANCIAL
SOLUTIONS, LLC

UFS




CITY OF ZEELAND

ORDINANCE NO. 1044

(Electric Service Charges-Cost of Service Rate Adjustment -
An Ordinance to Amend Sections 40-74, 40-77 and 40-99 of
and to Add Section 40-78 to
Volume I of The Code of the City of Zeeland, Michigan)

Portions of minutes of a Regular Meeting of the City Council of the City of Zeeland, County of Ottawa,

Michigan, held in the Zeeland City Hall in said City on , 2025 at 7:00 o’clock P.M. Local Time.

PRESENT: Council Members

ABSENT: Council Members

The following preamble and ordinance were offered by Council Member

and supported by Council Member

WHEREAS, The Zeeland Board of Public Works desires to have cost-based electric utility rates;

AND WHEREAS, based on a recent Cost of Service Study, the BPW current electric rates will no longer
sustain adequate cash reserves and net income levels;

AND WHEREAS, electric rates must adequately recover interest expense on outstanding debt, if any,
and inflationary increases on the assets invested in the system, and must also provide an adequate rate of return
on investment to ensure that current customers are paying their fair share of the use of infrastructure and not
deferring charges to future generations;

AND WHEREAS, beginning in January 2026, a multi-year rate adjustment plan is being implemented,
providing for an overall average rate increase of approximately 1.5 percent annually over approximately five

years to ensure the timely replacement of assets and to maintain the financial stability of the electric utility;



AND WHEREAS, such charges serve a regulatory purpose to ensure that electricity is used and rationed

in accordance with the need for such commodity;

AND WHEREAS, customers can voluntarily control the amount of their bills since customers

have the ability to somewhat control the amount of electricity which they use;

AND WHEREAS, the proposed new rate charges are fair and equitable and will promote the

public welfare and they are necessary utility charges.

THE CITY OF ZEELAND ORDAINS.

Section 1. Section 40-74 of the Zeeland City Code, Volume 1 is hereby amended to read in its entirety as

follows:

“Sec. 40-74 Electrical service charges.

(a) Residential service (rate A).

(1)

2)

Availability. Open to any customer desiring service for domestic and farm
uses, which include only those purposes which are usual in individual private
family dwellings, or separately metered apartments, and in the usual
appurtenant buildings served through the residential meter. This rate is not
available for commercial or industrial service, or for resale purposes.
Residences in conjunction with commercial or industrial enterprises,
homes or dormitories for groups other than private family units, apartment
buildings or multiple dwellings, and mobile homes in courts may take service
on this rate only under terms and conditions contained in the city board of
public works, hereinafter referred to as BPW, standard rules and regulations.
Nature of service. Alternating current, 60 hertz, single phase, 120/240

nominal volts.



)

(4)

©)

(6)

(7)

Monthly rate. The monthly rate is the sum of the service charge, the energy
optimization fee, the energy charge, and the fuel and purchased power cost
adjustment, as such charges and adjustments are defined hereafter.
a. Service charges: $13.50 per customer per month.
b. Energy optimization fee: $0.50 per customer per month.
c. Energy charge: 7.94¢ per kilowatt hour for all kilowatt hours.
Power cost adjustment. A power cost adjustment shall be applied to all
kilowatt-hours in accordance with the Power Cost Adjustment (PCA) Rider
electric service schedule.
Minimum charge. The sum of the service charge and the energy optimization
fee which are included in the monthly rate are the minimum charge.
Term and form of contract, Open order. No written application or contract
required.
Rules and regulations. Service governed by BPW's standard rules and
regulations. Service for single-phase motors may be included under this rate,
provided the individual capacity of such motors does not exceed three
horsepower, nor the total capacity of ten horsepower, without the specific
consent of the BPW.

Where the BPW elects to measure the service on the primary side of
the transformers, three percent will be deducted for billing purposes from the

energy measurements thus made.

(b) General secondary service (rate B).

(1)

Availability. Open to any customer desiring secondary voltage service. This

rate is also available for service to any customer where the city board of



public works, hereinafter referred to as BPW, elects to provide one
transformation from the available primary distribution voltage to another
primary voltage desired by the customer. This rate is not available for
auxiliary or standby service, for street lighting service or for resale purposes.

(2) Nature of service. Alternating current, 60 hertz, single-phase or three-phase,
the particular nature of the voltage in each case to be determined by the
BPW.

3) Monthly rate. The monthly rate is the sum of the service charge, the energy
optimization fee, the energy charge, and the fuel and purchased power cost
adjustment, as such charges and adjustments are defined hereafter.

a. Service charge: $31.50 per customer per month.
b. Energy optimization fee: $3.50 per customer per month.
c. Energy charge: 9.288¢ per kilowatt hour.

(4) Power cost adjustment. A power cost adjustment shall be applied to all
kilowatt-hours in accordance with the Power Cost Adjustment (PCA) Rider
electric service schedule.

(%) Minimum charge. The sum of the service charge and the energy optimization
fee which are included in the monthly rate are the minimum charge.

(6) Term and form of contract. Open order. No written application or contract
required.

(7) Rules and regulations. Service governed by BPW's standard rules and
regulations.

When the service is three phase, three wire, lighting may be included provided the customer

furnishes all transformation facilities required for such purpose, and so arranges the lighting



circuits as to avoid excessive unbalance of the three-phase load. When the service is single

phase or four wire, three phase, the single-phase individual motor capacity shall not exceed

three horsepower, nor the total single phase motor capacity ten horsepower, without the

specific consent of the BPW.

Where the BPW elects to measure the service on the primary side of the

transformers, three percent will be deducted for billing purposes from the energy

measurements thus made.

(©) General secondary service (rate C).

(1)

2)

)

Availability. Open to any customer desiring secondary voltage service where
the billing demand is five kilowatts or more. This rate is also available for
service to any customer where the city board of public works, hereinafter
referred to as BPW, elects to provide one transformation from the available
primary distribution voltage to another primary voltage desired by the BPW.
This rate is not available for street lighting service or for resale purposes.
Nature of service. Alternating current, 60 hertz, single-phase or three-phase,
the particular nature of the voltage in each case to be determined by the
BPW.

Monthly rate. The monthly rate is the sum of the capacity charge, the energy
optimization fee, the energy charge, the fuel and purchased power cost
adjustment, as such charges and adjustments are defined hereafter.

a. Capacity charge: $14.00 per kilowatt.

b. Monthly facilities charge: $45.00.

c. Energy optimization fee: $32.50 per customer per month.

d. Energy charge: 5.10¢ per kilowatt hour.



(4)

©)

(6)

(7)

(8)

)

Power cost adjustment. A power cost adjustment shall be applied to all
kilowatt-hours in accordance with the Power Cost Adjustment (PCA) Rider
electric service schedule.

Minimum charge. The sum of the capacity charge and the energy
optimization fee which are included in the monthly rate are the minimum
charge.

Billing demand. The billing demand shall be the kilowatts supplied during the
period of maximum use in the billing month, but not less than 60 percent of
the highest billing demand of the preceding 11 months, nor less than five
kilowatts.

The BPW reserves the right to make special determination of the
billing demand and/or minimum charge should equipment which creates high
demands of momentary duration be included in the customer's installation.
Adjustment for power factor. When the power factor during the period of
maximum use in a billing month is less than 80 percent lagging, the BPW
reserves the right to increase the capacity charge for such billing month in the
ratio that 80 percent bears to such power factor. The BPW may, at its option,
determine the power factor by test or by permanently installed measuring
equipment.

Term and form of contract. No written application or contract is required. A
minimum term of one year is required.

Rules and regulations. Service governed by BPW's standard rules and
regulations.

When the service is three phase, three wire, lighting may be included,



provided the customer furnishes all transformation facilities required for such
purposes and so arranges the lighting circuits as to avoid excessive unbalance of the
three phase load. When the service is single phase, or four wire, three phase, the
single-phase individual motor capacity shall not exceed three horsepower, nor the
total single-phase motor capacity shall not exceed three horsepower, nor the total
single-phase motor capacity ten horsepower, without the specific consent of the

BPW.

Where the BPW elects to measure the service on the primary side of the
transformers, three percent will be deducted for billing purposes from the demand
and energy measurements thus made.

(d) Commercial and industrial primary service (rate D).

(1) Availability. Open to any customer desiring primary voltage services for
commercial or industrial use where the billing demand is 25 kilowatts or
more. This rate is not available for street lighting service or for resale
purposes.

(2) Nature of service. Alternating current, 60 hertz, single-phase, the particular
nature of the voltage in each case to be determined by the city board of public
works, hereinafter referred to as BPW.

3) Monthly rate. The monthly rate is the sum of the capacity charge, the energy
optimization fee, the energy charge, and the fuel and purchased power cost
adjustment, as such charges and adjustments are defined hereafter.

a. Capacity charge: $12.00 per kilowatt.

b. Monthly facilities charge: $100.00.

c. Energy optimization fee: $0.00065 per kilowatt hour.



(4)

©)

(6)

(7)

d. Energy charge: 5.188¢ per kilowatt hour.

Power cost adjustment. A power cost adjustment shall be applied to all

kilowatt-hours in accordance with the Power Cost Adjustment (PCA) Rider

electric service schedule.

Minimum charge. The sum of the capacity charge and the energy

optimization fee which are included in the monthly rate are the minimum

charge.

Billing demand. The billing demand shall be the kilowatts supplied during the

15-minute period of maximum use in the billing month, but not less than 60

percent of the highest billing demand of the preceding 11 months, nor less

than 25 kilowatts.

Adjustment for power factor. This rate may require a determination of the

average power factor maintained by the customer during the billing period.

Such average power factor will be determined through metering of lagging

kilowatt hours to kilowatt hours which will then be converted to the average

power factor for the billing period by using the appropriate conversion factor.

Whenever the average power factor during the billing period is above .899 or

below .800, the capacity charge will be adjusted as follows:

a. If the average power factor during the billing period is .900 or higher,
the capacity charge will be reduced by two percent. This credit shall
not in any case be used to reduce the prescribed minimum charge or
the capacity charge when based upon 60 percent of the highest billing

demand of the preceding 11 months.



(8)

b. If the average power factor during the billing period is less than .800,
the capacity charge will be increased by the ratio that .800 bears the
customer's average power factor during the billing period.

Term and form of contract. No written application or contract is required. A

minimum term of one year is required.

(e) Experimental electric vehicle charging station rate (rate E).

(1)

)

3)

4
)

Availability. Open to any customer using a public BPW electric vehicle
charging station for the purpose of using said station for electric vehicle
charging.

Public BPW electric vehicle charging station means an installation including
vehicle supply cable connector(s), internal relays and contact designed
specifically for the purpose of delivering from a supply source to a plug-in
electric vehicle. This equipment meets or exceeds the following codes,

standards, and recommended practices:
National Electric Code Article 625, UL2594, UL2231-1, UL2231-2, NFPA 70, SAE J1772

Nature of service. Alternating current, 60 hertz, single-phase, 120/240
nominal volts.

Monthly rate. The monthly rate is the sum of the energy charge and the fuel
and purchased power cost adjustment, as such charges and adjustments are
defined hereafter.

a. Energy charge: 10¢ per kilowatt hour.

Minimum charge. The minimum charge is $0.00 if no energy is used.
Terms and form of contract. Open order. No written application or contract

required.



(6) Rules and regulations. Service governed by BPW's standard rules and

regulations.
® Net metering service rider (rate NM).

(1) Availability. The purpose of this rider is to enable BPW customers who
generate electricity using qualified renewable energy sources to connect to
the BPW's electric distribution system and to send electricity back to the
BPW electric distribution system at times when their on-site generation
exceeds their own use. Customers served under this rider must also take
service from the BPW under an otherwise applicable standard rate. The BPW
net metering program and offering of this rider, will be in effect and available
until the total nameplate capacity of all participating generators is equal to a
maximum program limit of one percent of the BPW peak load for the
preceding calendar year.

(2) Conditions of service. A qualifying "net metering" facility is an electrical
generating facility that complies with all of the following requirements:

a. Customer must generate electricity using a renewable energy resource
including but not limited to: biomass, solar, photovoltaic or wind.
Other renewable energy resources must be approved in advance.

b. Generating facility must be located on customer's premises.

c. Is intended primarily to offset all or part of customer's own electric
load requirements.

d. Is designed and installed to operate in parallel with the BPW's system
without adversely affecting the operation of the equipment and

service to the BPW and its customers.

-10-



)

e. Does not present a safety hazard to BPW personnel or the customer.

f. Installation complies with all requirements in the "expedited generator
interconnection requirements" or "generator interconnection
requirements" as appropriate, and all documents referred therein.

g. BPW personnel shall be provided access to the generation facility
during normal business hours and during all emergency situations.

h. If the project is proven to be a source of electrical interference, and
interference exceeds generally accepted industry standards, the
generator owner shall be responsible to eliminate the interference.

1. Generation systems will be sized not to exceed customer's annual

electric needs for the location of renewable system.

] Must complete all applicable interconnect applications.

k. Upon acceptance of an interconnect application, contracts must be
executed before the net metering facility may be interconnected.

1. Customer is responsible to ensure proposed generation equipment and
installation meet all applicable federal, state and local laws,
regulations, ordinances and zoning requirements before acquiring and
installing generating equipment.

m. BPW at its discretion will make final determination of the acceptable
size of the renewable energy generating system eligible for this rider.

Monthly rate. The monthly rate is the sum of all applicable charges calculated

based on the applicable rate for all capacity, energy, fuel and purchased

power cost adjustment along with applicable fees and charges.

-11 -



(4)

©)

All "net metering" customers will also be billed a monthly service charge of
$5.00 per month to recover the costs associated with operating the net
metering program.

Monthly credits. For all customer classes except "residential," monthly
credits shall be calculated for all energy delivered by the customer to the
BPW, based on the energy costs avoided by the BPW as a result of the
customer's participation. The per unit value of the energy avoided by the
BPW shall be determined as the monthly average "system cost" as defined in
the BPW's average fuel and purchase power cost adjustment calculation for
the period the credit is applied. Residential "net metering" as defined in the
"expedited generator interconnection requirements" shall be credited at the
full retail rate.

Net energy billing terms and conditions. The BPW shall measure the net
electricity produced or consumed by the customer during each billing period,
in accordance with BPW's normal metering practices.

If the electricity supplied by the BPW to the customer exceeds the
electricity generated and delivered into the BPW's electric system by the
customer during the billing period, or any portion thereof, then the customer
shall be billed at the rate under which the customer takes service for
electricity supplied by the BPW. The customer shall also be billed the
appropriate customer charge paid by other customers in the same rate class
for each meter and any other charges, such as capacity, billing demand,
reactive power and any other charges applicable to energy use and applicable

adjustments and fees.

-12 -



(6)

If the electricity generated and delivered into the BPW's electric

system by the customer during the billing period, or any portion thereof,
exceeds the electricity supplied by the BPW to the customer, then the

customer shall be:

Billed for the appropriate customer charge as other customers in the
same rate class for each meter and other charges including but not
limited to: capacity, billing demand, reactive power and any other
charges applicable to energy use and applicable adjustments and fees;
and

Credited for the net excess kilowatt-hours generated and delivered
into the BPW's electric system by the customer during the billing
period, with this kilowatt-hour credit appearing on the customer's bill
for the following period(s) as an off-set for the period's consumption.
The kilowatt-hour credit will be used to offset any future consumption
with the consumption credit not to be carried forward for more than
12 monthly billing cycles.

Any remaining unused kilowatt-hour credit accumulated by the
customer during a continuous 12-month period shall be granted to the

BPW without any compensation in June of each year.

Terms and conditions. This rider is subject to the BPW rules and regulations
for electric service and all provisions of the standard rate under which the
customer takes service. This rider is subject to provisions of: the generator
interconnection application, submitted by the customer; the interconnection

agreement to be executed prior to initiating service under this rider; the net

-13-



(2

metering agreement to be executed prior to initiating service under this rider;
the generator interconnection requirements or expedited generator
interconnection requirements, as appropriate; an interconnection study
agreement; contact list; the BPW's rate schedules, customer-generator service
policies, and general rules and regulations, all of which may be modified by

the BPW from time to time.

Voluntary green pricing standard program (rate G).

(1)

)

)

Availability. This program is available to electric utility customers desiring to
voluntarily secure an additional amount of renewable energy, but the
availability of this rate may be limited.

Monthly rate. Charges for renewable energy secured under this program are
in addition to the charges for electricity consumed as calculated under the
applicable rate. Available quantities of renewable energy are 100 kilowatt-
hour (kWh) blocks™” or in ten percent increments** of the total monthly
consumption per customer account.

a. Renewable energy charge adder: $0.00939 per kilowatt hour.

Terms and conditions. Renewable energy provided under this program is
applicable only to an individual customer account and will not be aggregated
across multiple customer accounts. The minimum term available to all
customers is 12 continuous complete billing periods. Customer must commit
to either a whole number of one hundred kilowatt-hour blocks or a
percentage of usage in ten percent increments. A written application is

required.

-14 -



(4) Rules and regulations. Service under this rate is subject to the ZBPW Rules

and Regulations for Electric Service incorporated herein by reference.
(h) Voluntary green pricing high volume electricity usage program (rate LG).

(1) Availability. This program is available to high volume electricity usage
customers desiring to voluntarily secure renewable energy” and whose
average monthly electricity usage is no less than 10,000 kilowatt-hours
(kWh). Availability may be limited.

(2) Monthly rate. Charges for renewable energy secured under this program are
in addition to the charges for electricity consumed as calculated under the
applicable rate. Available quantities of renewable energy are either 100
percent” or 50 percent” of total monthly kilowatt-hour consumption per
customer account.

Renewable energy charge adder: $0.00750 per kilowatt-hour.

3) Terms and conditions. Renewable energy provided under this program is
applicable only to an individual customer account and will not be aggregated
across multiple customer accounts. The minimum program term available to
all customers is 12 continuous complete billing periods, and written notice of
cancelation must be provided no less than 30 days in advance to exit the
program. A written application is required.

4) Rules and regulations. Service under this rate is subject to the ZBPW Rules
and Regulations for Electric Service incorporated herein by reference.

(1) User fees. The above referenced electric charges are found to be user fees. Such
electric charges serve a regulatory purpose of ensuring that electricity is used and

rationed in accordance with the needs of a customer for such a commodity. The

-15-



charges are proportionate to the costs of providing electricity to customers. In
addition, it is noted that electric customers can voluntarily control the amount of
their bills since electric customers have the ability to control their use of electricity
and they determine the size of their own electrical service.

* Renewable energy credits (RECs) eligible for retirement in the State of
Michigan's MIRECs program will be used as the means of administering the
program.

** The actual renewable energy charges applied under this program will be
calculated to include the renewable contribution included in BPW's standard
rates, but no less than 15 percent.

Note: RECs will be retired by the Zeeland BPW on behalf of the customer or
transferred to the customer's MIRECS or compatible account if so directed.
Specific retirement or documentation requirements shall be provided in
writing and accepted by BPW staff in advance.”

Section 2. Section 40-77 of the Zeeland City Code, Volume 1 is hereby amended to read in its
entirety as follows:

“Sec. 40-77 Street lighting policy and services charges.

(a) Street lighting service (rate S).

(1)  Availability. Street lighting is available to any political subdivision for street
lighting service for any system consisting of one of more luminaires where
the board of public works (ZBPW) has an existing distribution system with
secondary voltage available. Luminaires may be installed with no limitation
as to spacing between luminaires. Where a line extension is required to serve
one of more luminaires, the ZBPW will furnish 350 linear feet of secondary
line extension per luminaire served from such extension, and the political
subdivision shall be liable for the costs of the secondary line extension after

such first 350 linear foot extension.

-16 -



(2) Nature of service. The ZBPW will furnish, install, own, operate and maintain
all equipment comprising the street lighting system and will supply
unmetered energy.

3) Monthly rate. The monthly rate per luminaire with a standard fixture and

setting shall be computed based on the following provisions:

Luminaire fixture Monthly charge

High pressure sodium luminaire

100 W $9.20
150 W $9.82
250 W $11.58
400 W $15.36
1,000 W $20.42

Mercury vapor luminaire

100 W $6.46
175 W $7.39
250 W $10.60
400 W $22.49
1,000 W $22.49
LED luminaire

1-40W $7.29
41-100W $7.76
101-200W $11.89
201-300W $15.87

-17-



(4) Customer contribution. Monthly rates are based on fixtures normally
installed and stocked by the ZBPW, and installed utilizing normal
construction techniques. The ZBPW may upon customer request and at its
option, install a street lighting system not covered in the rates above. Such
request will be subject to a contribution in aid of construction for both the
installation and the future maintenance of a nonstandard lighting system. The
monthly charge for a nonstandard lighting system will be calculated and
determined based upon the operational costs of such a system.

(%) Rules and regulations. Service shall be governed by the BPW's standard rules

and regulations.”

Section 3. Section 40-78 is hereby added to Zeeland City Code, Volume 1 and it shall read in its

entirety as follows:

“Sec. 40-78 Power cost adjustment rider (Schedule PCA).

(a) Power cost adjustment rider (Schedule PCA):

(1)

)

Applicability. The PCA will apply to all utility rate schedules except non-metered and
special contract rates.

Calculation. The PCA will be calculated using the most recent twelve months’ actual
fuel and power cost and applied to each customer’s following monthly billed energy
(kilowatt-hours) or a one month lag from when the cost occurred to when billed.

The PCA Adjustment shall be calculated according to the following formula:
PCA =P/S-B

P = Wholesale power supply cost

-18 -



The utility’s cost of fuel and power for the preceding twelve-month
period shall be determined based on the most recent twelve months of
actual fuel and wholesale power supply costs, including periodic true-up
adjustments to reconcile any accumulated positive or negative balances
resulting from the application of the Power Cost Adjustment (PCA). In
the event of an unusual occurrence that produces abnormally high costs,
the Board of Commissioners shall have the authority to determine
whether such costs are to be recovered over a different period.

S = Number of kilowatt-hours sold
Sales are estimated by multiplying kilowatt-hours purchased by (1 -
Losses), during the same time period as factor “P”. The system’s annual
average loss factor is 4.0%.

B = Base retail rate
This amount reflects the average cost of power per kilowatt-hour sold
and recovered through base retail rates ($50.0600).”

Section 4. Section 40-97 of the Zeeland City Code, Volume 1 is hereby amended to read in its entirety as

follows:

Sec. 40-97. Commercial electric vehicle charging station rate (rate EVC).

(a) Availability. This rate is available to any customer desiring commercial electric vehicle
charging service for customers with a separately metered charging station (e.g. level 2 or DC

fast charging). This rate is not available for resale purposes.

(b) Nature of service. This service is alternating current, 60 hertz, single or three phase. The

secondary voltage is determined by the Zeeland Board of Public Works (ZBPW).

-19-



(©

(d)

(e)

®

(2

(h)

Monthly rate. Shall be computed in accordance with the following charges:

Facilities charge — $45.00 per month

single phase

Facilities charge — $100.00 per month

three phase

Capacity charge $3.85 per kilowatt (kW) of billing demand
Energy charge $0.10294 per kilowatt-hour (kWh)

Minimum bill. The sum of the capacity charge, plus energy optimization fee (as defined in

the energy optimization surcharge fee.)

Billing demand. The billing demand shall be the kW supplied during the 15-minute period of
maximum use during the month, but not less than 60 percent of the highest billing demand

established during the preceding 11 months, nor less than five kilowatts.

Metering. Where the ZBPW elects to measure the service on the primary side of the
transformers, the metered kilowatt hour thus measured will be reduced by three percent for
billing purposes to adjust for transformer losses. Where the customer receives service
through more than one meter, the consumptions as registered by the different meters will not

be combined for billing purposes but will be computed and billed separately.

Power factor. When the power factor during the period of maximum use in a billing month
is less than 80 percent lagging, the ZBPW reserves the right to increase the capacity charge
for such billing month in the ratio that 80 percent bears to such power factor. The ZBPW

may, at its option, determine the power factor by test or by permanently installed measuring

equipment.

Power cost adjustment. A power cost adjustment shall be applied to all kilowatt-hours in
accordance with the Power Cost Adjustment (PCA) Rider electric service schedule.

-20-


ABoatright
Cross-Out


(1) Energy optimization fee. This rate is subject to the energy optimization fee as defined on a

separate rate schedule and incorporated herein by this reference.

() Rules and regulations. Service under this rate is subject to the ZBPW rules and regulations

for electric service incorporated herein by this reference.
Section 5. All Ordinances or parts thereof in conflict with the provisions of this Ordinance are to the
extent of such conflict hereby repealed.
Section 6. The rate adjustment shall first be applied to electric customers in January, 2026, and such

rate adjustment shall first be applied to electric bills which are due on or after February 1, 2026.

This Ordinance is hereby adopted on the day of , 2025, at a Regular Meeting

of the Zeeland City Council, with the following vote:

AYES: Council Members
NAYES: Council Members
ABSENT: Council Members

City of Zeeland

By:

Richard J. Van Dorp 111, Mayor

By:

Kristi DeVerney, City Clerk

-21 -



CERTIFICATE

I hereby certify that the foregoing constitutes a true and complete copy of Ordinance No.
which was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Zeeland, County of Ottawa, Michigan, at a Regular
Meeting held on , 2025, and that said meeting was conducted and public notice of said meeting
was given pursuant to and in full compliance with the Open Meetings Act, being Act 267, Public Acts of
Michigan, 1976, as amended, and that the minutes of said meeting were kept and will be or have been made
available as required by said Act. I hereby certify that the above Ordinance known as Ordinance No. or
a summary of such Ordinance was published in the Zeeland Record on the day of ,2025.

Kristi DeVerney, City Clerk

-22 -



ZEELAND
TO: Chairperson Boerman and Members of the Board of Public Works 0 Board orpub|iclv:r!,rks

FROM: Kevin Plockmeyer, ACM of Infrastructure/City Services and Finance
SUBJECT: PFAS Settlement Funds — Request to Commit Funds

DATE: October 10, 2025

Background

At its May 10, 2024 meeting, the BPW Board approved an allocation agreement between the Zeeland BPW
and the Holland BPW for a class action settlement resolving claims related to PFAS contamination in drinking
water systems. This settlement limits our ability to pursue future claims against the defendants (3M and
DuPont) for any future PFAS contamination issues. Zeeland BPW'’s share of the settlement to-date has
totaled $1,482,983.73. An additional and likely final payment of $873,248.53 is expected in spring 2026,
resulting in a total settlement amount of $2,356,232.26.

Recommendation

As noted above, the settlement restricts our ability to file future claims against the defendants for PFAS
contamination. While Zeeland BPW currently has no PFAS-related issues in its water system and no planned
improvements related to PFAS, this situation could change over time.

Given the potential for future treatment requirements, staff recommends that the Board take formal action to
designate the settlement funds for potential future PFAS treatment costs. This action would create an internal
fund balance designation and a corresponding note in our financial statements, committing these funds for
this purpose unless a future Board takes formal action to reallocate them.

Segregating these funds will also allow the account to accrue interest, which could be used to offset future
PFAS-related expenses. Establishing this designation demonstrates prudent financial management and
ensures that both the current and future Boards consider the intended use of these funds before making any
spending decisions.

Staff recommends that the Zeeland Board of Public Works commit the PFAS settlement funds, totaling
$2,356,232.26, for the purpose of addressing potential future PFAS treatment needs.



WATER DEPARTMENT REPORT (September Usage)
Monthly Board Meeting 11/11/2025

WHOLESALE PURCHASES Sept 2025 Sept 2024 PERCENT CHANGE
AMOUNT PURCHASED 231,240,000|GAL | 203,790,000{GAL 13.5%
TOTAL PAYMENT $207,910.81 $196,594.76 5.8%
UNIT COST (1000 GALLONS) $0.8991 $0.9647 -6.8%
MONTHLY INFORMATION

TOTAL AMOUNT PURCHASED (Gal)-(9/1/25-9/30/25) 231,240,000|GAL | 203,790,000|GAL] 13.5%
TOTAL AMOUNT SOLD (Gal) 236,436,720|GAL | 208,730,896 [GAL 13.3%
MONTHLY SYSTEM LOSSES (Gal) (5,196,720)|GAL | (4,940,896)|GAL N/A
MONTHLY SYSTEM LOSSES (%) -2.25% -2.42% N/A
RATE PURCHASED - RATE SOLD = ROI (1000 GAL) $1.13 $1.18 -4.7%
AVERAGE MONTHLY RETAIL UNIT RATE (1000 Gal) $2.13 $2.13 -0.1%
AVERAGE MONTHLY CONTRACT UNIT RATE (1000 $1.86 $2.19 -15.0%
WATER SOLD

*RESIDENTIAL 14,642,848|GAL 17,712,640|GALY -17.3%
COMMERCIAL/INDUSTRIAL 129,545,024|GAL | 128,481,716|GAL| 0.8%
CONTRACTUAL SALES-(9/1/25-9/30/25) 92,248,848 | GAL 62,536,540|GAL 47.5%
TOTAL SALES 236,436,720|GAL | 208,730,896|GAL] 13.3%
CHARGES FOR SERVICES

RESIDENTIAL $32,496.16 $37,651.20 -13.7%
COMMERCIAL/INDUSTRIAL $274,291.76 $273,109.53 0.4%
INDUSTRAL SALES - CONTRACTUAL $171,791.01 $137,039.69 25.4%
FIRE PROTECTION $15,573.75 $15,146.25 2.8%
READINESS TO SERVE $59,439.86 $54,916.55 8.2%
MISC CHARGES (Overdue Int) $0.00 $0.00 N/A
TOTAL CHARGES $553,592.54 $517,863.22 6.9%
CUMULATIVE FOR FISCAL YEAR

PUMPING STATION DISCHARGE- Start July 1,2025 785,400,000|GAL | 696,920,000|GAL 12.7%
AMOUNT SOLD 790,812,684|GAL | 704,598,796|GAL 12.2%
SYSTEM LOSSES -5,412,684|GAL -7,678,796|GALY N/A
SYSTEM LOSSES (PERCENT) -0.7% -1.1% N/A
TOTAL CHARGES FOR SERVICES $1,864,477.32 $1,646,930.86 13.2%
AVERAGE RATE PER 1000 GAL SOLD(combined with all service charges)

PEAK DAY

MONTH -9/15/2025 (9/13/2024) 8.98|MGD| 9.10|MGD

FISCAL YEAR-TO-DATE - 07/29/2025 (08/28/2024) 11.56MGD| 9.88|MGD




O ZEELAND
Board of Public Works

TO: Chairperson Boerman and Members of the Board of Public Works
FROM: Jason Postma, Water Operations Manager
SUBJECT:  Water Department On-Going Projects Update

DATE: November 4, 2025

Meter Replacement Program-
e Total Water Meters- 3,026
o AMI Water Meters-2,656 (88%)
o Radio Read Water Meters-120 (3.9%)
o Touch Read Water Meters-248 (8.1%)
o 96.3% of all large diameter meters are replaced
= 4 remaining out of 215 large diameter meters to replace.

Galvanized Service line Replacement Program-
e Replaced (97) GSL in 2025 (Replaced (133) GSL in 2024)
e Replaced (8) GSL in September 2025
o Replaced (832) GSL since June 18, 2018, when New EGLE Requirements were Implemented.
e Approximately (164) total GSLR still needs replacing.

Other Work Projects-
e Logan Estates Meter Replacement began (approximately 380 meters) (164 replaced) (43%)
e Taft St. Construction. All new water main south of Central is in. Final Inspection Complete.
e Continuing winter checking fire hydrants.

Water Administration Projects-
e Risk and Resilience Assessment- EPA Requirement
o Next steps — certifying with the EPA. The deadline to certify is June 30, 2026.
o ERP certification statement to EPA is due on or before December 31, 2026.
o Updating our ERP Completed Mid-October
e Carlton Pump Station
o Resurrecting a 3™ pump.

Zeeland Board of Public Works o 350 East Washington Avenue o Zeeland, Michigan 49464 o 616-772-6212 o www.zeelandbpw.com



ZEELAND
TO: Chairperson Boerman and Members of the Board of Public Works 0 Board orpub|iclv:r!,rks
FROM: Jason Postma, Water Operations Manager

SUBJECT: Bid Recommendation: Street Reconstruction of Church Street from Central South.

DATE: November 3, 2025

The following bid award recommendation is submitted for Board approval. The budget for this project is
established in fiscal year 2027($1,240,000). However, the project is expected to begin in Spring of 2027 which
falls in FY 2026. This project has now been designed, bid packages developed, and bids have been received.

Description:
Four (4) bids were received on Thursday, October 23,2025 for the reconstruction of Church Street, Lincoln

Avenue, Sewer Plant Road and Cemetery Drive project. All bids were reviewed and checked for accuracy.
Diversco Construction Co. submitted the low bid for the project in total amount of $3,718,876.00. The
engineer’s estimate was $4,142,000.00. The bid amount from Diversco Construction Co. for ZBPW Water is
$413,923.00. Additional costs that need to be included in the project are Engineering & Administration
($50,752.80) and project contingency ($47,316.30), for a total bid award amount of $511,992.10. Staff request
an additional five (5) percent of the total project cost ($25,600) to be included to cover the BPW internal labor
costs for a total project budget amount of $537,592.00

Construction $413,923.00

Engineering & Administration $50,752.80
Construction contingency $47,316.30
Capitalized wage for ZBPW $25,600
Total project $537,292.00

In collaboration with the City of Zeeland’s street reconstruction program, this project will be executed in two
stages. The first stage extends from the Clean Water Plant to Central Avenue (funded by the City with utility
contributions), and the second from Central Avenue to Washington Avenue (incorporating MDOT grant
funding). Upon the bid award of the second stage of construction anticipated in December 2025, staff will be
requesting a capital budget amendment for FY 2026 in an amount based costs for both stages of construction.

Bidder Name Bidder Location | Quote Meets Comments
Specification

Diversco Grand Rapids, Ml | $537,592.00 YES RECOMMENDATION
Construction

Recommendation:

This plan will provide significant benefits for future development within the city. At their November 3 regular
meeting, Zeeland City Council approved the Church Street Reconstruction project bid award subject to Board
of Commissioner approval.

The Water Department recommends awarding this water main construction contract to Diversco Construction
in the amount $537,592.00.

Attachments: Church Street Bid Award Recommendation Letter dated October 23, 2025
Church Street Budget Estimate and Funding Letter dated October 23, 2025

Zeeland Board of Public Works o 350 East Washington Avenue o Zeeland, Michigan 49464 o 616-772-6212 o www.zeelandbpw.com



Moore-+Bruggink

Consulting Engineers

October 23, 2025

Re: Zeeland — Church Street
Reconstruction
Project No. 230155.01

Mr. Kevin Plockmeyer
City of Zeeland

21 South Elm Street
Zeeland, Michigan 49464

Dear Mr. Plockmeyer:

Four bids were received at 11a.m., on Thursday, October23, 2025, for the
Reconstruction of Church Street, Lincoln Avenue, Sewer Plant Road, and Cemetery
Drive project. All bids were reviewed and checked for accuracy. A copy of the tabulation
of bids is attached.

Diversco Construction Co. submitted the low bid for the project in the amount of
$3,718,876.00. The engineer’s estimate was $4,142,000.00.

The low bidder has a satisfactory performance record on previous projects, and we
recommend that a contract be awarded to Diversco Construction Co. in the amount of
$3,718,876.00.

Sincerely,

K';an Penégﬁ,‘rz’%k

Project Manager

AP/pim
Attachment
CC: Diversco Construction Co.

2020 Monroe Avenue NW | Grand Rapids, MI 49505-6298
T [616] 363 9801 | F [616] 363 2480 | W mbce.com



MOORE & BRUGGINK, INC.
TABULATION OF BIDS

PROJECT: Reconstruction of Church Street, Lincoln Avenue, Sewer Plant Road, and Cemetery Drive — Project No. 230155.01
OWNER: City of Zeeland, 21 South EIm Street, Zeeland, Michigan 49464

BIDS RECEIVED: 11 a.m., Thursday, October 23, 2025

ITEM ESTIMATED ENGINEER'S ESTIMATE DIVERSCO CONSTRUCTION SITE WORK SOLUTIONS CONNAN INC MONTGOMERY EXCAVATING
NO. PROPOSAL ITEM UNIT  QUANTITY PRICE AMOUNT PRICE AMOUNT PRICE AMOUNT PRICE AMOUNT PRICE AMOUNT

IMPROVEMENT ITEMS

1 Mobilization, Max $375,000 Lsum 1 $374,060.00 $374,060.00 $375,000.00 $375,000.00 $375,000.00 $375,000.00 $375,000.00 $375,000.00 $375,000.00 $375,000.00
2 Tree, Rem, 19 inch to 36 inch Ea 3 $1,500.00 $4,500.00 $1,800.00 $5,400.00 $2,000.00 $6,000.00 $1,800.00 $5,400.00 $2,500.00 $7,500.00
3  Tree, Rem, 37 inch or Larger Ea 3 $2,000.00 $6,000.00 $3,000.00 $9,000.00 $3,200.00 $9,600.00 $3,000.00 $9,000.00 $5,000.00 $15,000.00
4  Tree, Rem, 6 inch to 18 inch Ea 5 $500.00 $2,500.00 $350.00 $1,750.00 $400.00 $2,000.00 $350.00 $1,750.00 $750.00 $3,750.00
5 Curb and Gutter, Rem Ft 2,550 $20.00 $51,000.00 $8.00 $20,400.00 $4.00 $10,200.00 $5.10 $13,005.00 $5.00 $12,750.00
6 Pavt, Rem Syd 6,850 $25.00 $171,250.00 $3.00 $20,550.00 $7.00 $47,950.00 $5.50 $37,675.00 $9.50 $65,075.00
7  Sidewalk, Rem Syd 900 $15.00 $13,500.00 $5.00 $4,500.00 $5.50 $4,950.00 $8.00 $7,200.00 $7.00 $6,300.00
8 Roadway Grading Sta 23 $3,000.00 $69,000.00 $11,572.00 $266,156.00 $6,525.00 $150,075.00 $7,000.00 $161,000.00 $6,950.00 $159,850.00
9 Pond Dredging Cyd 1,800 $50.00 $90,000.00 $39.00 $70,200.00 $74.00 $133,200.00 $20.00 $36,000.00 $115.00 $207,000.00
10 Erosion Control, Inlet Protection, Fabric Drop Ea 14 $130.00 $1,820.00 $119.00 $1,666.00 $95.00 $1,330.00 $145.00 $2,030.00 $250.00 $3,500.00
11 Erosion Control, Silt Fence Ft 1,100 $2.50 $2,750.00 $2.90 $3,190.00 $2.50 $2,750.00 $2.50 $2,750.00 $4.00 $4,400.00
12 Subbase, CIP Cyd 2,250 $25.00 $56,250.00 $10.50 $23,625.00 $18.50 $41,625.00 $12.00 $27,000.00 $15.00 $33,750.00
13 Aggregate Base, 8 inch, 21AA Modified Syd 6,750 $20.00 $135,000.00 $22.20 $149,850.00 $19.25 $129,937.50 $23.00 $155,250.00 $18.00 $121,500.00
14 Culv End Sect, Conc, 48 inch Ea 1 $4,000.00 $4,000.00 $6,153.00 $6,153.00 $15,000.00 $15,000.00 $3,700.00 $3,700.00 $3,000.00 $3,000.00
15 Sewer Tap, 18 inch Ea 1 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 $2,035.00 $2,035.00 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 $750.00 $750.00 $1,000.00 $1,000.00
16 Sewer, 18 inch in Stone Trench Ft 640 $220.00 $140,800.00 $265.20 $169,728.00 $350.00 $224,000.00 $471.00 $301,440.00 $630.00 $403,200.00
17 Storm Sewer Lateral, 8 inch Ft 400 $250.00 $100,000.00 $40.00 $16,000.00 $65.00 $26,000.00 $60.00 $24,000.00 $45.00 $18,000.00
18  Storm Sewer, C76 CL IlI, 12 inch Ft 216 $100.00  $21,600.00 $65.50  $14,148.00 $49.00  $10,584.00 $80.00  $17,280.00 $55.00  $11,880.00
19 Storm Sewer, C76 CL Ill, 30 inch Ft 24 $275.00 $6,600.00 $276.00 $6,624.00 $450.00  $10,800.00 $410.00 $9,840.00 $120.00 $2,880.00
20 Storm Sewer, C76 CL Ill, 48 inch Ft 744 $310.00 $230,640.00 $421.25 $313,410.00 $500.00 $372,000.00 $654.00 $486,576.00 $990.00 $736,560.00
21 Storm Sewer, C76 CL Ill, 54 inch Ft 368 $330.00  $121,440.00 $544.25  $200,284.00 $750.00  $276,000.00 $1,000.00  $368,000.00 $1,200.00  $441,600.00
22 Maintain Storm Sewer Flow Lsum 1 $20,000.00 $20,000.00 $167,680.00 $167,680.00 $150,000.00 $150,000.00 $100,000.00 $100,000.00 $165,000.00 $165,000.00
23 Remove Existing Storm Sewer System Lsum 1 $85,000.00 $85,000.00 $41,100.00 $41,100.00 $120,000.00 $120,000.00 $167,000.00 $167,000.00 $107,180.00 $107,180.00
24  Dr Structure, 48 inch dia Ea 16 $4,000.00 $64,000.00 $3,819.00 $61,104.00 $4,000.00 $64,000.00 $3,800.00 $60,800.00 $5,450.00 $87,200.00
25 Dr Structure, 84 inch dia Ea 2 $11,000.00 $22,000.00 $17,192.00 $34,384.00 $18,000.00 $36,000.00 $16,000.00 $32,000.00 $26,825.00 $53,650.00
26 Dr Structure, 108 inch dia Ea 2 $35,000.00 $70,000.00 $21,075.00 $42,150.00 $20,000.00 $40,000.00 $22,000.00 $44,000.00 $29,075.00 $58,150.00
27 Mh, Precast Tee, Cl lll, 48 inch Ea 1 $4,000.00 $4,000.00 $11,310.00 $11,310.00 $12,000.00 $12,000.00 $9,100.00 $9,100.00 $14,850.00 $14,850.00
28 Mh, Precast Tee, Cl lll, 54 inch Ea 1 $4,500.00 $4,500.00 $11,990.00 $11,990.00 $15,000.00 $15,000.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $21,025.00 $21,025.00
29 Manhole Cover, Adj Ea 1 $850.00 $850.00 $665.00 $665.00 $750.00 $750.00 $650.00 $650.00 $500.00 $500.00
30 Manhole Cover, Furn Ea 1 $650.00 $650.00 $500.00 $500.00 $575.00 $575.00 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 $1,000.00 $1,000.00
31 Hand Patching Ton 35 $350.00 $12,250.00 $200.00 $7,000.00 $210.00 $7,350.00 $220.00 $7,700.00 $220.00 $7,700.00
32 HMA, 3EL Ton 1,225 $120.00 $147,000.00 $96.00 $117,600.00 $100.00 $122,500.00 $105.00 $128,625.00 $106.00 $129,850.00
33 HMA, 5EL Ton 615 $125.00 $76,875.00 $98.00 $60,270.00 $102.00 $62,730.00 $105.00 $64,575.00 $108.00 $66,420.00
34 Driveway, Nonreinf Conc, 6 inch Syd 200 $100.00 $20,000.00 $55.00 $11,000.00 $60.00 $12,000.00 $55.00 $11,000.00 $57.00 $11,400.00
35 Curb, Conc, Det E4 Ft 120 $40.00 $4,800.00 $24.00 $2,880.00 $31.00 $3,720.00 $26.00 $3,120.00 $27.50 $3,300.00
36 Driveway Opening, Conc, Det M Ft 50 $45.00 $2,250.00 $24.00 $1,200.00 $30.00 $1,500.00 $26.00 $1,300.00 $26.50 $1,325.00

230155.01 Page 1 of 3



ITEM ESTIMATED ENGINEER'S ESTIMATE DIVERSCO CONSTRUCTION SITE WORK SOLUTIONS CONNAN INC MONTGOMERY EXCAVATING
NO. PROPOSAL ITEM UNIT QUANTITY PRICE AMOUNT PRICE AMOUNT PRICE AMOUNT PRICE AMOUNT PRICE AMOUNT
37 Curb and Gutter, Conc, Det D1, Modified Ft 750 $35.00 $26,250.00 $20.00 $15,000.00 $25.00 $18,750.00 $35.00 $26,250.00 $21.00 $15,750.00
38 Curb and Gutter, Conc, Det F4, Modified Ft 1,700 $35.00 $59,500.00 $20.00 $34,000.00 $25.00 $42,500.00 $35.00 $59,500.00 $21.00 $35,700.00
39 Detectable Warning Surface Ft 100 $80.00 $8,000.00 $40.00 $4,000.00 $85.00 $8,500.00 $55.00 $5,500.00 $39.00 $3,900.00
40 Curb Ramp Opening, Conc Ft 100 $40.00 $4,000.00 $24.00 $2,400.00 $23.00 $2,300.00 $26.50 $2,650.00 $24.00 $2,400.00
41 Sidewalk, Conc, 4 inch Sft 5,850 $8.00 $46,800.00 $3.95 $23,107.50 $4.00 $23,400.00 $4.75 $27,787.50 $4.00 $23,400.00
42 Sidewalk, Conc, 6 inch Sft 650 $10.00 $6,500.00 $5.95 $3,867.50 $4.90 $3,185.00 $6.00 $3,900.00 $5.00 $3,250.00
43 Curb Ramp, Conc, 6 inch Sft 550 $10.00 $5,500.00 $7.75 $4,262.50 $6.45 $3,547.50 $9.40 $5,170.00 $6.60 $3,630.00
44  Temporary Safety Fencing Ft 2,100 $20.00 $42,000.00 $15.70 $32,970.00 $22.00 $46,200.00 $19.50 $40,950.00 $5.00 $10,500.00
45 Sign, Type lll, Rem Ea 16 $35.00 $560.00 $75.00 $1,200.00 $60.00 $960.00 $75.00 $1,200.00 $100.00 $1,600.00
46  Sign, Type llIA Sft 20 $20.00 $400.00 $20.00 $400.00 $20.00 $400.00 $20.00 $400.00 $20.00 $400.00
47  Sign, Type IlIIB Sft 20 $20.00 $400.00 $20.00 $400.00 $20.00 $400.00 $20.00 $400.00 $20.00 $400.00
48 Post, Steel, 3 Pound, Modified Ft 112 $10.00 $1,120.00 $9.00 $1,008.00 $9.50 $1,064.00 $9.00 $1,008.00 $15.00 $1,680.00
49 Pavt Mrkg, Polyurea, 6 inch, Crosswalk Ft 500 $2.50 $1,250.00 $3.95 $1,975.00 $5.50 $2,750.00 $3.95 $1,975.00 $10.00 $5,000.00
50 Pavt Mrkg, Polyurea, 24 inch, Stop Bar Ft 80 $17.00 $1,360.00 $15.00 $1,200.00 $15.00 $1,200.00 $15.00 $1,200.00 $15.00 $1,200.00
51 Maintaining Traffic Lsum 1 $30,000.00 $30,000.00 $101,150.00 $101,150.00 $223,580.00 $223,580.00 $100,000.00 $100,000.00 $28,540.00 $28,540.00
52  Acer x freemanii 'Autumn Blaze Freeman Maple', 2 1/2 inch Ea 1 $550.00 $550.00 $500.00 $500.00 $650.00 $650.00 $685.00 $685.00 $500.00 $500.00
53 Aesculus x carnea 'Red Horsechestnut', 2 1/2 inch Ea 4 $700.00 $2,800.00 $550.00 $2,200.00 $700.00 $2,800.00 $642.00 $2,568.00 $500.00 $2,000.00
54  Amelanchier x grandifloria 'Juneberry', 2 1/2 inch, Single Stem Ea 4 $750.00 $3,000.00 $525.00 $2,100.00 $730.00 $2,920.00 $700.00 $2,800.00 $500.00 $2,000.00
55 Liquidambar styraciflua 'Sweetgum', 2 1/2 inch Ea 2 $850.00 $1,700.00 $520.00 $1,040.00 $690.00 $1,380.00 $685.00 $1,370.00 $500.00 $1,000.00
56 Zelkova serrata 'Green Vase Zelkova', 2 1/2 inch Ea 2 $600.00 $1,200.00 $520.00 $1,040.00 $730.00 $1,460.00 $685.00 $1,370.00 $500.00 $1,000.00
57 Mulch Blanket Syd 500 $5.00 $2,500.00 $1.55 $775.00 $1.55 $775.00 $2.50 $1,250.00 $4.00 $2,000.00
58 Turf Establishment Syd 5,000 $15.00 $75,000.00 $15.00 $75,000.00 $7.30 $36,500.00 $9.50 $47,500.00 $8.00 $40,000.00
59 Conduit, DB, 1, 1-1/4 inch Ft 800 $17.00 $13,600.00 $11.20 $8,960.00 $13.00 $10,400.00 $12.00 $9,600.00 $30.25 $24,200.00
60 Conduit, DB, 1, 3inch Ft 700 $20.00 $14,000.00 $16.00 $11,200.00 $19.00 $13,300.00 $16.00 $11,200.00 $38.50 $26,950.00
61 Conduit, DB, 2, 3 inch Ft 100 $25.00 $2,500.00 $31.00 $3,100.00 $26.00 $2,600.00 $33.00 $3,300.00 $63.00 $6,300.00
62 Light Pole Fdn Ea 5 $2,000.00 $10,000.00 $1,605.00 $8,025.00 $1,050.00 $5,250.00 $1,650.00 $8,250.00 $2,000.00 $10,000.00
63 Contaminated Material, Storage, Handling and Disposal, Allowance DIr 100,000 $1.00 $100,000.00 $1.00 $100,000.00 $1.00 $100,000.00 $1.00 $100,000.00 $1.00 $100,000.00
64 Irrigation Repair, Allowance, Max Dir 30,000 $1.00 $30,000.00 $1.00 $30,000.00 $1.00 $30,000.00 $1.00 $30,000.00 $1.00 $30,000.00
65 Remove and Replace Fence and Structure, Allowance Dir 50,000 $1.00 $50,000.00 $1.00 $50,000.00 $1.00 $50,000.00 $1.00 $50,000.00 $1.00 $50,000.00
Subtotal Improvement Items $2,678,375.00 $2,771,382.50 $3,136,398.00 $3,233,799.50 $3,795,345.00
SANITARY SEWER ITEMS
66 20 inch D.l. CL 53, Sanitary Sewer, including sand backfill and Insulation Ft 150 $450.00 $67,500.00 $275.00 $41,250.00 $330.00 $49,500.00 $470.00 $70,500.00 $445.00 $66,750.00
67 27 inch Sanitary Sewer, including sand backfill Ft 1,376 $450.00 $619,200.00 $179.50 $246,992.00 $300.00 $412,800.00 $275.00 $378,400.00 $370.00 $509,120.00
68 Abandon and Fill Sanitary Sewer Ft 650 $45.00 $29,250.00 $19.00 $12,350.00 $40.00 $26,000.00 $33.00 $21,450.00 $18.00 $11,700.00
69 Sanitary Sewer Lateral, SDR 35, 6 inch including sand backfill Ft 120 $150.00 $18,000.00 $101.20 $12,144.00 $47.50 $5,700.00 $55.00 $6,600.00 $75.00 $9,000.00
70 Core & Boot Sanitary Sewer for Lateral, 6 inch Ea 12 $500.00 $6,000.00 $522.00 $6,264.00 $650.00 $7,800.00 $920.00 $11,040.00 $250.00 $3,000.00
71 Sewer Bulkhead, 27 inch Ea 1 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 $435.00 $435.00 $980.00 $980.00 $5,900.00 $5,900.00 $500.00 $500.00
72 Sanitary Sewer Lateral Connection Ea 12 $350.00 $4,200.00 $260.00 $3,120.00 $300.00 $3,600.00 $750.00 $9,000.00 $150.00 $1,800.00
73 Sanitary Sewer Manhole, 48 inch, w/cover Ea 2 $6,500.00 $13,000.00 $9,374.00 $18,748.00 $6,500.00 $13,000.00 $6,000.00 $12,000.00 $4,500.00 $9,000.00
74  Sanitary Sewer Manhole, 60 inch, w/cover Ea 2 $7,500.00 $15,000.00 $10,790.00 $21,580.00 $8,600.00 $17,200.00 $7,500.00 $15,000.00 $6,000.00 $12,000.00
75 Sanitary Sewer Manhole, 72 inch, w/cover Ea 4 $8,500.00 $34,000.00 $7,097.00 $28,388.00 $10,000.00 $40,000.00 $10,500.00 $42,000.00 $8,500.00 $34,000.00
76 Sanitary Sewer Wye, 8 inch x 6 inch Ea 1 $500.00 $500.00 $322.00 $322.00 $435.00 $435.00 $650.00 $650.00 $200.00 $200.00
230155.01 Page 2 of 3



ITEM ESTIMATED ENGINEER'S ESTIMATE DIVERSCO CONSTRUCTION SITE WORK SOLUTIONS CONNAN INC MONTGOMERY EXCAVATING
NO. PROPOSAL ITEM UNIT QUANTITY PRICE AMOUNT PRICE AMOUNT PRICE AMOUNT PRICE AMOUNT PRICE AMOUNT
77 Sanitary Sewer, PVC Truss Pipe, 10 inch w/sand backfill Ea 15 $250.00 $3,750.00 $217.00 $3,255.00 $145.00 $2,175.00 $115.00 $1,725.00 $140.00 $2,100.00
78 Sanitary Sewer, PVC Truss Pipe, 12 inch w/sand backfill Ea 25 $275.00 $6,875.00 $146.00 $3,650.00 $153.00 $3,825.00 $125.00 $3,125.00 $160.00 $4,000.00
79 Sanitary Sewer, PVC Truss Pipe, 8 inch w/sand backfill Ea 170 $250.00 $42,500.00 $102.50 $17,425.00 $137.00 $23,290.00 $75.00 $12,750.00 $125.00 $21,250.00
80 Maintain Sanitary Sewer Flow Lsum 1 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 $126,560.00 $126,560.00 $125,000.00 $125,000.00 $200,000.00 $200,000.00 $200,000.00 $200,000.00
81 Remove Existing Sanitary Sewer System Lsum 1 $25,000.00 $25,000.00 $48,483.00 $48,483.00 $48,000.00 $48,000.00 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 $40,800.00 $40,800.00
Subtotal Sanitary Sewer Items $935,775.00 $590,966.00 $779,305.00 $840,140.00 $925,220.00
WATER MAIN ITEMS
82 1 inch Copper Water Service Ft 300 $75.00 $22,500.00 $56.70 $17,010.00 $27.00 $8,100.00 $42.00 $12,600.00 $40.00 $12,000.00
83 Water Main, D.I. CL 53, 6 inch (with Poly-Wrap), incl. sand backfill Ft 750 $200.00 $150,000.00 $97.05 $72,787.50 $73.00 $54,750.00 $100.00 $75,000.00 $135.00 $101,250.00
84 Water Main, D.I. CL 53, 8 inch (with Poly-Wrap), incl. sand backfill Ft 825 $220.00 $181,500.00 $130.00 $107,250.00 $92.00 $75,900.00 $120.00 $99,000.00 $155.00 $127,875.00
85 Bend, 45 Degree, 6 inch Ea 3 $850.00 $2,550.00 $741.00 $2,223.00 $380.00 $1,140.00 $425.00 $1,275.00 $430.00 $1,290.00
86 Bend, 45 Degree, 8 inch Ea 10 $1,000.00 $10,000.00 $782.00 $7,820.00 $490.00 $4,900.00 $555.00 $5,550.00 $550.00 $5,500.00
87 Bend, 90 Degree, 6 inch Ea $850.00 $1,700.00 $794.00 $1,588.00 $415.00 $830.00 $470.00 $940.00 $470.00 $940.00
88 Cross, 8 inch Ea 1 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 $1,712.00 $1,712.00 $1,250.00 $1,250.00 $1,300.00 $1,300.00 $1,000.00 $1,000.00
89 Curb Stop and Box, 1 inch Ea 10 $850.00 $8,500.00 $919.00 $9,190.00 $525.00 $5,250.00 $700.00 $7,000.00 $520.00 $5,200.00
90 Hydrant, 5inch Ea 4 $4,500.00 $18,000.00 $4,348.00 $17,392.00 $4,685.00 $18,740.00 $5,300.00 $21,200.00 $4,800.00 $19,200.00
91 Reducer, 8 inch x 6 inch Ea 2 $550.00 $1,100.00 $810.00 $1,620.00 $425.00 $850.00 $510.00 $1,020.00 $400.00 $800.00
92 Sleeve, 6 inch Ea 4 $2,250.00 $9,000.00 $1,581.00 $6,324.00 $1,325.00 $5,300.00 $1,500.00 $6,000.00 $475.00 $1,900.00
93 Sleeve, 8 inch Ea 6 $2,750.00 $16,500.00 $1,831.00 $10,986.00 $1,530.00 $9,180.00 $1,800.00 $10,800.00 $625.00 $3,750.00
94 Tap for 1 inch Water Service, including Corporation Stop Ea 10 $400.00 $4,000.00 $558.00 $5,580.00 $400.00 $4,000.00 $550.00 $5,500.00 $365.00 $3,650.00
95 Tee, 6inch x 6 inch x 6 inch Ea 2 $1,250.00 $2,500.00 $1,074.00 $2,148.00 $670.00 $1,340.00 $650.00 $1,300.00 $625.00 $1,250.00
96 Tee, 8inch x 8 inch x 6 inch Ea 3 $1,500.00 $4,500.00 $1,238.00 $3,714.00 $780.00 $2,340.00 $800.00 $2,400.00 $800.00 $2,400.00
97 Tee, 8inch x 8 inch x 8 inch Ea 1 $1,750.00 $1,750.00 $1,918.00 $1,918.00 $860.00 $860.00 $870.00 $870.00 $900.00 $900.00
98 Valve and Box, 6 inch Ea 5 $2,750.00 $13,750.00 $2,573.00 $12,865.00 $1,565.00 $7,825.00 $1,900.00 $9,500.00 $1,600.00 $8,000.00
99 Valve and Box, 8 inch Ea 7 $4,000.00 $28,000.00 $3,215.00 $22,505.00 $2,155.00 $15,085.00 $2,600.00 $18,200.00 $2,325.00 $16,275.00
100 Remove Existing Water Main, Hydrants and Fittings Lsum 1 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 $51,895.00 $51,895.00 $38,000.00 $38,000.00 $45,000.00 $45,000.00 $7,410.00 $7,410.00
Subtotal Water Main Items $527,850.00 $356,527.50 $255,640.00 $324,455.00 $320,590.00
TOTAL ALL ITEMS $4,142,000.00 $3,718,876.00 $4,171,343.00 $4,398,394.50 $5,041,155.00
230155.01 Page 3 of 3



Moore-+Bruggink

Consulting Engineers

October 23, 2025

Re: Zeeland — Church Street
Reconstruction
Project No. 230155.01

Mr. Kevin Plockmeyer
City of Zeeland

21 South Elm Street
Zeeland, Michigan 49464

Dear Mr. Plockmeyer:
Based on our recommendation to award a contract on the Reconstruction of Church

Street, Lincoln Avenue, Sewer Plant Road, and Cemetery Drive project in the amount
of $3,718,876.00, we hereby estimate the total project budget as follows:

PROJECT COSTS

Low Bid (Diversco Construction Co.) $3,718,876.00
Design Engineering $110,000.00
Permits $2,000.00
Soil Borings $6,000.00
Construction Inspection and Engineering $338,000.00
Project Contingencies $425,124.00

TOTAL ESTIMATED BUDGET $4,600,000.00

PROJECT FUNDING

Street Fund

$3,044,155.00

Water Fund $511,992.00
Sewer Fund (City) $385,143.00
Sewer Fund (Township) $658,710.00

TOTAL ESTIMATED BUDGET $4,600,000.00

If you have any questions, please contact me.

Sincerely,

K'Ian Pené&?ﬂé

Project Manager

AP/pim

2020 Monroe Avenue NW | Grand Rapids, MI 49505-6298
T [616] 363 9801 | F [616] 363 2480 | W mbce.com



O ZEELAND
Board of Public Works

TO: Chairperson Boerman and Members of the Board of Public Works
FROM: Jason Postma, Water Operations Manager
SUBJECT: Professional Services Recommendation: Moore & Bruggink Consulting Engineers

DATE: November 4, 2025

The following professional services recommendation is summited for Board approval. As this capital
expenditure was not anticipated in the FY2026 capital improvement budget, staff request repurposing of funds
of two FY2026 CIP budgeted projects that will be non-performed - SCADA system replacement ($150,000);
paving 80" St. Tank parking area ($50,000). The installation and construction will be part of FY2027 CIP
budget.

Description:
In conjunction with increased demand in our high-pressure district and the need for added reliability. The

addition of a 3™ pump at Carlton Pump Station is critical for our water systems’ long-term success in high
demand situations. The 3™ pump will provide the following enhancements.

¢ Provide redundancy to ensure daily demands are available
e Utilize innovative technology
¢ Allow us to operate using best practice when maximum daily flows approach 90% of firm capacity.

Staff are requesting approval for the engineering/design/bidding processes and construction supervisor at
Carlton Pump Station in the total amount of $92,137.50 which is comprised of the following:

Preliminary design $20,650.50

Design & Construction Engineering $27,414.50
Bidding Phase $4,357.00

Construction Phase $35,328.00

Contingency (5%) $4,387.50

Bidder Name Bidder Location | Quote Meets Comments
Specification

Moore & Grand Rapids, Ml | $92,137.50 YES RECOMMENDATION
Bruggink

Recommendation:
Approve Moore & Bruggink proposal and scope of work in the amount of $92,137.50

Attachment: Moore & Bruggink quote/scope of work (Engineering and Construction) PDF



Moore-+Bruggink

Consulting Engineers

October 10, 2025

Proposal — Carlton Booster Station
Improvements

Mr. Jason Postma

Water Operations Manager, Zeeland BPW
350 East Washington Avenue

Zeeland, Michigan 49464

Dear Mr. Postma,

As requested, we are submitting this proposal for professional services for the Carlton
Booster Station Improvements. The design objective is to add a third pump to the existing
lift station to increase pumping capacity. The engineering scope includes:

1. Investigation & Preliminary Design Phase
a. Water usage records review, hydraulic analysis, and developing initial
basis of design (assumed that BPW can provide SCADA record flow data
of high water use periods)

b. Site visit to complete investigation of existing controls and electrical items
for installing the 3rd pump
C. Coordinate with previous integrator to acquire and review latest revisions

to the booster station control system and SCADA system
d. Document existing electrical/controls/SCADA systems
e. Develop a feasible option (or two) for layout and design
f. Develop preliminary budgetary construction costs
g Virtual meeting to review preliminary design

2. Final Design Phase
a. Develop 60% & 100% Project Drawings, Specifications, and Opinion of
Probable Construction Costs
b. Virtual meetings to review 60% & 100% designs with BPW
C. Finalize design documents for public bid and submit Act 399 Permit
Application

3. Bidding Phase
a. Conduct Pre-bid Meeting and Walkthrough Onsite
b Respond to contractor questions and issue addendums as needed
C. Bid opening, bid documents and references review
d Prepare Award Recommendation and Budget Letters

2020 Monroe Avenue NW | Grand Rapids, MI 49505-6298
T [616] 363 9801 | F [616] 363 2480 | W mbce.com



Mr. Jason Postma
October 10, 2025

Page 2
4. Construction Phase
a. Onsite preconstruction meeting
b. Review submittals
C. Onsite progress meetings (assumed 2 per month, 4 total with 2 months of
construction)
d. Onsite inspection (1 half-day visit per week assumed during construction)
e. Construction phase document issuance
f. Pump startup and contractor coordination
g. Punch lists, as-built drawings, project closeout

Below are our estimated fees and a breakdown of hours and associated costs is attached.

Preliminary Design

M&EB LabDOr COSt.... e $11,430.50
Electrical Engineer Subconsultant Labor Cost...........ccccoeiiiiiiiiiiennnn. $9,020.00
Final Design Phase

M&EB LabDOr COSt.... e $11,474.50
Electrical Engineer Subconsultant Labor Cost..........ccccooeiiiiiiiiinnnnn. $15,840.00
Bidding Phase

M&EB LabOr COSt.... .o $4,207.00
Construction Phase

MEB LabOr COSt.....neeeeeeeeeeee e e e $25,250.00
Electrical Engineer Subconsultant Labor Cost.........cccooooeviviiiiennn. $9,240.00
Reimbursables

Mileage & printing (all Phases) ......cccoeeeeiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e, $1,288.00
B 1o 1 $87,750.00

Records documents are not available for recent improvements made at the Carlton
Booster Station, and there will be a significant amount of investigation required to establish
details of the current installation. This will, in turn, require an elevated amount of time/
effort, especially for the electrical and controls system. It is anticipated that the third pump
will be the same size/capacity as the existing pumps, but water usage records will be
reviewed and hydraulic calculation performed to evaluate/confirm the pump selection. This
work is included in the preliminary engineering phase scope.

We will invoice for this work using our standard hourly rates plus out-of-pocket expenses
not to exceed the amount listed above. Please review this proposal and call me with any
questions or comments. Thank you for the opportunity to continue to work with the City of
Zeeland on this transformative project.

Smc,egel/y,

I
[

i: / /
/
l«\/\/

A,

—/;/;/: ///:7

Jdcob Bruggink! P.E.
Project Engineer

Attachments

M:AMARKETING\Proposals\Prop2025\Bruggink\Zeeland - Carton Booster Station\Carlton Booster Station Proposal Letter_2025.10.10.docx



Prepared By October 2025

v L Moore+Bruggink Moore & Bruggink

: Consulting Engineers Grand Rapids, Michigan

Cost of Services Manhour Breakdown for the
Design & Construction Engineering— Carlton Booster Station Improvements

Principal Project Project
M&B Task Description in Charge Engineer lll Engineer Il Clerical Hours Per Task
Preliminary Design Phase
Kickoff Coordination and Site Visit Getting Measurements 4 4 8
Record Drawings Investigation 0.5 2 2 5
Prepare Initial Base/Existing CAD Drawings/Models 1 16 17
Water Usage Data Review (assumes Zeeland to provide SCADA data) 1 2 3
Hydraulic Analysis & Initial Basis of Design 1 2 3
Site Visit with Electrical Engineer 3 3 6
Pump & Control Valve Selection and Coordination with Electrical Engineer 4 2 6
Prepare Initial Design Drawings 1 20 21
Prepare Initial Specifications 12 2 2 16
M&B Preliminary Design Phase Hours 0.5 29 53 2 84.5
M&B Preliminary Design Phase Engineering $11,430.50
M&B Preliminary Design Phase Reimbursables (mileage & printing) $200.00
Electrical/Controls Preliminary Design Engineering — Subconsultant — Century AE $9,020.00

Design Phase Subtotal $20,650.50



Prepared By October 2025

v k Moore+Bruggink Moore & Bruggink

: Consulting Engineers Grand Rapids, Michigan

Cost of Services Manhour Breakdown for the
Design & Construction Engineering— Carlton Booster Station Improvements

Principal Project Project
M&B Task Description in Charge Engineer lll Engineer Il Clerical Hours Per Task

Final Design Phase

60% Design Level Opinion of Probable Construction Cost 0.5 4 2 1 8

Conduct 60% Design Review with BPW (Virtual), Prep, Minutes 2 3 1 6

Revise Drawings for 100% Review 2 6 8

Update Specifications for 100% Review 6 4 1 11

Finalize Basis of Design and Prepare Information for Act 399 Permit Application 2 4 6

Finalize Opinion of Probable Construction Cost 0.5 2 1 1 5

Conduct 100% Design Review with BPW (in-person), Prep, Minutes 3 4 1 8

Final QA/QC 4 4 2 10

Final Drawings Revision 1 2 3

Final Specifications Revision 0.5 4 2 2 9

Act 399 Permit Application Submission 1 3 4

PM Tasks 2 2 4

M&B Final Design Phase Hours 7.5 33 33 7 81

M&B Design Phase Engineering $11,474.50

M&B Final Design Phase Reimbursables (mileage & printing) $100.00

Electrical/Controls Design Engineering — Subconsultant — Century AE $15,840.00
Final Design Phase Subtotal $27,414.50

Bidding Phase

Conduct Pre-bid Meeting and Walkthrough Onsite 3 4 1 8

Respond to Contractor Questions 2 1 3

Issue Addendum(s) 2 4 2 8

Bid Opening 1.5 1.5 1 4

Review Bids, Check References, Insurance, Bonding, etc. 0.5 2 2 5

Prepare Award Recommendation and Budget Letters 0.5 3 1 5

M&B Bidding Phase Hrs 1 13.5 9.5 8 32

M&B Bidding Phase Engineering $4,207.00

M&B Bidding Phase Reimbursables (mileage & printing) $150.00

Bidding Phase Subtotal $4,357.00



- Consulting Engineers
=

Cost of Services Manhour Breakdown for the

Prepared By

v k Moore+Bruggink Moore & Bruggink

Grand Rapids, Michigan

Design & Construction Engineering— Carlton Booster Station Improvements

October 2025

Principal Project Project
M&B Task Description in Charge Engineer lll Engineer Il Clerical Hours Per Task
Construction Phase
Precon Meeting, Prep, Follow-up 1 4 4 2 11
Review Contractor's Construction Schedule 1 1
Review Schedule of Values 1 1
Review Shop Drawings 8 16 24
On-site Progress Meetings (2 per month, 4 total with 2 months of construction) 12 16 4 32
On-site Inspection (1 half-day visit per week assumed during construction activities) 4 28 32
Review Contractor Payment Applications 2 4 6
Respond to RFls 2 4 6
Create Bulletins and Process Any Change Orders 2 6 8
Pump Startup and Contractor Coordination 6 6 12
Punch List (assumed 2 needed plus additional site-visit for final review) 8 10 18
As-builts 1 2 8 11
O&M Review 2 4
Project Close-out 1 2 1 4 8
Coordination and Internal Meetings 1 2 2 5
PM Tasks 2 2 4
M&B Construction Phase Hrs 6 60 109 10 179
M&B Construction Phase Engineering $25,250.00
M&B Construction Phase Reimbursables (mileage & printing) $838.00
Electrical/Controls Construction Engineering — Subconsultant — Century AE $9,240.00
Construction Phase Subtotal $35,328.00
M&B Labor Subtotal: $52,362.00
M&B Reimbursables Subtotal: $1,288.00
Electrical/Controls — Subconsultant — Century AE Subtotal: $34,100.00

Total Not-To-Exceed Amount|

$87,750.00]




ZEELAND

TO: Chairperson Boerman and Members of the Board of Public Works Board of Public Works
FROM: Brian L. Coots, Electrical Transmission & Distribution Manager
SUBJECT: Electric Transmission & Distribution Department Projects Update

DATE: November 11th, 2025

Taft St. Undergrounding

In coordination with the City of Zeeland’s road reconstruction project, the Electric Department has been
installing new underground distribution facilities to serve customers along Taft Street. Of the four blocks
included in this project, only one was previously served by overhead electrical infrastructure. The remaining
three blocks had already been converted to underground service; however, portions of the existing primary
cable in those areas were originally installed nearly 60 years ago.

Given the age and condition of this infrastructure, staff determined it would be prudent to replace the older
underground primary while construction activity is underway in the area. This proactive approach enhances
system reliability and reduces future maintenance requirements.

Riley Circuit Exit Upgrade

As part of the ongoing expansion of distribution feeders originating from the Northside Substation, it is critical
to ensure that adequate circuit ties and redundant feed paths are established to maintain system reliability
under both normal and contingency operating conditions. Redundant pathways allow for continued service in
the event of an underground cable failure by providing alternate sources of supply to otherwise isolated load
areas.

Following the installation of the Northside Distribution Circuit No. 5, system planning staff identified the need
for an additional tie circuit to improve redundancy and operational flexibility for Riley Circuits No. 2, No. 3, and
No. 6. To complete this enhancement, approximately 400 feet of 15 kV backbone cable and a PMH-10 pad-
mounted switchgear were installed.

This improvement strengthens the distribution network by providing additional contingency options in the event
of substation equipment outages and enabling load transfers required to perform preventative maintenance
within the substation.

Near Term Projects

Further updates on the Prairie Winds West, Trailside Phase 3, and Eagle Meadows developments, all of which
are currently under construction, confirm that ZBPW will be able to begin installing distribution system
infrastructure by the end of September. Collectively, these developments will add more than 100 new
customers. Our goal is to complete the distribution backbone in these areas before winter. Also, some near-
term projects have been completed and are listed below.

e Set a new pole and relocate existing overhead facilities on Perry Street to allow for the subdivision
entrance of eagle Meadows to be installed.

e Setting new pole and riser feeding switchgear on the corner of Centennial and Garfield. Along with
getting concrete transformer pads set to allow the final stretch of overhead primary to come down along
Garfield.

Zeeland Board of Public Works o 350 East Washington Avenue o Zeeland, Michigan 49464 o 616-772-6212 o www.zeelandbpw.com



ELECTRIC DEPARTMENT REPORT

September 2025

OPERATIONS

BPW

RENEWABLES
PURCHASED POWER
SYSTEM TOTAL

ENERGY SOLD
RESIDENTIAL
COMMERCIAL
INDUSTRIAL
PUBLIC
SYSTEM TOTAL

CHARGES FOR SERVICES
RESIDENTIAL
COMMERCIAL
INDUSTRIAL

PUBLIC

STREET LIGHTS

TOTAL CHARGES

CUMULATIVE FOR FISCAL YEAR
KWH PURCHASED AND GENERATED
KWH SOLD

SYSTEM LOSSES

SYSTEM LOSSES (PERCENT)

TOTAL CHARGES FOR SERVICES
AVERAGE RATE PER KWH SOLD

PEAK HOUR

PURCHASED POWER - 9/18/25 @ 2PM
POWER GENERATED

TOTAL PEAK

ALL TIME PEAK - 91,663 KW - 6/24/25 @ 2PM

RENEWABLE ENERGY CREDITS

BEEBE WIND FARM
PEGASUS WIND FARM
ASSEMBLY SOLAR 1
ASSEMBLY SOLAR 2
INVENERGY SOLAR
BRANDT WOODS SOLAR
PURCHASED

TOTALS:
2025 COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENT:
BALANCE (Carry Forward):

VOLUNTARY GREEN PROGRAM

Note 1: 'Pending’ RECs have been generated, are due to the BPW and are awaiting transfer

September 2025

September 2024

Note 2: RECs counts include applicable Michigan Incentive RECs (iRECs)

AUGUST 2025 FUEL AND PURCHASED POWER COSTS

FUEL USED AT PLANT
PURCHASED POWER
SYSTEM TOTAL

ADJUSTMENT FACTOR

(SYSTEM AVERAGE COST - 45.00) X 1.06 X 0.001

12 month rolling average

100,980 KWH 45,309
6,726,112 KWH 7,023,874
33,346,149 KWH 31,968,568
40,173,241 KWH 39,037,751
4,025,300 KWH 4,465,976
2,334,096 2,685,538
31,132,501 KWH 31,017,617
2,564,204 2,541,157
40,056,101 KWH 40,710,288
$400,360.86 $440,837.39
$234,665.47 $270,723.72
$2,411,671.07 $2,439,663.72
$223,291.15 $225,949.05
$10,225.45 $10,390.80
$3,280,214.00 $3,387,564.68
130,559,545 KWH 124,330,196
128,804,835 KWH 121,974,595
1,754,710 KWH 2,355,601
1.3% 1.9%
$10,572,946.71 $10,190,871.98

$0.08209 $0.08355
77,637 KW 77,788
0 KW 0
77,637 KW 77,788

Monthly RECs REC Bank  Pending Total
Generated (Available)  (Est.) (with Pending)

203 7,951 4,010 11,961
1,361 46,399 25,147 71,546
1,508 18,068 12,514 30,582

1,970 22,825 15,826 38,651
1,794 21,417 13,803 35,220
591 0 3,782 3,782
0 0 0 0
7,427 116,660 75,082 191,742
64,422
127,320
4.1 44 0 44

TOTAL COST KWH

$14,942.28 56,594
$2,504,434.37 43,768,002
$2,519,376.65 43,824,596

= $0.013237
$0.017034

KWH
KWH
KWH
KWH

KWH

KWH

KWH

KWH
KWH
KWH

Kw
Kw
Kw

PERCENT CHANGE
122.9%
-4.2%
4.3%
2.9%

-9.9%
-13.1%
0.4%
0.9%
-1.6%

-9.2%
-13.3%
-1.1%
-1.2%
-1.6%
-3.2%

5.0%
5.6%

-1.8%

-0.2%

AVERAGE COST (MILLS)
264.03

57.22
57.49



TO:
FROM:
SUBJE

DATE:

O ZEELAND
Board of Public Works

Chairperson Boerman and Members of the Board of Public Works
Robert Mulder - Power Supply & Market Operations Manager
CT: Power Production and Buildings & Grounds Department Report

November 5, 2025

Operations & Power Supply: September 2025

Operation of the BPW’s on system generating units increased 122.9% year-over-year, while still only
accounting for 0.25% of our monthly energy
BPW renewables decreased by (4.2%) year-over-year, accounting for 16.7% of our monthly energy.

o The BPW received 5,161,440 kWh from our (4) solar PPA’s, 12.8% of our monthly energy.

o The BPW received 1,564,672 kWh from our (2) wind PPA’s, 3.9% of our monthly energy.
Purchased power increased by 4.3% year-over-year, accounting for 83.0% of our monthly energy.
Total energy requirements increased by 2.9% year-over-year for a total of 40,173,241 kWh.

System demand remained flat, decreasing by (0.2%) year-over-year, reaching a peak of 77,637 kW on
9/18/2025.

Like previous months, MISO market prices in September increased year-over-year but remained at
moderate, anticipated levels:

o Day-ahead average: $39.698/MWh (+35.7% year-over-year)

o Real-Time average: $44.272/MWh (+43.3% year-over-year)

Natural gas spot market prices:

o The month began at $2.44/MMBtu and closed at $2.71/MMBtu

o Monthly average: $2.749/MMBtu - A 5.0% increase from August’s monthly average of

$2.618/MMBtu and a 44.5% year-over-year increase over September 2024’s $1.903/MMBtu.

Bid Gas Prices for 9/1/2025 to 9/30/2025 Bid Gas Prices for 9/2024 thru 9/2025

Renewable Enerqy Credits (RECS): September 2025

During the month of September, an estimated 7,427 RECs were generated (pending) in the MIRECS
system from Beebe, Pegasus Wind, and the Assembly / Invenergy / Brandt Woods Solar PPA’s.
Voluntary Green Program participation remained steady with five (5) customers, totaling 4.1 RECs.
The BPW’s MIRECs account balance presently stands at 116,660 (2023 and 2024 vintage) with an
additional estimated 75,082 due for January through September 2025, totaling 191,742. The 2025
compliance requirement is 64,422.

Zeeland Board of Public Works o 350 East Washington Avenue o Zeeland, Michigan 49464 o 616-772-6212 o www.zeelandbpw.com



Projects & Department Updates

White Tail Solar Project (Washtenaw County, Ml): The project achieved commercial operation (COD)
on November 4, 2025. This PPA was executed through the MPPA, with Zeeland BPW'’s offtake totaling
2.8 MW of nameplate generation, providing an estimated 4,750 MWh of energy annually, or ~1% of our
annual energy requirements.

Riley Generation Ventilation Fan Control Project: Theka Engineering has substantially completed
upgrades to the ventilation fan controls at the Riley Generation facility. These improvements enhance
temperature control in the engine hall, particularly during cold weather. Final SCADA integration, testing,
and control tuning remain outstanding, but installation and programming are complete.

Power Plant Tours: Power Plant staff hosted several tours during October, including visits from three
Cityside 7th-grade classes (Mr. Fenlon) and members of the IEEE Life Member Affinity Group.
Washington Avenue Generation Facility — Title V ROP Renewal: The facility’s Title V Renewable
Operating Permit (ROP) renewal period opened in mid-October, with submittal due by mid-October 2026.
Staff have requested proposals from two environmental consulting firms to perform this service and plan
to award a contract in the coming days.

Integrated Resource Plan (IRP) Update & Stakeholder Engagement: The project continues to
advance. The public kickoff meeting held on October 16 drew more than 25 attendees, including at least
15 members of the public and representatives from the BPW, City, and neighboring municipal utilities.
Staff continue to collaborate with nFront Consulting to plan upcoming Stakeholder Working Group
sessions, the first of which is scheduled for November 18 from 4 - 6 p.m. In parallel, staff and nFront are
updating fuel and dispatch models, evaluating potential generation technologies, and conducting other
analytics necessary to complete the IRP update. The Power Supply Strategic Planning website is being
updated regularly and can be accessed at the following link:

https://zeelandbpw.com/power-generation-supply

Buildings & Grounds

BPW Office Remodel & Expansion Project: The project remains on schedule, with completion targeted
for May of 2026. Footings and foundations have been poured, and site work is substantially complete.
The base course of asphalt is scheduled to be laid by mid-November, with structural steel installation
beginning the week of November 17. Several minor change orders have been issued, primarily related to
soil conditions and additional site and electrical work. These remain well within the project contingency
and are being tracked and evaluated by BPW staff. The final selection of all office furniture has also been
completed with assistance from West Michigan Office Interiors and input from several members of the
BPW team.

General Facilities Work: In addition to supporting the BPW Office Remodel project, the Buildings &
Grounds staff remain busy with fall clean-up, replacement of concrete chase covers behind the Power
Plant, and other seasonal maintenance activities.

Zeeland Board of Public Works o 350 East Washington Avenue o Zeeland, Michigan 49464 o 616-772-6212 o www.zeelandbpw.com


https://zeelandbpw.com/power-generation-supply

TO:

ZEELAND

Board of Public Works
Chairperson Boerman and Commissioners

FROM: Andrew M. Boatright, General Manager

SUBJECT: Item 7 - Other Business — November 11, 2025 Board of Commissioners Meeting

DATE: November 7, 2025

Introduction of New Employee: Water Operations Manager Jason Postma will introduce new Water
Service Technician Chris Wolters. A brief bio is included in the packet under this tab.

Approve MPPA Commercial & Industrial Demand Response Resolution and Participation Agreement:
Please refer to my memo and attachments included in the packet under this tab.

Requested Action: Approve the Resolution authorizing participation in the MPPA Commercial &
Industrial Demand Response Project and authorize the General Manager to execute the Master
Participation Agreement with MPPA.

Informational — Water and Electric Terms of Service: Please refer to my memo and attachments included in
the packet under this tab.

. Informational - MPIA Fall 2025 Board Meeting Summary: Highlights from the October 28, 2025 MPIA Board

of Directors meeting include:

Investment Portfolio Performance - The MPIA investment portfolio continues to show strong performance
through the third quarter of 2025. As reported by Diamond Capital Management / The National Bank of
Indianapolis, the Zeeland’s MPIA portfolio achieved a 5.43% return for Q3 2025, exceeding the blended
benchmark return of 4.97%.

Election of Officers - Chair Andrew Boatright announced his planned retirement in September 2026 and
recommended a succession plan for the Board’s leadership. The proposed slate included: Rob Shelley —
Chair / Secretary; Andrew Boatright — Vice Chair / Treasurer. This recommendation was approved.

ZBPW Storm Damage Claim Estimate - A severe storm on September 20, 2025 caused significant damage
to the Zeeland Board of Public Works’ electric distribution system, with estimated losses between $100,000
and $150,000. The event downed six power poles and caused outages for over 700 customers, most of
whom regained power within two hours, though 26 customers experienced extended outages of up to 19
hours. Mutual aid from Holland, Lowell, Coldwater, and Niles was instrumental in a swift restoration effort.
The recommendation to the Board was to authorize the insurance claim related to this incident and
proceed with reimbursement through MPIA once final accounting is complete. This recommendation was
approved.

The October 18 MPIA Board meeting agenda and draft minutes are included in the packet under this tab

for reference. Other meeting materials can be made available upon request.
(next page please)

Zeeland Board of Public Works o 350 East Washington Avenue o Zeeland, Michigan 49464 o 616-772-6212 o www.zeelandbpw.com



. Upcoming Events:

Next Regular ZBPW Board Meeting, Tuesday, December 9, 2025, 3:30 p.m., Water Warehouse
Meeting Space, 330 E. Washington Ave, Zeeland

New Utility Billing System Go-Live Date, Monday, November 17, 2025

Power Supply Strategic Planning and Stakeholder Engagement Initiative - Stakeholder Working Group
Meeting #1, Tuesday, November 18, 2025, 4:00 — 6:00 p.m., Howard Miller Library / Community Center
West Activity Room (https://zeelandbpw.com/power-plan/)

Holiday Power Dollars Distribution, Monday, December 1 — Friday, December 12, 2025
(https://zeelandbpw.com/holiday-power-dollars/)

Zeeland Magical Christmas Parade, Monday, December 1, 2025, 6:30 p.m., Downtown Zeeland
(https://www.cityofzeeland.com/339/Magical-Christmas-Parade-Tree-Lighting-C)

All Staff Holiday Luncheon, Wednesday, December 3, 2025, 11:30 a.m. — 1:30 p.m., North Warehouse
(Commissioners welcome!)

Zeeland Board of Public Works o 350 East Washington Avenue o Zeeland, Michigan 49464 o 616-772-6212 o www.zeelandbpw.com



| am pleased to introduce our newest Water Service Worker Chris Wolters. He comes to us
with almost two decades of experience as a public utility worker. He played a key role with
his former employer. His vast knowledge of water and wastewater will help propel the
Water Department to the next level.

Chris was born and raised in Holland. He graduated from Holland Christian High Schoolin
2006. He and his wife currently live on the southeast side of Zeeland with their two

children.




ZEELAND
TO: Chairperson Boerman and Commissioners O Board ofPubh’cworks

FROM: Andrew M. Boatright, General Manager
SUBJECT: MPPA Commercial & Industrial Demand Response Resolution and Participation Agreement

DATE: November 7, 2025

Attached for the Board’s consideration are materials related to Zeeland BPW’s participation in the Michigan
Public Power Agency (MPPA) Commercial & Industrial Demand Response Project, developed in partnership
with Voltus, a third-party demand response implementer. The program enables Zeeland BPW’s Commercial
and Industrial (C&l) customers to voluntarily reduce electric demand during grid emergency events in
exchange for compensation.

Participation in the program will provide Zeeland BPW with a no-cost, no- or low-risk opportunity to enhance
system reliability, support sustainability goals, and strengthen the local economy by keeping performance
payments within the community. The program also positions the Zeeland BPW competitively among other
utilities offering similar customer options.

Included attachments provide:
e C&I Demand Response Talking Points: Program overview, benefits, and structure.
e Resolution approving C&l Program: Authorizes participation and execution of agreements.
o Master Participation Agreement: Formalizes Zeeland BPW'’s participation in the MPPA program.

Recommendation:

Approve the Resolution authorizing participation in the MPPA Commercial & Industrial Demand Response
Project and authorize the General Manager to execute the Master Participation Agreement with MPPA, thereby
enabling Zeeland BPW to participate in the program and extend participation opportunities to eligible C&I
customers.

Attachments: C&l Demand Response Talking Points

Resolution approving C&l Program
MPPA C&l Demand Response Project Master Participation Agreement

Zeeland Board of Public Works o 350 East Washington Avenue o Zeeland, Michigan 49464 o 616-772-6212 o www.zeelandbpw.com



‘ | i
Michigan Public Power Agency

Commercial & Industrial Demand Response Program:
Key Talking Points

Program Overview

Michigan Public Power Agency (“MPPA”) has entered into an agreement with a third-party
demand response! implementer, Voltus, to allow Members’ commercial and industrial customers
(“C&I Customers”) to participate in demand response programs. Voltus will work with Members
and MPPA to engage, educate, and enroll interested C&I Customers — providing value to C&lI
Customers, the Member, and the Community (as is discussed in the “Benefits” section below).

How it Works

1)

2)

3)

4)

5)

An interested C&I Customer enrolls and works with Voltus to create a customized load
curtailment plan. This plan outlines how they will reduce their electricity consumption
and in what amount for a specific period of time.

Once the plan is created, Voltus works with the C&I Customer to perform an initial test,
(and a test annually thereafter) to ensure the C&I Customer can implement their
curtailment plan.

The load that is reduced during that test is registered as a capacity resource with the
Member’s respective Regional Transmission Operator (“RTO”, i.e., MISO or PJM) and is
then available for the RTO to utilize if needed during an electric grid emergency event.

a. A C&I Customer may never be asked to participate in a grid emergency event
(historically, events being called by the RTO have been very rare) but they will still
receive an annual performance payment based on their availability to curtail if
asked.

Each C&I Customer receives an annual payment from Voltus based on how much load
they curtailed during their annual test.

MPPA will have first right of refusal to purchase the capacity created by the C&l
Customers to help our Members meet their resource adequacy (i.e., reliability) and
capacity requirements with their RTO and the State of Michigan.

! Demand response is when customers agree to reduce their electricity usage under specific conditions—such as
during a grid emergency—and are compensated for doing so. This help utilities avoid having to build expensive new
generation, by using existing resources more efficiently.

809 Centennial Way, Lansing, M1 48917 | 517.323.8919 | mpower.org



Third-Party Implementer

Voltus has extensive experience working in all nine markets across the US, including MISO and
PJM. They are well established with sophisticated systems, staff, procedures, and tools that make
it easy for C&I Customers to participate.

Voltus also provides a zero-risk model where MPPA, its Members, and C&I| Customers will never
be penalized for under-performance (i.e., an event is called, and the Customer does not meet
requirements of their curtailment plan).

Benefits

Commercial & Industrial Customers
* Creates Value for C&I Customer — Offers a way to manage and reduce their energy costs
and provides a revenue stream through annual performance payments (up to $50,000
per MW based on today’s market conditions).
* Easy to Participate — C&I Customers may choose when to perform their annual dispatch
test to minimize interruptions to their operations and may never be asked to participate
in an event.

Member

* No Out-of-Pocket Costs — There are no third-party implementer costs to participate in

the program for C&I Customers or Members.
* The only cost to Members will be the MPPA staff time and materials/overhead
allocated to this program.

* Relational / Goodwill - Demonstrates Members’ commitment to providing sustainability
solutions for C&I Customers.

* Competitive Advantage — Helps Members be competitive with other utilities who offer
similar programs.

Community

* Keeping Dollars in the Community — Performance payments provide an additional
revenue stream for C&I Customers, strengthening the community’s C&I Customer base.

* Reliability - A portion of a Member’s power supply capacity portfolio is sourced from its
very own customers, providing local reliability benefits.

* New Source of Clean Capacity — Creates clean capacity using existing resources (i.e., C&I
Customers) that can be incorporated into Members’ power supply capacity portfolios, as
an alternative to buying or building expensive capacity.

809 Centennial Way, Lansing, M1 48917 | 517.323.8919 | mpower.org



RESOLUTION

(To Authorize the Zeeland Board of Public Works of the City of Zeeland
to Participate in the Michigan Public Power Agency
Commercial and Industrial Demand Response Project)

City of Zeeland
County of Ottawa, Michigan

Portions of minutes of a Regular Meeting of the City Council of the City of Zeeland, County of
Ottawa, Michigan, held in the City Hall in said City on November 17, 2025, at 7:00 o'clock p.m., Local
Time.

PRESENT: Council Members

ABSENT: Council Members

The following preamble and resolution were offered by Council Member

and supported by Council Member

WHEREAS, the City of Zeeland, hereafter “Municipality”, owns and operates an electric utility
system for the sale and distribution of electric power and energy to its retail customers in an annual quantity
less than four million megawatt hours;

WHEREAS, the Municipality’s electric system is managed by the Board of the Zeeland Board of
Public Works with the Zeeland Board of Public Works being responsible for setting the rates and terms
under which retail customers take electric service therefrom;

AND WHEREAS, the Municipality is a member of Michigan Public Power Agency (“MPPA”) a
joint agency of the State of Michigan created pursuant to the Michigan Energy Employment Act, 1976 PA
448, MCL 460.801 et seq., and comprised of municipal electric utilities (“Members”) each furnishing

power, energy, and related services to their respective customers;



AND WHEREAS, the MPPA is governed by a Board of Commissioners and each Commissioner
is appointed by the respective Member’s governing body (“Commissioner”);

AND WHEREAS, the purpose of the MPPA is to undertake a broad range of administrative, asset,
planning, and service projects in furtherance of its Members’ provision of electric service to their customers;

AND WHEREAS, Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”), pursuant to Order No. 719,
provided that each FERC-approved independent system operator (“ISO”) and regional transmission
organization (“RTO”) must permit qualified aggregators of retail customers (“ARCs”) to bid demand
response resources on behalf of such customers directly into the organized markets of the FERC-approved
ISO/RTO, unless the laws and regulations of the “relevant electric retail regulatory authority” (“RERRA”)
expressly do not permit a retail customer to participate;

AND WHEREAS, as set forth by FERC in Order 719, the term “RERRA” means the entity that
establishes the retail electric prices and any retail competition policies for customers taking service from
the electric system;

AND WHEREAS, FERC, by way of Order No. 2222, subsequently clarified that that FERC-
approved ISOs/RTOs may not accept bids from ARCs aggregating customers of small utilities (i.e., those
with a total electric output for the preceding fiscal year not exceeding four million megawatt hours) unless
the RERRA allows such customers of small utilities to participate in demand response resource
aggregations;

AND WHEREAS, the Zeeland Board of Public Works is the RERRA for the Municipality’s electric
system;

AND WHEREAS, on October 15, 2025, the MPPA’s Board of Commissioners adopted a resolution
approving the Commercial and Industrial Demand Response Project (“Project”); an MPPA project designed
to provide commercial and industrial customers of Participating MPPA Members (“C&I Customers”) with
the opportunity to receive compensation for their creation of demand response resources capable of being
monetized in the organized markets of their RTO while also providing MPPA Members (through MPPA)

an option to purchase, at or below the prevailing fair market rate, any Monetizable Benefits (which term



includes various capacity products and related quantifiable cost avoidance) produced by the demand

response activity of the participating C&I Customers;

AND WHEREAS, the MPPA’s Board of Commissioners further resolved that:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)
V)

A committee for the Project (“Project Committee™) be formed;

The membership of the Project Committee shall be comprised of persons designated in
writing by each Member authorized and electing to participate in the Project through
executing the Project’s Master Participation Agreement;

The Project Committee be organized and governed in accordance with Article 5 of the
MPPA By-Laws;

All expenses of the Project be borne by all of the Participating Members in the Project; and
The CEO & General Manager of the MPPA, under the direction of the Project Committee
and the MPPA Board of Commissioners, shall take such actions and make such
expenditures necessary and prudent to establish, effectuate, and administer the Project in

the best interests of the MPPA and its Members;

AND WHEREAS, the Project directs the MPPA to engage and designate one or more ARC(s)

(“Designated ARC(s)”) that will: (i) enroll and compensate C&I Customers who engage in certain

organized demand response activities; and (ii) convert the resulting demand response resources to

Monetizable Benefits in the RTO(s) of the C&I Customers;

AND WHEREAS, as part of the Project, the MPPA is responsible for managing the contractual

relationship with the Designated ARC(s) and will specifically oversee the following activities of the

Designated ARC(s):

(1)

(i1)
(iii)

Identification of, outreach to, and enrollment of C&I Customers in the aggregated demand
response programs of the Designated ARC(s);

Installation of necessary customer metering equipment and related technological solutions;
Registration of each participating C&I Customer’s demand response resources in the

wholesale electric market as necessary;



(iv) Monitoring of market conditions, identification of revenue optimization opportunities, and

management of market volatility and other risks;

v) Data management and reporting of C&I Customer demand response resource performance

and revenues; and

(vi) Provision of ongoing education and support to Participating Members and their C&lI

Customers;

AND WHEREAS, the MPPA has or will execute a Master Services Agreement with one or more
Designated ARC(s) (“Master Services Agreement(s)”’) which Designated ARCs are obligated to contract
with and provide various demand response services to C&I Customers of Members participating in the
Project;

AND WHEREAS, in order to participate in the Project, the MPPA Members must execute and
abide by a Commercial and Industrial Demand Response Project Master Participation Agreement (“Master
Participation Agreement”), whereby they may choose to opt into one or more programmatic addendums
thereunder which may be added or amended from time to time;

AND WHEREAS, the Zeeland Board of Public Works of the Municipality has determined that the
demand response resources of its C&I Customers may provide a valuable new source of local capacity, be
an important new tool for longer-term resource adequacy planning and capacity procurement, assist the
Municipality in complying with its resource adequacy requirements and capacity obligations, and/or serve
the best interests of the Municipality’s C&I Customers by enabling their access to the wholesale market to
supply demand response products in exchange for local economic benefits;

AND WHEREAS, the Zeeland Board of Public Works of the Municipality has determined that it
will be beneficial to enable the Municipality’s C&I Customers to aggregate their demand response
resources by contracting with the Designated ARC(s) as part of MPPA’s Commercial and Industrial
Demand Response Project;

AND WHEREAS, the exclusive purpose of this resolution is to enable the Municipality to join in

the MPPA’s Commercial and Industrial Demand Response Project so that the Municipality and its C&l



Customers may enjoy the benefits of participating in the demand response program(s) provided by the

Designated ARC(s) and overseen by the MPPA.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT:

1. The Zeeland Board of Public Works is authorized to execute the Master Participation
Agreement permitting the Municipality to participate in the MPPA’s Commercial and Industrial Demand
Response Project along with any current or future programmatic addendums the Municipality’s
Commissioner deems are in the best interest of the Municipality.

2. After the Zeeland Board of Public Works executes the Master Participation Agreement and
until either the termination of the active addendum(s) to the Master Participation Agreement or recission of
this Resolution, whichever occurs first, the Municipality’s C&I Customers are authorized to contract with
the Designated ARC(s) to aggregate their demand response resources in accordance with the terms of the
Commercial and Industrial Demand Response Project, Master Participation Agreement (as well as any
applicable addendums thereto), and Master Services Agreement(s) (as may be amended from time to time).
However, in the event of suspension, termination, or recission without cause of an active addendum to the
Master Participation Agreement, of a Designated ARC’s Master Services Agreement(s) with MPPA, or of
this Resolution, the Designated ARC(s) may continue to serve the existing C&I Customers of the
Municipality for the longer of the applicable suspension/termination/recission or the C&I Customer’s
contractual commitment allows the Designated ARC to do so after being notified of a
suspension/termination/recission. If, at any time after its adoption, this Resolution is withdrawn without
adoption of superseding procedures, the Municipality’s C&I Customers shall be prohibited from either
entering into new contracts or extending existing contracts with the Designated ARC(s) to aggregate
demand response resources.

3. The Municipality’s authorization of its C&I Customers to contract with the Designated

ARC(s) to aggregate their demand response resources as provided herein does not constitute or confer a



franchise, grant, exclusive license, or other property right. Rather, the right created by this authorization is
in the nature of a revocable non-exclusive license.

4. Notwithstanding Section 2 of this Resolution, in the event a Designated ARC’s Master
Services Agreement(s) with the MPPA, an Addendum to the Designated ARC’s Master Services
Agreement(s) with the MPPA, an Addendum to the Master Participation Agreement, or the Master
Participation Agreement is suspended, terminated, or rescinded for cause, each C&I Customer’s
participation in the Designated ARC’s demand response Program(s) shall continue through the end of the
last MISO Planning Year in which the C&I Customer is already registered. For the avoidance of doubt,
existing contractual commitments between the Designated ARC(s) and the C&I Customers may not be
extended and new contracts may not be executed upon a suspension/termination/recession notification
unless this Resolution permits the Designated ARC(s) to do so.

5. If any section, subsection, paragraph, clause or provision or any part thereof of this
Resolution shall be finally adjudicated by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, the remainder of
this Resolution shall be unaffected by such adjudication and all the remaining provisions of this Resolution
shall remain in full force and effect as though such section, subsection, paragraph, clause or provision or
any part thereof so adjudicated to be invalid had not, to the extent of such invalidity, been included herein.

6. This Resolution shall take effect at the earliest date allowed by law.

7. All resolutions and parts of resolutions insofar as they conflict with the provisions of this

resolution be and the same hereby are rescinded.



AYES: Council Members

NAYS: Council Members

ABSENT: Council Members

RESOLUTION DECLARED ADOPTED.

Kristi DeVerney, City Clerk

CERTIFICATE

I hereby certify that the foregoing constitutes a true and complete copy of a Resolution adopted
by the City Council of the City of Zeeland, County of Ottawa, Michigan, at a Regular Meeting held on
November 17, 2025, and that said meeting was conducted and public notice of said meeting was given
pursuant to and in full compliance with the Open Meetings Act, being Act 267, Public Acts of Michigan,
1976, as amended, and that the minutes of said meeting were kept and will be or have been made available
as required by said Act.

Kristi DeVerney, City Clerk



/ FE
Michigan Public Power Agency

COMMERCIAL & INDUSTRIAL DEMAND RESPONSE PROJECT MASTER
PARTICPATION AGREEMENT

This Commercial & Industrial Demand Response Project Master Participation Agreement
(“Master Participation Agreement” or “Agreement”) is to be effective as of the17thday of
November 2025 (the “Effective Date”) and is entered into by and among Michigan Public
Power Agency (“MPPA”) and The Zeeland Board of Public Works, a Member of MPPA (a
“Participating Member”).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, MPPA is a joint agency of the State of Michigan created pursuant to the
Michigan Energy Employment Act, 1976 PA 448, MCL 460.801 ef seq. (the “Act”) and comprised
of municipal electric utilities each furnishing power, energy, and related services to their respective
customers (each a “Member” and, collectively, the “Members”);

WHEREAS, MPPA is governed by a Board comprised of Commissioners (“MPPA Board”)
who are appointed by the respective governing bodies of its Members;

WHEREAS, the Act authorizes MPPA to, inter alia, undertake administrative, asset,
planning, and service projects either related to its Members’ electric generation and distribution
systems or otherwise in furtherance of its Members’ provision of electric service;

WHEREAS, on October 15, 2025, the MPPA Board passed a resolution creating the
Commercial & Industrial Demand Response Project (“Project”) for the dual purpose of (i)
providing commercial and industrial customers of Participating Members in the Project (“C&l
Customers”) with access to certain demand response programs provided by one or more
aggregators of retail customers engaged by MPPA (“Designated ARC(s)”), and (ii) supplying
Members with additional sources of capacity, quantifiable cost avoidance, and other monetizable
benefits derived from the demand response resources of participating C&I Customers
(“Monetizable Benefits™);

WHEREAS, through participation in the Project, Members will (i) afford their C&I
Customers with the opportunity to receive compensation from the Designated ARC(s) for creating
demand response resources capable of being monetized in the wholesale markets of the C&l
Customer’s regional transmission organization (“RTO”), and (ii) obtain an option to purchase from
the Designated ARC(s) through MPPA any Monetizable Benefit produced by the demand response
resources of participating C&I Customers at or below the prevailing fair market rate;

809 Centennial Way - Lansing, M1l 48917 - Phone: 517.323.8919 - www.mpower.org



Page | 2

WHEREAS, the Board further resolved that

(1) A committee for the Project (“Project Committee™) be formed;

(i1) The membership of the Project Committee shall be comprised of persons designated in
writing by each Member authorized and electing to participate in the Project through
executing the Project’s Master Participation Agreement; and

(ii1)  The Project Committee be organized and governed in accordance with Article 5 of the
MPPA By-Laws;

(iv)  All expenses of the C&I Demand Response Project be borne by all of the Participating
Members in the Project; and

(v) The CEO & General Manager of MPPA, under the direction of the Project Committee
and MPPA Board of Commissioners, shall take such actions and make such
expenditures necessary and prudent to establish, effectuate, and administer the Project
in the best interests of MPPA and its Members.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements contained
in this Agreement, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of
which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:

AGREEMENT

Section 1. RERRA Authorization.

In order for this Master Participation Agreement to be effective, the governing body of the
Participating Member shall, as the relevant electric retail regulatory authority (“RERRA”), pass a
resolution (“RERRA Authorization Resolution™), in substantially the form attached as Exhibit A,
authorizing: (i) the Designated ARC(s) to commercially approach and contract with C&l
Customers of the Participating Member for the purpose of aggregating and entering those
customers’ demand response resources into the wholesale market consistent with the Project; and
(i1) the Participating Member’s C&I Customers to offer their demand response resources into the
wholesale market exclusively through the Designated ARC(s).

Section 2. Covenants.

(a) MPPA Covenants. MPPA shall implement the Project as directed by the Project
Committee which implementation shall include but not necessarily be limited to the services
needed to support the demand response program(s) (each a “Program”) described in the
Addendum(s) to this Agreement (“C&I DR Services”), as may be amended from time to time.

(b) Participating Member Covenants. The Participating Member shall provide
reasonable assistance in furthering MPPA’s implementation of the Project in the Participating
Member’s service territory. Further, the Participating Member agrees to collect rates, rents, fees,
and charges for electric power and energy and other services, facilities, and commodities sold,
furnished, or supplied through its electric system sufficient to provide revenues adequate to meet
its obligations under this Master Participation Agreement.

809 Centennial Way - Lansing, Ml 48917 - Phone: 517.323.8919 - www.mpower.org



Page | 3

(c) Cooperation and Exchange of Information. MPPA and the Participating Member
recognize that successful implementation of the Project will require cooperation and frequent
exchanges of information (including, but not limited to, C&I Customer usage and metering
information) among MPPA, the Participating Member, the appropriate RTO, and the Designated
ARC(s). MPPA and the Participating Member agree to make all reasonable efforts to timely
provide to each other, the appropriate RTO, and/or the Designated ARC(s) such information as
may be required under this Agreement, as may be required under any agreement between MPPA
and the Designated ARC(s), or as otherwise necessary to implement the Project.

Section 3. Demand Response Programs.

(a) Selection. The demand response Programs available to the Participating Member
and their C&I Customers are described in the Addendum(s) to this Agreement and may be amended
from time to time. After the Participating Member’s approval of the RERRA Authorization
Resolution, they may select one or more demand response Program(s) in which to participate by
having a Commissioner sign the signature page of the applicable Addendum(s).

(b) Participation. Participating Members may choose, at their sole discretion, when to
participate and when to terminate said participation in each Program in accordance with this Master
Participation Agreement and the participation terms of the applicable Addendum. In the event of
suspension, termination, or recission without cause of this Agreement, an Addendum to this Master
Participation Agreement, an Addendum to a Designated ARC’s Master Services Agreement(s) with
MPPA, a Designated ARC’s Master Services Agreement(s) with MPPA, or the Participating
Member’s RERRA Authorization Resolution, the Designated ARC(s) may continue to serve the
existing C&I Customers of the Participating Member for the longer of the applicable
suspension/termination/recission or the C&I Customer’s contractual commitment allows the
Designated ARC(s) to do so after being notified of a suspension/termination/recission. In the event
a Designated ARC’s Master Services Agreement(s) with MPPA, an Addendum to the Designated
ARC’s Master Services Agreement(s) with MPPA, an Addendum to this Master Participation
Agreement, or this Master Participation Agreement is suspended, terminated, or rescinded for
cause, each C&I Customers’ participation in the demand response Program(s) shall be allowed to
continue through the end of the last MISO Planning Year or PJM Delivery Year, as defined herein,
in which the C&I Customer is already registered with the applicable RTO. For the avoidance of
doubt, existing contractual commitments with C&I Customers may not be extended and new
contracts may not be executed upon a suspension/termination/recession notification unless a C&I
Demand Response Project Member’s RERRA Authorization Resolution permits Voltus to do so.

Section 4. Governance.

This Agreement shall be administered by a Project Committee as established by the MPPA
Board in accordance with Article 5 of the MPPA By-Laws.

Section 5. Accounting.

MPPA Accounting Obligations. MPPA shall keep accurate records and accounts relating to
the Project in accordance with the Uniform System of Accounts, separate and distinct from its

809 Centennial Way - Lansing, Ml 48917 - Phone: 517.323.8919 - www.mpower.org



Page | 4

other records and accounts. The accounts shall be audited annually by a firm of certified public
accountants, experienced in electric utility accounting, to be employed by MPPA. A copy of each
annual audit, including all written comments and recommendations of such accountants, shall be
furnished by MPPA to the Participating Member not later than one hundred eighty (180) calendar
days after the end of each calendar year.

Section 6. Expenses, Billing, and Payment.

(a) Expenses. MPPA will maintain a record of all costs and expenses of the Project in
accordance with generally accepted accounting practices. Each demand response Program will
have an account to record costs and expenses incurred with respect to the specific activities for the
Program (“Program Costs and Expenses”). The Project will have a general account to record any
Project costs and expenses that cannot be attributed to a specific Program (“Administrative Costs
and Expenses”). The Participating Members that are in a Program will be responsible for those
Program Costs and Expenses, which expenses shall be allocated per the methodology in the
Program’s addendum to this Master Participation Agreement. All Administrative Costs and
Expenses in the general account shall be allocated to the Participating Members in the Project as
follows: Fifty percent (50.00%) democratic and fifty percent (50.00%) based on the load ratio
share of a Participating Member’s MWh sales compared to the total of all MWh sales of all
Participating Members as reported by the most recent Energy Information Administration (“EIA”)
reports / data.

(b) Billing. MPPA shall provide each Participating Member monthly invoices for any
cost and expense attributable to the Participating Member’s Program(s) on or around the 10
calendar day of each month for the Member’s participation in the Project during the preceding
month.

(©) Payment. Monthly payments required to be paid to MPPA for Project costs and
expenses, as invoiced, pursuant to this Section 6 shall be due and payable to MPPA at the principal
office of MPPA or bank account of MPPA, or such other address or bank account as MPPA shall
communicate in written or electronic form to the Participating Member, on the 25" day of the
Month following receipt of the invoice for such costs and expenses, or in the event the 25" day of
the Month falls on a weekend or a bank holiday, the next following business day (“Due Date™)
within ten (10) business days after the Participating Member’s receipt of the invoice, whichever is
later.

(d) Delay-Payment Penalty and Interest. If payment in full is not made on or before the
close of business on the Due Date, a delayed-payment charge on the unpaid amount due for each
day overdue will be imposed at a rate equal to the prime lending rate as may from time to time be
published in The Wall Street Journal under “Money Rate” on such day (or if not published on such
day the most recent preceding day on which published), plus two percent (2%), or the maximum
rate lawfully payable by the Participant, whichever is less. If the due date falls on a Saturday,
Sunday, or a bank holiday, the next following business day shall be the last day on which payment
may be made without the addition of the delay-payment charge.

(e) Dispute Process. In the event of any dispute as to any portion of any invoice, the
Participating Member shall nevertheless pay the full amount of the disputed amounts when due

809 Centennial Way - Lansing, Ml 48917 - Phone: 517.323.8919 - www.mpower.org



Page | 5

and shall give written notice of the dispute to MPPA not later than the date such payment is due, if
the Participating Member is already aware of the dispute, or within thirty (30) calendar days of
discovering the grounds for the disputed amounts, but only if the Participating Member could not
have reasonably been expected to have discovered the grounds for dispute by the original due date.
Such notice shall identify the disputed invoice, state the amount in dispute and set forth a full
statement of the grounds upon which such a dispute is based. No adjustment shall be considered
or made for disputed amounts unless notice is given as required above. MPPA shall give
consideration to such dispute and shall advise the Participating Member in writing of its position
within thirty (30) calendar days following receipt of such written notice. Upon final determination
(whether by agreement, arbitration, adjudication or otherwise) of the correct amount, any
difference between such corrected amount and the invoiced amount shall be subtracted from the
next statement submitted to the Participating Member after such determination or, if this Master
Participation Agreement has terminated, shall be paid to Participating Member within thirty (30)
calendar days of such determination. The Participating Member shall continue to be responsible
after the termination of this Agreement for its share of financial obligations associated with this
Agreement that accrued during the Initial Term and any subsequent Extension Term of this
Agreement.

Section 7. Term.

This Agreement shall become effective as of the date upon which it is fully executed by
the parties hereto and shall survive for an initial term of two (2) years (“Initial Term”). Thereafter,
this Agreement shall automatically extend until May 31 of the subsequent year and each May 31
of the subsequent year thereafter (“Extension Term”) unless terminated by the Participating
Member or MPPA prior to any such automatic extension pursuant to Sections 8, 9, or 13.

Section 8. Default of Participating Member.

(a) Payment Default. Failure of the Participating Member to timely make any payments
to MPPA required under this Master Participation Agreement shall constitute an immediate default
on the part of the Participating Member. In the event of such a default, the Participating Member
shall not be relieved of its liability for payment of the amounts in default and MPPA shall have the
right to recover from the Participating Member any amount in default. In enforcement of any such
right of recovery, MPPA may bring any suit, action, or proceeding in law or in equity, including
mandamus and action for specific performance, as may be necessary or appropriate to enforce any
covenant, agreement or obligation to make any payment for which provision is made in this Master
Participation Agreement against the Participating Member, and if the default is not cured within
five (5) business days following a written declaration of default by MPPA to the Participating
Member, MPPA may, upon twenty (20) calendar days’ written notice to the Participating Member,
terminate this Master Participation Agreement and cease and discontinue providing all or any
portion of the MPPA C&I DR Services.

(b) Covenant Default. Material failure of the Participating Member to timely and
satisfactorily meet the Covenants as required in Section 2 of this Master Participation Agreement
shall constitute a default on the part of the Participating Member. In the event of such default,
MPPA shall provide the Participating Member with a written description of the covenants required

809 Centennial Way - Lansing, Ml 48917 - Phone: 517.323.8919 - www.mpower.org



Page | 6

under this Agreement which the Participating Member has failed to satisfactorily meet. If the
default is not cured within thirty (30) calendar days following receipt of such declaration of default
by the Participating Member, MPPA may, upon sixty (60) calendar days’ written notice to the
Participating Member, terminate this Master Participation Agreement and cease and discontinue
providing all or any portion of the MPPA C&I DR Services.

Section 9. Default of MPPA.

In the event of any default by MPPA under any covenant, obligation, or term of this Master
Participation Agreement, the Participating Member’s remedy for such default shall be limited to
mandamus, injunction, action for specific performance, or any other available equitable remedy as
may be necessary or appropriate, and/or termination of this Agreement upon at least sixty (60)
calendar days’ written notice to MPPA; provided, however, the date of termination shall be the
date which is the latest of (i) sixty (60) calendar days after the date written notification of
termination is given, and (ii) the expiration or satisfaction of the Participating Member’s
obligations with respect to any Power Purchase Commitment, as defined in the Addendum(s) to
this Master Participation Agreement. The Participating Member shall continue to be responsible
after the termination of this Agreement for its share of financial obligations associated with the
services provided by MPPA under this Agreement, including, but not limited to, any obligations
and expenses owing to MPPA related to the Participating Member’s PPC for which MPPA is not
entitled to receive payment from others, that accrued prior to the termination of this Agreement.

Section 10. Abandonment of Remedy.

In case any proceeding or action taken on account of any default shall have been
discontinued or abandoned for any reason, the parties shall be restored to their former positions
and rights hereunder, respectively, and all rights, remedies, powers and duties of MPPA and the
Participating Member shall continue as though no such proceedings had been taken.

Section 11.  Waiver of Default.

Any waiver at any time by either MPPA or the Participating Member of its rights with
respect to any default of the other party hereto, or with respect to any other matter arising in
connection with this Master Participation Agreement, shall not be a waiver with respect to any
subsequent default, right, or matter.

Section 12.  Liability of Parties.

MPPA and the Participating Member agree that the Project constitutes a separate project of
MPPA. The Participating Member shall assert no monetary claims or money damage claims
against MPPA for any default or breach of this Master Participation Agreement, and the
Participating Member is limited to equitable relief only as provided herein. In addition, the parties
agree that under no circumstances shall the financial assets, funds, and accounts and physical assets
of any other MPPA project be available to satisfy any of MPPA’s obligations to the Participating
Member under this Agreement. The sole available recourse for the Participating Member or MPPA
for any acts, errors or omissions by the other party, other than the recourse provided under Sections

809 Centennial Way - Lansing, Ml 48917 - Phone: 517.323.8919 - www.mpower.org



Page | 7

6, 8, and 9 of this Agreement, shall be the withholding of currently owed amounts or suspension
of the provision of services, followed by the termination of this Agreement.

Section 13. Termination.

This Master Participation Agreement may be terminated by either party for any reason after
completion of the Initial Term, provided, however, the terminating party provides written notice to
the other party of its desire to terminate the Agreement at least one hundred fifty (150) calendar
days in advance of the beginning of the first Extension Term. Thereafter, this Master Participation
Agreement may be terminated by either party for any reason after completion of the pending
Extension Term provided the terminating party provides written notice to the other party of its
desire to terminate the Agreement at least one hundred fifty (150) calendar days in advance of the
beginning of the next Extension Term. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Master Participation
Agreement may also be terminated pursuant to Sections 8 and 9 of this Agreement.

The Participating Member and MPPA both recognize that charges, fees, expenses, and
settlements may survive the term of this Master Participation Agreement. Notwithstanding
anything in this Agreement to the contrary, in the event such charges, fees, expenses, and
settlements are incurred as the result of services provided under this Agreement, the Participating
Member shall continue to remain liable and financially responsible for all costs associated with
the charges, fees, expenses, and settlements until they are recovered in full.

Section 14. Amendment.

Except for changes to the Exhibit(s) and/or Addendum(s), included as part of this
Agreement, which the MPPA Board of Commissioners approval shall be required to make any
changes, any amendments to this Agreement shall be approved by the governing board of each
party hereto and executed by a Commissioner of the Participating Member before any such
amendment shall be effective.

Section 15. Applicable Law.

This Agreement and all questions relating to its validity, interpretation, performance, and
enforcement will be governed by and construed, interpreted and enforced in accordance with the
laws of the State of Michigan.

Section 17.  Severability.

Ifany section, paragraph, clause, or provision of this Agreement shall be finally adjudicated
by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, the remainder of this Agreement shall remain
in full force and effect as though such section, paragraph, clause or provision or any part thereof
so adjudicated to be invalid had not been included herein.

Section 18. Counterparts.

This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, all or any of which shall be regarded
for all purposes as one original and shall constitute and be but one and the same instrument.

809 Centennial Way - Lansing, Ml 48917 - Phone: 517.323.8919 - www.mpower.org



Page | 8

[Signatures appear on the next page]

809 Centennial Way - Lansing, Ml 48917 - Phone: 517.323.8919 - www.mpower.org



Page |9

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed
by their proper officers respectively, being thereunto duly authorized, as of the day and year
first above written.

MICHIGAN PUBLIC POWER AGENCY

By

Its

Attest:

PARTICPATING MEMBER
Zeeland Board of Public Works

By

Andrew Boatright
Its _General Manager

Attest:

Kristi DeVerney
Its City Clerk

809 Centennial Way - Lansing, Ml 48917 - Phone: 517.323.8919 - www.mpower.org



Page | 10

ADDENDUM 1 -
MISO RESOURCE ADEQUACY DEMAND RESPONSE PROGRAM

1. Program Description.

The MISO Resource Adequacy Demand Response Program centers around the
engagement, enrollment, and participation of MPPA’s Member C&I Customers in the MISO
wholesale markets as a Load Modifying Resource (“LMR”) or the successors to these instruments,
to provide demand response during emergency operating conditions through contracts with one or
more Designated ARC(s) (in this Addendum 1, the “Program”).

2. Objectives.

Through participation in this Program, Participating Members will (a) incentivize their
C&I Customers to participate in demand response activities by being able to earn compensation
from the Designated ARC(s) for creating demand response resources capable of being monetized
in the MISO wholesale markets, and (b) obtain an option to purchase Zonal Resource Credits
(“ZRCs”) from the Designated ARC(s) through MPPA as produced by the demand response
resources of participating C&I Customers at the prevailing fair market rate or a rate below the
prevailing fair market rate. To facilitate the objectives of this Program, the parties anticipate, and
acknowledge the benefit of, building up to a rolling forward 5-year ZRC product pipeline that
originates from the C&I Customers of Participating Members, where each year this Program rolls
forward another year so that it is always at least five (5) Planning Years into the future. Planning
Year (“PY”) means the period of time from June 1st of one year to May 3 1st of the following year.

3. Participation.

Upon electing to participate in the Program, Participating Members acknowledge that this
Program requires participation by their C&I Customers. Participating Members may discontinue
their participation in the Program after two (2) years, without terminating the Master Participation
Agreement, upon giving at least one hundred fifty (150) calendar days’ written notice to MPPA of
their intent to discontinue participation in the Program. The Participating Member’s
discontinuation notice shall include an effective date of discontinuation, the reasons, if any, for
discontinuing in the Program, and an approved written notice to be used by the parties and the
Designated ARC(s) in communicating the Participating Member’s discontinuation in the Program.
At least sixty (60) calendar days prior to the effective date in the notice of discontinuation, the
Participating Member shall notify its C&I Customers and MPPA shall notify the Designated
ARC(s). After being notified of a discontinuation, the Designated ARC(s) may continue to serve
the existing C&I Customers and the C&I Customers may continue to participate in the Program
until the later of: (a) the termination date of the related Member’s Program RERRA Authorization
Resolution or (b) the then current end date of the C&I Customer’s contract with the Designated
ARC(s). For the avoidance of doubt, existing contractual commitments between the Designated
ARC(s) and C&I Customers may not be extended, and new contracts may not be executed upon
receipt of a discontinuation notification. Further, the parties acknowledge that MPPA will continue

809 Centennial Way - Lansing, Ml 48917 - Phone: 517.323.8919 - www.mpower.org



Page | 11

to work with the Designated ARC(s) on behalf of other Participating Members unless the Program
is terminated in the Designated ARC’s Master Services Agreement(s) with MPPA.

4. Capacity Option.

(a) Capacity Option Determination. In consultation with the Project Committee, MPPA
shall determine whether, in what amounts, and at what price(s) to exercise its annual option with
the Designated ARC(s) to purchase any available ZRCs created through the Program. MPPA shall
document any determination to exercise the annual option with the Designated ARC(s) by way of
an annual written capacity supply analysis and recommendation which shall evaluate the needs of
all Participating Members.

(b) Capacity Option Order of Priority. Any ZRCs to be purchased from the Designated
ARC(s) pursuant to MPPA’s capacity supply analysis and recommendation will be offered for
purchase to Members based on the following order of priority: (i) any Participating Member whose
C&I Customer(s) originated the ZRCs (the “Originating Member’’) may;, at its discretion, purchase
all, some, or none of the ZRCs created by that Originating Member’s C&I Customer(s); (ii) any
Participating Member may purchase all, some, or none of its proportional share of the remaining
ZRCs which proportionate share will be determined by MPPA’s capacity supply analysis and
recommendation; and (iii) any non-participating Member may purchase all, some, or none of its
proportional share of the remaining ZRCs which proportionate share will be determined by
MPPA’s capacity supply analysis and recommendation.

(c) Capacity Option Purchases. If MPPA exercises its annual option to purchase ZRCs
from the Designated ARC(s) on behalf of one or more Member, MPPA shall negotiate and enter
into a ZRC transaction confirmation with the Designated ARC(s) under an EEI Master Power
Purchase and Sale Agreement. When a Member agrees to purchase ZRCs from MPPA, the
transaction shall be treated as a Power Purchase Commitment (“PPC”) to MPPA. All such PPCs
shall be transacted within the Energy Services Project, as revised from time to time, or such other
successor project(s) pursuant to and governed by the terms and procedures of the Energy Services
Agreement and Power Supply Risk Management Policy, as may be amended from time to time, or
such other successor agreements and policies. For the avoidance of doubt, any obligation or
responsibility of MPPA to provide ZRCs purchased from the Designated ARC(s) pursuant to any
PPC shall be limited solely to the ZRCs actually delivered to MPPA by the Designated ARC(s).
MPPA shall not be liable or obligated for direct or indirect damages, charges, or expenses incurred
or suffered by a Participating Member in the event the Designated ARC(s) is unable for any reason
to deliver any or all of the ZRCs required by such PPC. MPPA will, however, use its best efforts
to (i) resolve any situation or circumstance where the Designated ARC(s) has not delivered the
ZRCs as required by the PPC, and (ii) arrange for alternative sources of capacity as may be
necessary, if requested by the Participating Member.

5. Participating Member Responsibilities.

Participating Member agrees to recommend the Designated ARC(s) to provide demand
response services within its service territory, and will be responsible for certain Program
development and ongoing activities with its C&I Customers, including: (a) building C&I Customer
interest in the Program, (b) communicating to MPPA C&I Customer prioritization, if any, (¢) acting

809 Centennial Way - Lansing, Ml 48917 - Phone: 517.323.8919 - www.mpower.org



Page | 12

as a C&I Customer liaison with MPPA on monitoring and measuring Program compliance, (d)
liaison with C&I Customers to facilitate processes for installation of the Designated ARC(s)
metering technology and/or other equipment that enable efficient enrollment in the Program, and
(e) liaison with MPPA and/or the Designated ARC(s) to assist with fulfilling MISO requirements
for the registration of C&I Customers in the Program.

6. MPPA Services.

(a) Demand Response Implementation and Related Services. MPPA will oversee the
following activity of the Designated ARC(s): (i) identification of, outreach to, and enrollment of
C&I Customers in the demand response programs of the Designated ARCs; (i) installation of
necessary customer metering equipment and related technological solutions; (iii) registration of
each participating C&I Customer’s demand response resources in the wholesale electric market as
necessary; (iv) monitoring of market conditions, identification of revenue optimization
opportunities, and management of market volatility and other risks; (v) data management and
reporting of C&I Customer demand response resource performance and revenues; and (vi)
provision of ongoing education and support to Participating Members and their C&I Customers.

(b) Administrative Requirements.

1. Accounting. MPPA will maintain a record of all costs and expenses of the
Program in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices. The
Program will have an account to record costs and expenses incurred with
respect to the specific activities for the Program (‘“Program Costs and
Expenses”). The Participating Members of the Program will be allocated
the Program Costs and Expenses as follows: Fifty percent (50.00%)
democratic and fifty percent (50.00%) based on the load ratio share of a
Participating Member’s MWh sales compared to the total of all MWh sales
of all Participating Members as reported by the most recent Energy
Information Administration (“EIA”) reports / data. Costs and expenses shall
be invoiced by MPPA monthly.

il. Meetings. MPPA reserves the right to be present at all Participating Member
and all C&I Customer meetings with the Designated ARC(s), whether in
person or virtual, before, during, and after the C&I Customer’s enrollment;
provided however, that the aforementioned right does not cause undue delay
or unnecessary interference with the C&I Customer’s participation.

[Signatures appear on the next page]

809 Centennial Way - Lansing, Ml 48917 - Phone: 517.323.8919 - www.mpower.org



Page | 13

PARTICPATING MEMBER
Zeeland Board of Public Works

By

Andrew Boatright
Its General Manager

Attest:

Kristi DeVerney
Its City Clerk

809 Centennial Way - Lansing, Ml 48917 - Phone: 517.323.8919 - www.mpower.org



ZEELAND

Board of Public Works
TO: Chairperson Boerman and Commissioners

FROM: Andrew M. Boatright, General Manager
SUBJECT: Proposed ZBPW Water and Electric Terms of Service

DATE: November 7, 2025

The following is a summary of key content updates in the newly developed ZBPW “Terms of Service” documents for
Water and Electric, which replaces the prior document titled “Rules and Regulations”. The new Terms of Service
enhance clarity, strengthen customer protections, and align ZBPW policies with current regulatory and operational
standards. Draft copies of the proposed Water Terms of Service and Electric Terms of Service documents are
attached for reference.

The former Rules and Regulations documents have been retitled Terms of Service (Terms) to reflect their function
as a customer-facing agreement that defines service conditions, customer responsibilities, and rights. The revised
format improves readability, simplifies legal language, and aligns with current utility communication standards.

A more comprehensive glossary has been added to define key terms such as “critical care customer”, “medical
emergency”, “eligible senior citizen”, and “tenant”, and so on. The Terms now include detailed criteria and
certification procedures for customers qualifying as critical care or medical emergency households. The policy
specifies documentation requirements, renewal timelines, and allowable postponement periods for shut-off, ensuring
fair and consistent application. These additions ensure consistent application of policies and compliance with
applicable regulations.

The new Terms document includes enhanced language clarifying procedures for service disconnection and
restoration. Details include the required notification process, payment arrangements, and reconnection procedures.
Customer protections for senior citizens, low-income households, and medical or critical-care customers are
consolidated into a single, clear policy.

The new Terms provide clear guidance for properties served by master meters, specifying that the landlord or
management authority is the customer of record and fully responsible for payment of all utility charges.

The revised Terms include explicit references to cross-connection and backfeed prevention requirements under the
ZBPW'’s water cross connection and electrical safety and interconnection standards.

Future Board Action Requested

The new Water and Electric Terms of Service documents enhance clarity, strengthen customer protections, and
align ZBPW policies with current regulatory and operational standards. No Board action is requested at this
meeting. Staff ask the Commissioners to review the documents and be prepared to consider a recommendation for
approval of the at the December 2025 Board of Commissioners meeting. As part of this initiative, staff will also
introduce companion legislation that removes the former “Rules and Regulations” and “Fees and Charges” sections
from the Zeeland City Code and enables future revisions of these documents to be accomplished by Resolution of
the Board of Commissioners and City Council. This approach will streamline the update process, allowing more
timely administrative revisions while maintaining appropriate oversight and transparency.

If there are any questions in the meantime, please don’t hesitate to contact me.

Attachments: ZBPW Water Terms of Service (draft)
ZBPW Electric Terms of Service (draft)

Zeeland Board of Public Works o 350 East Washington Avenue o Zeeland, Michigan 49464 o 616-772-6212 o www.zeelandbpw.com



ZEELAND

Board of Public Works

Water Terms

of Service

Effective January 1, 2026

Commented [AB1]: Table of Contents needed




1. General Terms of Service
A. Definitions

Commercial Customer: A classification used for businesses not involved with the direct manufacture of
durable goods. A classification is also used for multiple family residential structures with two (2) or more

units or structures that are metered but is not a Dwelling Unit.

Corporation Stop: A valve that connects the service line to the Water Main. It is tapped directly into the

main and controls flow from the main into the service line.

Critical Care Customer: A Customer who requires, or has a household member who requires, home
medical equipment or a life support system, and who have provided appropriate documentation to
ZBPW identifying the equipment or system and certifying that an interruption of service would be

immediately life threatening.

Curb Stop: A water service line valve that is used to shut-off water service without having to access the
Customer premise. The valve is typically located seven feet (7’) inside the public right-of-way or at the

edge of the Water Main easement.

Curb Box: a vertical cast-iron pipe extending from curb or sidewalk level down to the shutoff (Curb Stop)

at the water-main connection.

Customer: A purchaser of electrical and water services supplied by ZBPW, and/or wastewater service

supplied by the City of Zeeland.

Dwelling Unit: A single room, suite or groups of rooms or suites with accommodations to sleep, eat, and

have a bathroom.

Estimated Consumption: Consumption calculation based on prior use of the service, or the operating

characteristics of the building and equipment used.



Industrial Customer: A classification for businesses directly involved with manufacturing goods or

services for sale as an organized action.

Landowner: the person(s), legal entity, or authorized representative who holds legal title to the property
receiving water service, as recorded in the official property records of the applicable jurisdiction. Where
property ownership is vested in a business entity, trust, association, or governmental body, the
landowner shall be that entity, acting through its authorized agent. The landowner may designate a
property management company or other duly authorized agent to act on their behalf in establishing and
managing the service account. However, the landowner remains ultimately responsible for compliance
with all Terms of Service, including payment of charges, fees, and penalties, regardless of any delegation

to a management company or agent.

Low Income Customer: A customer whose household income does not exceed the published percentage
of the poverty level, as established by the State of Michigan and/or United States Department of Health
and Human Services (DHHS), or who receives any of the following: assistance from a state emergency

relief fund, food stamps, or Medicaid.

Medical Emergency: An existing medical condition of a customer, or member of the Customer’s
household, as defined and certified by a physician or public health official on official stationery or

company-provided form, that will be aggravated by lack of utility service.

Meter Horn: The device that holds the meter between the two (inlet and outlet) shut-off ball valves

within the structure.

Meter Constant: multiplier or factor that relates the meter dial or digital reading to the actual volume of

water consumed.

Meter Reading: Electronic or manual effort to read the amount of water or electricity used by a

Customer.

Monthly Rate: The charges, fees and unit prices as established by ZBPW's rate-making body and the
quantities to which they apply.



Multi-Dwelling Structure or Multi-Dwelling Unit (MDU): A building containing 2 or more Dwelling Units,

including but not limited to apartments, condominiums, or senior housing projects.

Person: Any individual, corporation, partnership, company, limited liability corporation, organization or

governmental entity.

Premises: A tract of land including its buildings.

Rate: the charges, fees, and unit prices as established by ZBPW/City of Zeeland and the quantities to

which they apply.

Readiness To Serve Charge: A monthly fixed charge that covers the expenses to maintain and service a
customer’s account. This includes billing, metering, and customer service. The Service/Facility charge
also funds a portion of the capital investments in equipment, structures, and meters as well as

engineering and construction services.

Residential Customer: A classification reserved for one- and two-family residential structures and other
multiple family structures where each Dwelling Unit is individually metered. Residential structures must

accommodate a place to sleep, eat and have a bathroom.

Senior Citizen: A Customer who is 65 years of age or older and advises ZBPW of his or her eligibility.

Service Location: The point at which the ZBPW or the City of Zeeland has agreed to provide utility

services.

Tenant: Any person or entity that occupies premises under lease, rental agreement, or similar
arrangement. In the case of master-metered properties, the Landowner shall be deemed the customer
of record and shall be responsible for all charges incurred for water service supplied through the master
meter. The ZBPW shall not be responsible for the distribution or allocation of water costs among tenants

of master-metered properties.

Water Main: The city’s way of bringing water access to buildings or homes.



Water Meter: Measures the amount of water used in your home or business, typically measured in cubic

feet or gallons. Utilities use meter readings to determine your monthly bill.

ZBPW: When used in these Terms of Service, ZBPW is an abbreviation for Zeeland Board of Public Works.

2. General Provisions

All national and state statutes and regulations that govern the provision of utility services apply and
supersede the terms of service contained in this document. All local ordinances and codes of the
governmental units within the service territory of ZBPW also govern the services provided by ZBPW

where applicable.

A Customer that commences service with ZBPW agrees to abide by all ZBPW Terms of Service and
Rates. All Rates are subject to revision at any time upon approval by the ZBPW Board of Directors and

Zeeland City Council.

A. Obligations

The obligations of both parties commence when ZBPW begins to supply service and continues until
either party has received from the other any form of communication (i.e. email, telephone call, or
written notice) to discontinue service. After notice is given, service may continue until a reasonable time
when ZBPW can disconnect service, not to exceed ten (10) days. These Terms of Service shall be
followed unless otherwise specified in a contractual agreement or as identified in the Terms of Service

for each utility offering.

B. Continuity of Service

ZBPW and the City of Zeeland will use ordinary diligence in providing utility service but does not
guarantee constant or continuous service. By applying for utility service, each Customer shall be deemed

to have agreed that ZBPW:



May interrupt or suspend service at any time, either with or without notice, for inspection,

repair, maintenance, alteration, or change on the Customer's premises or elsewhere; and

Shall have no duty, obligation, responsibility, or obligation for or by reason of any such

interruption or suspension of service, or for any damage or loss resulting therefrom.

3. New Service Requirements

The following information may be required to establish a new service.

A. Residential Service

Full Name

Service Address via a mortgage/property tax statement or executed lease
Mailing Address if different from Service Address

Telephone Number

Email Address

State or Governmental issued Identification (i.e. Driver’s License, Military ID, Passport)

B. Business Service

Legal Business Name and Tax ID Number (as registered in Michigan)

Type of Business

Tax Status (Taxable, Tax Exempt or partial Tax Exempt, documentation will be required)
Telephone Number

Email Address

Contact Name(s)



® Owner or Business Agent Name

® Mailing Address if different from Service Address

A new Customer must contact the ZBPW within business 10 days of commencing service to set up their
account. Failure to do so may result in the disconnection of service until the account has been properly
established. A new Customer account may not be established for a service location if a delinquent
Customer account holder resides at the same Premises or is listed as a Tenant on a new premise (service
location) as the new Customer, unless the balance due and owing for the delinquent Customer account

holder is paid in full and a deposit is collected according to Section 5. F. Account Security Deposits.

4. Readiness to Serve

All active accounts will be billed the Readiness To Serve Charge based on account type and size. Service
must be completely disconnected or suspended to eliminate the readiness to serve charge.

Disconnect/Reconnect fees may apply.

A. Discontinuation of Service

All requests for a discontinuation of service shall be made through ZBPW Customer Service.

Discontinuation of service is subject to applicable fees and charges.

B. Suspension of Service

All requests for suspension of service shall be made through ZBPW Customer Service. Except as
otherwise set forth herein, ZBPW shall not issue credits for service lapses due to vacations or other non-
use of service. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a residential Customer may request a suspension of
service, which will be honored for a minimum period of three (3) months and a maximum period of six
(6) months. The Customer shall provide ZBPW with the date the suspension of service shall commence

and the date the suspension of service shall be lifted so that services resume. Only one suspension of



service shall be allowed per 12-month period. Readiness to Serve charges shall not be prorated for

Customer requested suspension of service.

5. Responsibility for Payment of
Bill

A. General

Each ZBPW Customer is responsible to pay all utility bills as rendered on or before the due date shown
thereon. Bills are rendered monthly. Bills will be distributed by mail or electronically to all Customers at
least fourteen (14) days before the due date shown on the bills. ZBPW is not responsible for bills lost in
the mail. It is the Customer's responsibility to ensure timely payment of their bill, regardless of delivery
issues. Failure to receive a bill does not exempt the Customer from payment obligations or potential late
fees. The Customer remains responsible for payment of the bills until the Customer orders service to be
discontinued and ZBPW has had reasonable time to secure a final meter reading. If a bill remains unpaid

ZBPW shall have the right to discontinue service as defined in the Shut Off Policy (Section 6).

B. Non-Sufficient Funds/Fraud

Customers who have two (2) returned payments within a twelve-month period will be required to make
payments via cash or credit card for the next twelve months. Customers who commit check or credit

card fraud will be required to pay via cash only.

C. Requests for Billing History Data

ZBPW will provide Customers with their billing history at no charge, provided the information is
currently stored on an active database. Customer requests for billing history that is no longer on an
active database will be subject to record retention schedules and to payment of hourly fees based on
the average burdened hourly wage of the ZBPW employee assigned to perform the research and

compilation of the data.



D. Michigan Sales Tax

Bills for electric service are subject to Michigan State Sales Tax. Customers may file a request for
exemption from the application of sales tax and request reimbursement if less than 120 days of lapsing
coverage, in accordance with the laws of the State of Michigan and the rules of the Michigan State
Department of Treasury. In the event the required exemption documentation is not obtained within 120
days from date of sale, the Customer shall make its own refund inquiries directly to the State

Department of Treasury.

E. Estimated Consumption

While it is ZBPW standard to read meters monthly, readings may be estimated when conditions warrant.
Until reconciled by an actual reading, bills rendered on estimated consumption have the same force and
effect as bills rendered on actual meter readings. If for any reason all consumption used cannot be
registered accurately, the unmetered portion shall be estimated by ZBPW based on prior consumption or

the operating characteristics of the building and equipment.

F. Receipt of Payment

Full and partial payments will be applied in the following manner:

1. To the oldest outstanding arrears.

2. 65% to the remaining outstanding electric account.

3. 15% to the remaining outstanding water account.

4. 20% to the remaining outstanding wastewater account.
5. On-bill loan account (if applicable).

6. All other fees and services.

Payment assistance received from third party providers will be applied to appropriate services as

designated by the provider.



G. Late Charges

A late payment charge of 1.5% of the amount in arrears will be assessed when next month’s bill is issued.
The late payment charge will not apply to any penalty portion of the Customer’s bill. Customers may

request a late charge waiver under extenuating circumstances.

H. Billing Errors

Errors in billing can occur for a variety of reasons. In some cases, the error can be clearly identified and

quantified, while in other cases the error can only be estimated.

This policy establishes the rules for handling errors in billing. This policy does not apply to theft or

unauthorized use of service or estimated bills.

Errors in billing can be caused by any of the following:

1. Anincorrect meter read whether by person or electronically.

2. Anincorrect Meter Constant.

3. Installation of the incorrect metering equipment.

4. Anincorrect calculation of the applicable rate.

5. A meter switched by the utility or a utility representative.

6. Anincorrect application of the rate schedule.

7. A meter error (failure to measure or accurately record all usage).

8. Another similar act or omission by the utility in determining the amount of a Customer’s bill.

An undercharge or overcharge that is caused by a non-registering meter, an estimated meter read, or a

Customer read is not considered a billing error.

10



If an error in billing occurs and results in overcharging a Customer, ZPBW shall refund or credit the
overcharge based on the actual time the overcharge occurred within the 36-month period immediately

preceding the discovery of the error.

If an error in billing occurs and results in undercharging a Customer, the Customer is responsible for the
undercharged amount for up to the 12-month period immediately preceding the discovery of the error.
Amounts due to ZBPW from the Customer will be subject to normal collection policies, procedures and

practices. A Customer may request and be granted a payment plan up to the number of months used to

calculate the undercharge amount.

I. Account Security Deposits

ZBPW requires account security deposits from all Tenants and Residential Customers of mobile home
parks. ZBPW shall not provide services to the premises until it receives a security deposit from the

Tenant, or an individual or entity acting on behalf of the Tenant.

Security deposits shall be determined as follows:

1. The standard residential security account deposit will be applied according to the current ZBPW

Schedule of Fees and Charges.

The ZBPW shall require the standard residential account security deposit for all residential
accounts serving leased residential properties, including mobile home parks, and for Customers

who have filed for bankruptcy and continue to live in their homes.

Moreover, if any residential account has been disconnected for nonpayment, an additional
deposit equal to the standard residential security deposit will be required each time any

residential account is disconnected for nonpayment before service will be reconnected.

2. The ZBPW may require an account security deposit of up to two (2) times the average monthly

billing for commercial or industrial accounts.

11



3. The amount of the deposit required as a condition of providing, restoring, or continuing
residential, commercial or industrial service due to shut-off for nonpayment shall be determined

as follows:

a. |If the Customer has been disconnected once within the last three years, then the

deposit shall be two (2) times the average or estimated monthly billing for the premises.

b. If the Customer has been disconnected twice within the last three years, then the
deposit shall be three (3) times the average or estimated monthly billing for the

premises.

c. If the Customer has been disconnected three times within the last three years, then the

deposit shall be four (4) times the average or estimated monthly billing for the premises.

d. If the Customer has been disconnected more than three times within the last three
years, then the deposit shall be six (6) times the average or estimated monthly billing for

the premises.

4. The amount of the deposit required as a condition of providing, restoring, or continuing
residential, commercial or industrial service due to unauthorized use, diversion, or interference

shall be four (4) times the average monthly bill for the Premises.

5. ZBPW may also require payment of the delinquent account and approved charges as a condition
of providing, restoring, or continuing service if the prior account is in the Customer’s or

applicant’s name, is delinquent and owed to ZBPW and accrued within the last six (6) years.

6. An additional standard deposit will be required for properties in Holland Charter and Zeeland
Charter Townships which elect to exempt properties from the potential utility non-payment lien

through the Notice of Lease provisions in the Township’s utility lien ordinances.

ZBPW will refund deposits of $1.00 or more to all Customers who have voluntarily terminated service

and paid all charges due. Refunds under $1.00 will not be refunded due to associated processing costs.

12



J. Lien as a Security for the Collection of
Service Charges

Except as otherwise provided or limited by state law, the city shall have as security for the collection of

all charges for utility services as authorized by the Revenue Bond Act of 1933, as amended, a lien upon

the Premises to which such services were supplied. Such liens shall become effective immediately upon

the distribution or supplying of such service or services to such Premises. The term "charges for utility

service" shall mean the rates, fees, rentals and all other charges for furnishing such service and all

repairs, maintenance and alterations of such service which the city determines’ to be the responsibility

of the service Customer.

K. Placement on Tax Rolls

1.

City of Zeeland

Except as otherwise provided by State law, all unpaid charges for utility services furnished to any
such premises, which on the 31st day of March each year, have remained unpaid for a period of
three (3) months, or more, shall be reported by the City Clerk per Zeeland City Charter Sec.13.25
to the City Council at the first meeting thereof in the month of April. The Council thereupon shall
order the publication in a newspaper published in the city, of notice to all owners of property
within the city that all unpaid utility charges which have remained unpaid for a period of three
(3) months or more prior to the 31st day of March, and which have not been paid by the 30th
day of April, shall be assessed upon the city’s tax roll against the premises to which the utility
services, for which unpaid charges accrued, were supplied or furnished; and that such charges

shall be collected in the same manner as the city taxes and said tax roll.

Holland and Zeeland Townships

The Townships agree to assist and cooperate with the ZBPW in collecting delinquent charges for
utility services provided to ZBPW customers in the township. Specifically, if the General
Manager of the ZBPW certifies in writing to the Township(s) on or before September 15th those

charges for utility service(s) which are delinquent six (6) months or more on August 31, then the

13



Township(s) will enter a lien for such charges on the Township tax roll for that year against the

premises to which utility service has been provided.

L. Protection of Landlord, Notice of Lease and
Security Deposit

If the owner of a premise which receives services provided by the ZBPW shall lease the premises to a
tenant who is responsible under the lease for the payment of the charges for specified services, and the
property owner notifies ZBPW in writing of the lease agreement by an affidavit of lease (including a copy
of the lease executed by the owner and their tenant), then the charges for electric services provided to
such leased premises shall not become a lien against the premises after the date ZBPW receives notice.
Immediately after filing of such notice, ZBPW shall render no further service to the premises until it
receives a security deposit as security for the payment of the electric charges from the tenant (or an

individual or entity acting on behalf of the tenant).

6. Shut-Off Policy

This policy applies generally to all Customers of the ZBPW who receive ZBPW electric or water services.
Policy statements that apply solely to Residential Customers are noted. It is the policy of ZBPW to

conform to all requirements of Michigan Legislature - Section 460.9¢ (the “Act”) with regard to

residential utility shutoffs.

A. General Requirements
I. Proper Shut-Off

Subject to the other requirements of this policy, ZBPW may shut off service to a Customer for any of the

following:

1. The Customer has not paid a delinquent account that accrued within the last six (6) years.

2. The Customer has failed to provide a deposit or guarantee as required by ZBPW.

14


http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(udq02cq1orx42wdclshdovzu))/mileg.aspx?page=getobject&objectname=mcl-460-9q&query=on&highlight=shut%20AND%20off
http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(udq02cq1orx42wdclshdovzu))/mileg.aspx?page=getobject&objectname=mcl-460-9q&query=on&highlight=shut%20AND%20off

3. The Customer has engaged in unauthorized use of ZBPW'’s service.

4. The Customer has failed to comply with the terms and conditions of a payment plan entered into
with ZBPW in accordance with ZBPW's rules.

5. The Customer has refused to arrange access at reasonable times for the purpose of inspection,
meter reading, maintenance, or replacement of equipment that is installed upon the premises or
for the removal of a meter.

6. The Customer misrepresented his or her identity for the purpose of obtaining ZBPW service or
put service in another person's name without the permission of the other person.

7. The Customer has violated any rules of the provider so as to adversely affect the safety of the
Customer or other persons or the integrity of ZBPW's system.

8. A person living in the Customer's residence meets both of the following:

a. Has a delinquent account for service with the ZBPW within the past -six years but
remains unpaid, and

b. The Customer lived in the person’s residence when all or part of the debt was incurred.
The ZBPW may transfer the prorated amount of the debt to the Customer's account
based upon the length of time that the Customer resided in the person’s residence so
long as the Customer was not a minor at the time.

Il. Improper Shut-Off

ZBPW may not shut off service to a Customer for any of the following:

1. The Customer has not paid for concurrent service received at a separate metering point,
residence, or service location.

2. The Customer has not paid for service at premises not occupied by the Customer unless:
a. The Customer supplies a written notarized statement that the premises is unoccupied,
b. The premises is occupied, and the occupant agrees, in writing, to the shut off of service,

c. Itis not feasible to provide service to the occupant as a Customer without a major
revision of existing distribution facilities, or

15



d. Itis feasible to provide service to the occupant as a Customer without a major revision
of existing distribution facilities and the occupant refuses to put the account in their
name.

B. Notice

Except where a shut-off is necessary to maintain service quality, prevent damage to the relevant
distribution system, or prevent damage to property, ZBPW shall not shut off service prior to sending a
notice to the Customer by first-class mail not less than 10 days before the date of the proposed shut-off.

ZBPW shall maintain a record of the date the notice was sent.

C. Permissible Shut-Off

ZBPW may shut off service to a Customer on the date specified in the notice of shutoff or at a reasonable
time following that date. If ZBPW does not shut off service and mails a subsequent notice, then ZBPW
shall not shut off service before the date specified in the subsequent notice. Shutoff shall occur only
between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 2:00 p.m. Monday through Thursday. No disconnections shall be

permitted on a legal holiday or on the day before a legal holiday.

D. Termination of Service

ZBPW, upon approval of the Zeeland City Council, may adopt a termination of water service policy
establishing the terms and conditions under which water service to any Customer may be suspended,
discontinued, or terminated. In the event a termination of service requirement is adopted by state law,
which is applicable to ZBPW, ZBPW shall not adopt a policy which is less restrictive than applicable

statutory provisions.

Termination of services are subject to applicable service charges.

16



E. Shut-Off When Restoration Services Are Not
Available

ZBPW shall not shut off service on a day, or a day immediately preceding a day when the services of

ZBPW are not available to the general public for the purpose of restoring service.

F. Contact to Customer

I. Generally

For involuntary shut-off of electric or water, at least one day before the service shut-off, ZBPW shall make
no less than one attempt, in addition to the notice of shut-off, to contact the Customer by one or more

of the following methods:

1. A personal or automated telephone call where direct contact is made with a member of the
Customer's household, or a message is recorded on an answering machine or voicemail.

2. First-class mail.
3. Apersonal visit to the Customer.
4. A written notice left at or on the Customer’s door.

5. Any other method approved by the Michigan Public Service Commission for regulated utilities.

Il. Remote Shut-Off

For an involuntary shut-off using a meter with a remote shut-off capability, any notice shall state that the
disconnection of the service will be done remotely and that a provider representative will not return to

the Premises before disconnection.

lll. Documentation - Contact by Telephone

17



ZBPW shall document all attempts to contact the Customer. If contact is made by telephone, ZBPW shall
inform the Customer or other responsible person that shut-off of service is imminent and of the steps

necessary to avoid shut-off.

G. Restoration

ZBPW shall restore service upon a Customer's request when the cause for the shut-off has been cured or

credit arrangements satisfactory to ZBPW have been made.

If the Customer qualifies for restoration and his or her household contains a meter that must be restored
manually, ZBPW shall make reasonable efforts to restore service to the Customer on the day requested,
and no later than one working day after the Customer’s request. If the meter has remote restoration
capability, service shall be restored on the first working day after the Customer requests restoration,

except in the case of documented equipment failure.

H. Charges for Shut-Off and Restoration

ZBPW will assess the Customer charges once a disconnect order has been issued and the meter has been
disconnected and restored. Please refer to the fee schedule for applicable charges. Personal checks and

EFT/ACH will not be accepted for payment following disconnection.

I. Critical Care and Medical Emergency
Residential Customers

l. Postponement

For electric and water service, ZBPW will postpone shut-off of service for up to 21 days if a Customer is a
Critical Care Customer or has a Medical Emergency. The Customer shall identify the period during which
the shut-off will aggravate the medical emergency. If the Customer provides additional documentation
or certification ZBPW will postpone the shut-off for additional periods of up to 21 days for a total of not
more than 63 days in any 12-month period per household member. Annually, shutoff extensions totaling

more than 126 days per household will not be given.

18



Il. Restoration

If a shut-off of service has occurred without postponement being obtained, ZBPW will restore the service
upon presentation of the appropriate documentation or certification. The service shall continue for up to
21 days. If the Customer provides additional documentation or certification, ZBPW will postpone the

shut-off for additional periods of up to 21 days for a total of not more than 63 days.

I1l. Other Protections

Application for this protection does not prohibit a ZBPW Customer from applying for separate

protections.

A. Deferred Payment Plan
Any Customer, prior to termination, may establish a deferred payment plan to avoid termination of utility
service, under the condition that the Customer signs a written agreement with the utility which specifies

that:

1. The Customer will make regular payments in amounts acceptable to ZBPW for all charges of the

Customer until all outstanding charges are paid in full, and

2. The Customer acknowledges that the utility services shall be terminated without any further

notification should the Customer fail to comply with the terms of the agreement, and
3. The late charges shall be assessed during the deferment period on any applicable utility charges.

4. ZBPW is not required to enter into a subsequent payment agreement until the Customer has
complied with the terms of any existing or previous agreements. If the Customer has defaulted
on the terms and conditions of a payment agreement within the last twelve (12) months, ZBPW

is not required to enter into a subsequent payment plan.

J. Active-Duty Customers

Active-Duty Customers are residential households where:

19



1. The household income is reduced because the Customer of record, or the spouse of the
Customer of record, is called to full-time active military service by the President of the United
States or the Governor of the State of Michigan during a time of declared national or state

emergency or war, and
2. Assistance is needed by the residential household to maintain service, and

3. The residential household has notified the provider of the need for assistance and has proven

verification of the call to active-duty status.

I. Shut Off Prohibited

ZBPW shall not shut off service to an active-duty Customer during his or her service for a period of up to
Ninety (90) days. In its sole discretion, ZBPW can provide one or more extensions to the active-duty

Customer.

1. Notification

An active-duty Customer shall notify ZBPW of the end of his or her active-duty status as soon as that

status is known.

lll. Duty Not Void

Unless waived by the provider, this shut-off protection does not void or limit the obligation of the active-

duty Customer to pay for services received during his or her time of service.

IV. Payment Plan

In the event an active-duty Customer receives assistance, ZBPW shall:

1. Establish a payment plan requiring minimum monthly payments that allows the active-duty
Customer to pay any past amounts due over a reasonable time period not to exceed one year,

and

20



2. Provide a qualifying Customer with information regarding any governmental, ZBPW, or other

assistance programs, and

3. Provide active-duty Customers with access to existing information on ways to minimize or

conserve their service usage.

7. Complaint Resolution

A. Complaint

In the event that a ZBPW Customer believes that ZBPW is in violation of this policy or, Michigan

Legislature - Section 460.9¢g and that the Customer’s service was shut off without merit, the Customer

shall have the opportunity to file a complaint with ZBPW Customer Service.

B. Initial Review

Upon a Customer’s filing of a complaint, ZBPW Customer Service shall review the decision to shut off the
Customer’s service in a timely manner. If Customer Service finds that the service was improperly shutoff,
it shall restore service to the customer. If Customer Service finds that the shutoff was proper, it shall
refer the complaint to the General Manager, or in his/her absence, the manager on premise, for a final

determination regarding the shutoff.

C. Final Review

If the General Manager, or in his/her absence, the manager on premise, finds that the service was
improperly shut off, ZBPW shall restore service to the Customer. If the General Manager, or in his/her
absence, the manager on premise, finds that the shutoff was proper, ZBPW shall issue a written decision

via first-class mail or other reliable means of delivery.

21


http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(udq02cq1orx42wdclshdovzu))/mileg.aspx?page=getobject&objectname=mcl-460-9q&query=on&highlight=shut%20AND%20off
http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(udq02cq1orx42wdclshdovzu))/mileg.aspx?page=getobject&objectname=mcl-460-9q&query=on&highlight=shut%20AND%20off
http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(udq02cq1orx42wdclshdovzu))/mileg.aspx?page=getobject&objectname=mcl-460-9q&query=on&highlight=shut%20AND%20off

8. E-Services Privacy, Terms &
Conditions

Please view our website for the most up to date privacy policy, terms, conditions and cookies associated

with e-services. (zeelandbpw.com/privacy-policy).

Any questions regarding the privacy policy or terms and conditions should be directed to

info@zeelandbpw.com.

9. Theft

ZBPW will investigate cases of suspected theft and fraud. All cases, where there is sufficient evidence,

will be turned over to the City of Zeeland Police Department, Ottawa County Sheriff’s Office and/or the

City Attorney.

ZBPW will attempt to recover all charges that were intentionally avoided or not paid, plus all monthly-
accrued late fees. In addition, six (6) percent over prime rate recovery charge will be assessed to charges,
fees and penalties. All costs relating to the investigation and remediation of theft of services will be

assessed to the account.

If the actual amount of service lost to the theft or diversion cannot be determined, the amount will be
estimated using previous account history. If neither the actual amount of service nor an estimated
amount of service for the particular account can be determined, the account shall be assessed the
average usage for the class of service prorated to the time the theft or diversion occurred. There is no

limitation on the time period for which past charges will be assessed.

Other actions, civil or criminal, will be decided by the General Manager of the ZBPW and/or City

Attorney, as appropriate.

22


https://www.zeelandbpw.com/privacy-policy/
mailto:info@zeelandbpw.com

10. Miscellaneous Provisions

A. Other Remedies

The implementation of Terms of Service does not preclude ZBPW from pursuing any of its legal rights,
including the right to place liens of property, granted to ZBPW, whether by statute, charter or other

power.

B. Forms

ZBPW may develop any forms or documents needed to implement services so long as the developed

forms or documents are consistent with the Terms of Service.

C. Right of Way and Easement Restoration

ZBPW utility equipment (fire hydrants, poles, transformers, etc.) is often located in the road rights-of-way
or in easements provided on Customer property. Landscaping (lawns, shrubs, trees, flowers, plants,
stone, mulch, etc.) shall not be located so as to prevent access to ZBPW utility equipment. In the event
this policy is disregarded, and installed landscaping is disturbed during the course of work to maintain
and/or replace ZBPW utility equipment, ZBPW shall not be responsible for repair or replacement of
disturbed landscaping, trees, fencing, structures or other items placed in the right-of-way or easement.
Restoration of work to maintain, repair or replace components in the right-of-way or designated utility
easement is limited to replacement of any disturbed streets, driveways, curbs, sidewalks or parking lots
and reseeding of turf areas for erosion control. For designated utility easements, restoration of paved
surfaces is limited to those incorporated into the easement, or in existence at the time of execution of

the easement.

23



11. Water Service Area

Please use the link below to view a map and description of the ZBPW water service territory:

zeelandbpw.com/water

ZEELAND BPW WATER SERVICE TERRITORY
2024

12. Definitions

Assessment: Payment required due to a public work that has benefited a parcel.

Appurtenances: Any device, piping, equipment, or accessory connected to the distribution system that

is used for the delivery of water or maintenance of the system.

Corporation Stop: A valve that connects the service line to the Water Main. It is tapped directly into the

main and controls flow from the main into the service line.

24


https://zeelandbpw.com/water/

Curb Stop: A water service line valve that is used to shut-off water service without having to access the
Customer premise. The valve is typically located seven feet (7’) inside the public right-of-way or at the

edge of the Water Main easement.

Curb Box: a vertical cast-iron pipe extending from curb or sidewalk level down to the shutoff (Curb Stop)

at the water-main connection.

Cross-Connection: A physical interconnection, arrangement or condition of the [C\ustomer’s plumbing

through which the potable water furnished by ZBPW’s Water Distribution System could become

contaminated if backflow takes place.

Customer Piping: A piping system owned or controlled by the Customer that conveys water from the

Service Location throughout the Customer’s Premises.

Demand: The rate of water delivered at a given point.

Facilities: A general term which includes devices, associated structures and the like used as a part of or
in connection with a water installation such as pipes, fittings, valves, fire hydrants, associated structures

and the like.

Fire Protection Service: Pipes, valves, backflow devices and appurtenances installed from the Water
Main to the customer’s premises for the sole purpose of providing water for firefighting on the served

premises.

Meter Setting: Pipes, valves and appurtenances that house the water meter.

Meter Transmitter Unit (MTU/MXU): A device connected to each water meter that automatically
transmits water usage data to the ZBPW at regular intervals, typically every 12 hours or less. This unit

enables remote meter reading and supports efficient monitoring of water consumption.

Private Fire Hydrant: The hydrant and appurtenances owned and maintained by the Customer, installed

on Customer Piping on private property to provide water primarily for firefighting purposes.

25

//[ Commented [AB2]: Remove carriage return.




Public Fire Hydrant: The hydrant and appurtenances owned and maintained by the ZBPW, installed on
public Water Mains within public right-of-way or in ZBPW approved easements to provide water

primarily for firefighting purposes for public benefit.

Service Stub: A piping system owned or controlled by the Customer that convey water from the Service

Location throughout the Customer’s Premises.

Service Connection: The point at which the water service line is connected to the ZBPW water

distribution system.
Trench: A cut in the ground in which cables, pipes, etc. are installed.

Water Distribution System: The system of Water Mains, pipes, pumps, motors, fittings, tanks, valves, fire
hydrants and all equipment and appurtenances thereto, necessary to distribute water to customer water

services.

Water Main: A pipe owned and maintained by the ZBPW installed in a public rights-of-way or easements

that conveys water to a Customer water service or to a fire hydrant.

13. Service Conditions

A. Description of Service

ZBPW produces and distributes potable water, meeting standards established by the Michigan

Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE), for public use throughout its service area.

ZBPW provides two types of services: metered service and non-metered service. Nonmetered services

are designed for the sole purpose of supplying water to fire protection services.

ZBPW is responsible for and will maintain all of the Water Distribution System within the City of Zeeland
and in portions of the townships served by the water system, which portions shall be defined by legal
agreements between the ZBPW and the townships. The Water Distribution System consists of all Water

Mains that are available to supply water to more than one water Customer service line.

26



B. Financing for Water Line Improvements

Refer to Section 40-123 of the City of Zeeland Codified Ordinances.

C. Access

ZBPW'’s authorized personnel or agents shall have access to the Customer’s Premises at all reasonable

hours for all purposes necessary to operate and maintain water service, including without limitation:

1. Install, inspect, observe, read, repair, maintain, test or remove its meters or MXU’s.
2. Install, operate and maintain other ZBPW equipment or Facilities.

3. Inspect Fire Service installations, Customer Piping, and backflow devices.

4. Survey for cross connection hazards.

5. Determine the connected water Demand.

If, for any reason beyond its control, ZBPW is unable to read a meter, operate, maintain or make

inspection, including but not limited to, reasons such as Premises being locked or meter being

inaccessible, then after due written notice to the customer, the water service may be disconnected until

such time as arrangements have been made to permit access for ZBPW inspection and approval and the

customer has paid the appropriate disconnection and reconnection fees.

D. Service Interruption

ZBPW shall not be liable for interruptions in the service including without limitation, variations in the
service characteristics, or for any loss or damage of any kind or character occasioned thereby, due to
causes or conditions beyond the ZBPW’s reasonable control. Water service may be restricted or
discontinued for repairs to Water Mains, fire hydrants, Customer’s service connection or associated

Appurtenances.

27



E. Customer Responsibilities

The customer shall, at the customer’s own risk and expense, furnish, install and keep in good and safe

condition all equipment that may be required for receiving, controlling, applying, and utilizing water.

l. Protection of Customer’s Equipment

The customer shall be responsible for installing suitable safety switches, alarms, low pressure or water-
flow cut-offs, etc., on all equipment which depends upon water services for protection against damage
or failure. This equipment protects against any possible interruption of flow or drop in pressure in the

ZBPW'’s water supply. No claim shall be made against the ZBPW for interruption of water supply.

Il. Water Service Connection Applications

New connections to the Water Main require approval from the local municipal authority. New water
service connection applications are issued by ZBPW and can be completed online via the ZBPW website
(zeelandbpw.com) or via an application form obtained at the ZBPW Administrative Office. For
connections in the Townships, service applications and plumbing permits are issued at the respective
township office. Plumbing permits in the City are issued by the Community Development Department at

City Hall.

The service application shall be supplemented with plans, specifications, or other information when
requesting a water service connection that is larger than 2” or when requested by ZBPW due to non-

standard site conditions.

The applicant is responsible for payment of any charges or fees incurred for connecting to the water

system in accordance with the Fee Schedule.

14. Use of Service

Water is supplied for the exclusive use on the premises to which it is delivered. Service may not be
shared with another, sold to another, or transmitted off the premises without the written permission of

the ZBPW.

28



The renting of a premises, with the cost of service included in the rental as an incident of tenancy, will

not be considered a resale of such services.

No person except authorized fire department personnel and such other people as determined by ZBPW
shall operate and/or take water from a fire hydrant, Fire Service, or any other unmetered connection,
unless otherwise approved by ZBPW. Any other use of fire hydrants requires installation of a hydrant
meter and backflow prevention device obtained from ZBPW. A hydrant meter rental application must be
submitted and approved by ZBPW, and the Customer shall pay all fees in accordance with the Fee

Schedule.

A. Customer Piping and Equipment

The Customer is responsible for all service piping downstream of the ZBPW owned shutoff valve. For
domestic services this valve is typically located near the edge of the right-of-way. For Fire Protection

Services the delineation of ownership shall be after the first shutoff valve from the Water Main.

ZBPW may deny or terminate service to any Customer whose water piping or equipment constitutes a

hazard to water quality, the ZBPW'’s employees, ZBPW equipment, or its service to others.

Alterations to the Customer water service or associated equipment are prohibited without a plumbing

permit acquired from the local municipality having jurisdiction.

If the Customer piping is found to be leaking before the meter, the Customer will be notified and is
subject to shut off. If the leak is causing damage to property (i.e. washing out or eroding the soils,
causing flooding or dangerous icy conditions, etc.) then ZBPW will shut off water to the service
immediately. The Customer is responsible for maintaining awareness of their internal plumbing
conditions and promptly notifying ZBPW of any leaks from the ZBPW owned water meters. ZBPW shall
not be liable for excessive damage caused to private property from long-term leakage due to the failure

of the Customer to check the condition of the water meter.

29



B. Water Quality and Disturbances

The Customer shall operate equipment in a manner that does not cause surges, backpressure, water
hammer or other problems in the water distribution system or to other Customers. If ZBPW notifies the
Customer of such a condition, the Customer shall discontinue operation of equipment causing such
condition until a correction has been made. If the Customer does not remedy the condition within ZBPW
requested time frame, ZBPW will discontinue service until the Customer has remedied the situation and

has paid fees for reconnections.

C. Termination of Service

In the case of utility termination due to building demolition, partial or full basement installation,

foundation replacement or house moving, the following steps have been established:

1. ARequest for Utility Service Termination must be completed by the Customer or the agent.

2. All services must be terminated at the Water Main unless otherwise approved by ZBPW. If
termination at the Water Main requires excavation in public right-of-way, a fee will be assessed

to the Customer or agent in accordance with the Water Utility Fee Schedule.

3. City Customers must request a permit for building demolition, partial or full basement
installation, foundation replacement or house moving from the City’s Community Development

Department. Township Customers must request a permit from their township of residence.

4. Advanced notice of seven (7) business days is required for scheduling ZBPW water service

terminations.

5. Permits for building demolition, partial or full basement installation, foundation replacement, or

house moving will not be issued until the utility termination has been completed.

6. The applicant, owner, or agent will be billed for the service based on the Fee Schedule.

30



D. Disconnection and Resumption of Service

ZBPW requires that Customers requesting additional services for disconnecting and/or resumption of
water services be billed according to ZBPW fee schedule to cover the cost of these services. Among the
services performed which incur additional costs are: disconnects and resumption for non-payment;
seasonal disconnects and resumption; and Customer requests for service during non-business hours

(unless they are for emergency repairs on ZBPW equipment).

Seasonal disconnects and resumption will involve the shut-off of the service at the Curb Stop. Service
crews will only remove the meter and plug the lines if the meter is exposed to the elements. The
Customer is responsible for winterizing the water meter along with the remainder of the plumbing in the

home but may not remove the meter.
The Customer is required to pay all normal water charges until the date of disconnection.

Disconnections and resumption of water service shall be accomplished only by ZBPW services personnel.
It is strongly recommended that a Customer be available at the premises at the time the water is turned
on or off. The water service technician may decide, at their discretion, not to perform the service
requested in the absence of the Customer. This decision will be based on the potential damage that may
occur due to faulty plumbing within the building or due to the possibility of freezing if the building is not
properly winterized. ZBPW will not be held liable for damage occurring during disconnects/resumes as
the result of faulty plumbing within the customer’s home or business, or as the result of improper

winterization of the Customer’s plumbing.

After receiving training and approval to do so by ZBPW, businesses or organizations with adequately
trained staff may seasonally remove irrigation meters with notification to ZBPW. Meters shall be labeled
and tagged with the size and location of the meter and reinstalled in the exact same location and in the

same manner as its previous configuration.

If a disconnection of water service is made due to non-compliance with any terms by the Customer, any

labor or material to disconnect or resume the water service shall be charged to the Customer.

All charges due for the disconnection of water service must be paid by the Customer before the water

service will be resumed.

31



E. Water Use Reduction Plan

The Water Use Reduction Plan is to be implemented during times of unusually high peak water
Demands, water shortage, or severe drought and consists of five stages which may be implemented at

any level depending on the severity of the situation.

Restrictions may be increased or decreased at any time as conditions warrant. Decisions regarding the

stage to be implemented will be made based on the judgment of ZBPW staff.

I. Public Awareness

Customers will be informed of the possibility of restricted water use and asked to restrict their use of

water voluntarily.

Il. Odd-Even Lawn Sprinkling

All Customers whose addresses end in an odd number will be allowed to sprinkle any time only on odd
numbered dates; Customers with even-number addresses may sprinkle any time only on even numbered

dates.

lll. Odd-Even Sprinkling—Midnight to Noon

Same as above, except all permitted sprinkling activity must occur between the hours of midnight and

noon. All sprinkling, regardless of address, will be prohibited from noon to midnight.

IV. Total Ban on Sprinkling and Non-essential Use of Water

Non-essential use of water examples include:

e Non-commercial car washes
e Washing of exterior surfaces (i.e. driveways, homes, and walks)

e Other non-essential uses as determined by ZBPW

32



If it is determined water use restrictions are necessary, the limitation or prohibition shall take effect

immediately.

15. Metering

All Customers connected to the water system shall install a meter of such size as may be approved by
ZBPW. The meter shall be installed by the ZBPW Water Department. The Customer or licensed plumber
shall be responsible for installing Meter Horn and inlet/outlet ball valves provided by ZBPW. , in a
suitable location for the meter where it will be protected from freezing. The meter must be easily

accessible for reading.

All meters shall be sealed at the time of installation. No seal shall be altered or broken except with the

authorization of ZBPW.

Meters moved for the convenience of the Customer are to be relocated at the Customer’s expense and
in accordance with the procedures for the installation of a new meter. ZBPW reserves the right to meter
any service and to apply the established metered rates. All meter installations must be inspected and

approved by ZBPW before service may be provided.

For residential Customers requiring irrigation service, the installation shall be a single meter of sufficient
size to serve both the household and an irrigation system. The minimum monthly charge will apply to
the particular size meter installed. Wastewater charges are calculated in accordance with Section 40-126

of the City of Zeeland Codified Ordinances.

All service connections, except Fire Services, shall be metered. Meters shall be set horizontally in a clean,

easily accessible and suitable place.

All meters and MTUs/MXUs installed by ZBPW shall remain the property of the ZBPW. ZBPW reserves
the right to size such metering equipment.

Meter costs are charged for initial installations to recover the first-time expense of the meter. Meters

replaced due to normal wear and age are not charged to the Customer.

33



A. Temporary Metering

Temporary metered water service is available to contractors and others for construction. The applicant
shall pay the current installation charge for the meter size requested and shall be responsible for
protecting the meter from damage, freezing, cross connections, and backflow events. Such installations
must be made in a manner so that unauthorized persons cannot remove the meter or interfere with its
proper registration of the water taken from the service. Charges for water furnished through a
temporary service connection shall be at the established rates. Temporary construction metering
receives the benefit of avoiding Meter Equivalent Connection fees, however, Assessments may still be

required.

B. Meter Location

1. A proper location for each meter shall be provided by the Customer. The location shall be readily
accessible and well-ventilated. Such space shall be kept free from all obstructions, fixtures, etc.
within a distance of three (3) feet from the meter. A clear overhead space of at least six (6) feet
shall be provided. For overall space requirements of the meter connection, check with ZBPW.
The location must be approved by authorized ZBPW personnel. The Customer must provide a
proper location for the MTU/MXU on the outside of the building, as well as access to run wiring
from the meter to the MTU/MXU and must maintain easy accessibility to the MTU/MXU for

purposes of reading it.

2. The Customer shall install ZBPW-provided ball valves at the inlet and outlet sides of the Meter
Horn and shall maintain them in good repair. For services two (2) inches in diameter and smaller,
the valves must be water/oil/gas (WOG) ball valves. For larger services the valves must be of the

resilient wedge type open left (OL).

3. A meter shall be provided for each service line entering a building.

Where, because of the number of tenants, it is the desire of the building owner to meter each tenant’s

water separately, a meter manifold may be permitted by the ZBPW, provided:

34



1. A metering room is made available by the owner for housing the water meters. Said room shall
have access via common space (i.e. not through a private apartment or unit). The metering room

and a key for the door shall be provided by the Customer at their expense.
2. The Customer and/or owner installs a valve on the inlet and outlet side of each meter-setting.

3. The Customer and/or owner installs a valve at the point where the primary feed line enters each

apartment or office.

4. That each meter serves only one office or apartment unit with no interconnecting piping allowed

between units.

Where water service is provided to a property with multiple tenants, but service is supplied through a
single water meter, the Landowner shall be the sole account holder of record. The water utility will not

establish individual tenant accounts under a shared meter arrangement.

1. All bills for service under a single water meter shall be issued to the Landowner. The Landowner
is fully responsible for timely payment of all charges, fees, and penalties associated with the
service, regardless of any private agreements between the Landowner and tenants regarding

reimbursement or cost allocation.

2. The utility shall have no responsibility for billing tenants individually or for mediating disputes
between tenants and the Landowner regarding allocation of water service costs. Any sub-billing

arrangement shall be the sole responsibility of the Landowner.

3. Nonpayment of charges by the Landowner may result in service disconnection for the entire
premises, regardless of the number of tenants served. The utility will not provide continuation of

service to tenants individually under a single meter account.

4. Inthe event of a change of property ownership, the new owner must promptly apply to establish
service in their name. Until such application is made and approved, the prior owner remains

liable for all charges.

35



5. Itis the responsibility of the Landowner to notify tenants of the service arrangement and the
consequences of delinquency. The utility assumes no obligation to provide direct notice to

tenants in multi-tenant properties served by a single meter.

C. Meter Horns and Ball Valves

ZBPW requires the use of Meter Horns for five-eighths inch (5/8”), three-fourths inch (3/4”) and one inch
(1”) meter installations. These requirements pertain to new service installations, service replacements

and installation of additional meters. The Meter Horn and ball valves are provided by ZBPW. .

See ZBPW'’s Design and Construction Standards for additional details.

D. Maintenance of Meters, Meter Connections
and MTUs

ZBPW shall maintain all standard water meters and MTUs/MXUs. The Customer,

however, shall be held liable for protecting the meter and MTU/MXU from damage including, but not
limited to, damage by freezing, heat, construction, building renovations, and negligence or willful
damage by the owner, tenants, or contractors. Any meter or MTU/MXU so damaged shall be repaired by
ZBPW, and the cost thereof shall be billed to the Customer. The Customer shall also be responsible for a

service call charge in addition to the meter replacement charge.

No person shall tamper with any meter or MTU/MXU or remove or break any seal placed on a meter.

Evidence that such tampering has occurred will result in the charging of a tampering fee.

E. Bypasses Around Meters

Bypasses may be plumbed around large commercial or industrial meters with prior written approval
from ZBPW. If the bypass also bypasses the principal backflow preventer, then the bypass must also have
adequate backflow prevention. The bypass must have a lockable valve and ZBPW will install its own lock
on the bypass valve. Tampering with the lock will result in immediate termination of services and result

in a ZBPW Utility Theft Investigation.

36



F. Upsizing/Downsizing Meters

Customers wishing to increase or decrease the size of their meter may make a request to ZBPW for the
new meter size. ZBPW will review the request and will review Demand data provided from the Customer.
ZBPW reserves the right to size the meter according to Customer water Demand. A fee is charged for this
service. The Customer is responsible for hiring a plumbing contractor to install an appropriately sized

meter horn prior to the installation of the new meter.

Upsizing a meter requires additional charges, provided a larger meter was not at this address in the past

fifteen (15) years. Refer to the ZBPW schedule of Water Service Fees and Charges.

16. Application of Rates

A. Charges

ZBPW shall from time to time establish charges for the use of and connection to the city water system.
All users are required to pay the applicable rates for connection to the system and for water use. Refer to

the ZBPW schedule of Water Service Fees and Charges.

B. User Responsibility for Charges

Any persons, association, or corporation who takes possession of premises where water supply has been
shut off by ZBPW and uses water without proper application for water service shall be responsible for all
charges for water service. The amount of such charges shall be determined by ZBPW either by meter
reading or on the basis of calculated consumption for the time water was used. Meter usage on vacant

accounts will default to the last known user.

C. Connection Fees

For more details on charges for water connections fees please refer to the ZBPW schedule of Water

Service Fees and Charges.

37



17. Services

All water service connections to Water Mains must comply with the standards and specifications set
forth by the ZBPW and the Michigan Plumbing Code. All such lines and connections must be inspected
either by ZBPW personnel or the local licensed plumbing inspector to ensure compliance. See ZBPW'’s

Design and Construction Standards for additional details.

All Customer service connections are for the exclusive use of the building in which the service is

connected and shall not be shared with or extended by the Customer to another building.

ZBPW shall not be responsible for damage to Customer property caused by spigots, faucets, valves, and

other equipment that are open when water is turned on at the Curb Box.

The Customer shall keep their own service pipe from the Curb Stop in the right-of-way to the meter in
good repair and free from leaks at their own expense. Note: If the service pipe has been previously or is
currently connected to a lead gooseneck and the service pipe is galvanized on the Customer’s side of the
Curb Stop, the ZBPW will replace the service pipe in accordance with Section 17. D. Water Service Line

Replacement as Required by the Lead and Copper Rule.

A. Installation of Service Lines

1. Alllocations of water service lines shall be approved by ZBPW.

2. The installation of all water services shall be under the direction of and subject to approval by
ZBPW. Only duly authorized persons shall be permitted to install a service connection from

ZBPW'’s main to the Customer’s premises.

3. Each separate building must have its own water service connection to the distribution main. Any

deviations from this policy must have written approval from the ZBPW.

4. The Customer shall pay for all labor and material required for the installation of service pipe

from the Water Main to the Customer’s water meter location.

38



5. Each service shall consist of a Corporation Stop, necessary tubing or piping and curb stop

complete with service box. New connections will be supplied Curb Boxes at no charge by ZBPW.

6. Customer service connections shall be installed from the Water Main to the customer’s building
in the most direct manner consistent with good engineering practice. The pipe comprising the
connection shall cross only that legally described property upon which the building to be served

is located unless an easement approved by ZBPW is acquired.

7. Property owners are allowed to connect to an existing water Service Stub outside of the right of
way whether they are licensed plumbers or not, as long as it is their own service. The private
property owner is not allowed to alter or interfere with that portion of the service owned by

ZBPW.

8. At the time the new service is installed, all existing unused services must be terminated and
abandoned. Such terminations must be inspected and approved by ZBPW personnel. Refer to

Section 6. D. Termination of Service

9. All water service Facilities work performed in the public right-of-way or dedicated easement
must be inspected and approved by ZBPW. Installation of water leads shall be done in

accordance with ZBPW specifications.

10. Water lines from the house to the main shall not be backfilled until inspection and approval has

been given by the local licensed plumbing inspector and/or ZBPW designated resource.

11.As encountered, a Customer, plumber, or contractor working on a private side service
replacement or repair will be billed for any damage and removal of sand and debris from

Customer meters after restoration of water service.

B. Maintenance of Service Connection,
Thawing of Services

It is the intent of the ZBPW that all underground water pipes in the right-of-way from the Water Main to

the Customer's property line or Curb Stop whichever comes first, be maintained by the ZBPW. This

39



maintenance includes repair of leaking water service, Curb Box maintenance, and Curb Stop

replacement.

In case of frozen water lines within the right-of-way, the ZBPW shall provide a thawing service according

to the following policy:

1. ZBPW will respond to requests to thaw frozen services.

2. Ifthe freezing occurs in the portion of the water service belonging to the ZBPW (i.e. from the

main to the curb stop) the Customer will not be charged for thawing.

3. ZBPW will bear the cost of lowering its portion of the water service if the freezing problem has

been caused by the shallow depth of the service.

4. 7ZBPW may authorize the Customer to run water to prevent additional freezing until the
replacement can be made. The additional water used will be deducted from the Customer’s

utility bill.

5. If the freezing occurs after ZBPW has lowered the water service from the main to the curb stop,

the Customer will be responsible for the cost of thawing the service.

6. If the freezing problem is in the Customer’s portion of the service, the expense of rectifying the

problem, should the Customer choose to do so, is the responsibility of the Customer.

7. Any damage caused to the Customer’s portion of the service as a result of freezing and/or

thawing must be repaired at the Customer’s expense.

A water customer whose current service is in sound working order, but who wants a larger service
installed, must absorb the entire cost of replacement from the Water Main to the building. The
customer’s plumbing contractor must terminate the old service at the Water Main at the time

replacement occurs.

40



A leaking service in the right-of-way between the curb stop and the Water Main shall be terminated and
replaced by the same size service, but not less than one inch (1”) diameter. ZBPW will be responsible for

the work and absorb the cost.

If a customer elects to replace their portion of the water service due to inadequate flow caused by
blockage in old pipes, ZBPW, upon application by the customer, will replace the portion of the water
service from the main to the Curb Stop thus ensuring adequate flow throughout the service. ZBPW will
replace the service provided that the portion of the service from the main to the curb is approximately

the same age as the Customer’s portion and that ZBPW confirms the low flow conditions.

ZBPW shall not be responsible for any loss or damage caused by improper installation of such water
equipment or the negligence, want of proper care or wrongful act of the Customer or any of their
tenants, agents, employees or contractors in installing, maintaining, using, operating, or interfering with

such equipment.

C. Control of Water Service

No person other than an employee of the ZBPW, or a licensed plumber authorized by the ZBPW, shall

open or close the shut off valve (Curb Stop in the right-of-way) on the Customer’s service connection.

D. Water Service Line Replacement as
Required by the Lead and Copper Rule

Certain water services maintained by the ZBPW meet the definition of a lead service line in accordance
with R 325.10410 of 2018 MR 11 (effective June 14, 2018), adopted by the Michigan Department of
Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE) pursuant to Section 5 of the Public Act 399 of 1976, MCL
325.1005 (Lead and Copper Rule or “LCR”). The LCR defines a lead service line as either a service line
which is made of lead or any lead pigtail, lead gooseneck, or other lead fitting that is connected to the

service line, or both.

41



The ZBPW, pursuant to the LCR, is responsible for installing a new non-lead service line at the ZBPW’s
expense. The customer must Execute an access agreement allowing the ZBPW, its employees, agents, or

contractors to enter on the property to construct and install the new non-lead service line.

Customers who refuse to comply with either option may have service shut off after proper notice as

described in Section 6. Shutoff Policy of the General Terms of Service.

After installation of the new, non-lead service line, the responsibility of the Customer and the ZBPW shall
revert to the responsibilities prior to the installation of the new, non-lead service line. After the
expiration of any warranty period, the Customer shall hold the City harmless and free from any claim or

liability of damage done in the performance of the water service line replacement.

E. Fire Protection Service

Unmetered water service for the sole purpose of fire protection is available. A flat monthly rate, based

on the size of the service and other factors, shall be charged for such services.

A Fire Protection Service connection will be furnished only if adequate provision is made to prevent the
use of water from such service for purposes other than fire extinguishing or maintenance of the

firefighting system. Size of the service connection to the main shall be subject to the approval of ZBPW.

Connections for domestic use must be made outside of the building, upstream of any post indicator
valve and/or backflow preventer on the Fire Protection Service and require the installation of a separate

curb stop and valve box.

A minimum of a double check valve assembly is required on all new fire protection services. For
combined domestic water/fire protection services with fire department pumper connections and/or

jockey pump, the installation of a reduced pressure backflow preventer is required.

See ZBPW'’s Design and Construction Standards for additional details.

l. Fire Hydrant Use

42



ZBPW may approve the use of fire hydrants for purposes other than fire protection and distribution
system maintenance. Such purposes may include provision of a temporary water service for

construction, irrigation, drinking fountains, and swimming pools.

A person who wishes to apply for permission to use a fire hydrant must complete an application online.

Approval of the application is at the sole discretion of ZBPW.

All water drawn from a fire hydrant will be metered using a temporary meter provided by ZBPW. The

user will be charged a rate according to the fee schedule for water use.

A rental charge will be required for the use of the hydrant and the backflow prevention device. Rental

rates will be charged according to the Fee schedule.

a. Metered Hydrant Usage Rules

1. ‘Hydrants\ must be fully opened and controlled with a meter valve. /{ Commented [AB3]: Numerals need to be Figtree font. J

2. Any persons using water from a fire hydrant must use RPZ Backflow Prevention and/or HBVB for

connections 1 inch and smaller either provided by or approved by ZBPW.

3. The customer is responsible for the cost of repair or replacement due to loss of or damage to
hydrants and equipment issued and will be charged a replacement fee for any equipment not

returned to ZBPW in usable condition.

4. If a user does not comply with the above usage rules, ZBPW may prohibit them from further use

of hydrants.

5. Hydrants must be visible and kept clear of vegetation and obstructions that would impede their

use.

Il. Private Fire Hydrants

1. Private hydrants are not permitted without ZBPW and local fire department approval.

2. Private hydrants must be painted all red within City of Zeeland city limits and painted yellow

within ZCT and HCT, if installed.

43



Private hydrants must be operational at all times and must be maintained in accordance with the

requirements of the local Fire Marshal.

Private hydrants must be visible and kept clear of vegetation and obstructions that would

impede their use.

Weep drains in private hydrants must be plugged.

Private hydrants may only be used for fire system maintenance if a ZBPW issued hydrant meter

and backflow preventer are used.

All water drawn from a private hydrant will be metered using a temporary meter provided by

ZBPW. The user will be charged a rate according to the fee schedule for water use.

A rental charge will be required for the use of the hydrant and the backflow prevention device.

Rental rates will be charged according to the current fee schedule.

Construction of Private Fire Hydrants and Main to follow current ZBPW design and construction

standards for potable Water Main construction.

lll. Remote Fire Department Connections

The ZBPW Water Department shall inspect the piping installation for remote fire department

connections. All new remote fire department connection installations require backflow prevention in

accordance with the Michigan Plumbing Code and the most recent edition of the State of Michigan

Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE) Cross Connection Rules Manual.

IV. Automated Sprinkler System

If an automated sprinkler system is installed the local building official will inspect and approve the plans,

internal piping and installation of the required backflow preventer. The local building official will require

records of a flow test on the public main for supply pressures and flow rates. The flow test shall have

been conducted recently and reflect current system conditions.

44



a. Backflow Preventer
1. Installation shall be the appropriate double check valve assembly, or a reduced pressure zone
assembly. Double Check Detector Assemblies (DCDA) and Reduced Pressure Detector Assemblies

(RPDA) are not allowed since ZBPW does not read the detector meters.

2. Backflow preventers are not required on the fire suppression system for deluge, pre-action or
dry pipe systems. However, if a remote fire department connection with a ball drip valve is

installed on one of these systems, backflow prevention will be required.

3. Installation per ASSE Seal Authorizations including direction of flow (horizontal, vertical flow up,

etc.). Assembly must include listed valves and test cocks.

4. Backflow preventer shall be tested (Michigan Plumbing Code 312.9.2) at time of installation with
copy submitted to ZBPW and tested at regular intervals thereafter in accordance with the ZBPW

Cross Connection Control Program.

18. Booster Pumps

Where the Customer uses a booster pump to increase pressure to the Customer’s internal plumbing, the

pump shall be of such capacity to maintain the suction side of the pump at or above 20 psi.

The Customer shall suitably pipe, valve and protect all booster pumps such that the boosted pressure
will not cause backflow into ZBPW's Water Distribution System. All booster pumps having a capacity that
could propagate pressure waves in the distribution system during start-up and shut-down shall have
modulating valves installed on the discharge so that start-up or shut-down pressure surges will not be

generated back into ZBPW’s Water Distribution System.

19. Cross-Connection Control

The purpose of this section is to promote and protect the public health, safety, and welfare by the

prevention and elimination of cross connections which have been recognized as the cause of public

45



health problems due to the hazard caused to drinking water quality. This purpose shall result in the
protection of the public potable water supply served by the ZBPW from the possibility of contamination
or pollution by isolating within Customers' internal distribution systems, such contaminants or pollutants
which could backflow or back siphon into the public water system. The City adopts by reference the
Water Supply Cross Connection Rules of the State of Michigan, being MAC R 325.11401 to R 325.11407.
See City of Zeeland Codified Ordinances, Chapter 40, Article IV. Water. Division 2. Cross Connections with

Public Water Systems.

Any user of water from the ZBPW water supply system shall comply with the ZBPW Cross-Connection

Control Program.

Cross-Connections of the public water supply system including, but not limited to, the following are
prohibited:

e Between a public water supply system and a secondary water supply

e By submerged inlet

e Between a lawn sprinkling system and the public water supply system

e Between a public water supply system and piping which may contain sanitary waste or a
chemical contaminant

e Between a public water supply system and piping immersed in a tank or vessel which may
contain a contaminant
ZBPW shall have the authority to inspect any premises to determine the presence of an existing cross-
connection. If a Cross-Connection is discovered, the expense of its elimination shall be that of the
property owner on which such Cross-Connection exists. The amount of time allowed for completion of

the necessary corrections shall be determined by the degree of hazard involved.

Any user of the ZBPW water supply system shall obtain approval from ZBPW for any proposed corrective
action or protective device before use or installation. No person or persons shall remove a backflow

prevention device without permission of ZBPW.

46



When a secondary water supply is used in addition to the public water supply, exposed public water and
secondary water piping shall be identified by distinguishing colors or metal tags. These identifying
markings shall be maintained so that each pipe may be traced readily in its entirety. Identifying piping
adequately will make it necessary to protect the public water supply at the service line valve in a manner

acceptable to ZBPW.

ZBPW shall discontinue water service after reasonable notice to any person owning any property where
a Cross-Connection in violation of this ordinance exists. The Customer may also be responsible for a
service call or shut-off fee as appropriate. If the correction has not been made in such time as ordered,
ZBPW shall physically separate the ZBPW water supply from such piping system in such a manner that
the two systems cannot again be connected by an unauthorized person. ZBPW may take such other
precautionary measures as necessary to eliminate any danger of contamination to the ZBPW water
supply system. Service to such property shall not be restored until such Cross-Connection has been

eliminated.

Any person causing contamination of the water supply due to backflow shall indemnify ZBPW for any
additional expenses, including attorney fees, and costs caused by such a backflow, or any other pertinent

factors.

A. Installation of Backflow Prevention Devices

The Customer will be required to install a backflow prevention device on a Customer water service when
the ZBPW determines that an unprotected Cross-Connection exists. The backflow prevention device shall
be purchased, installed, tested and maintained by the Customer. The Customer must obtain ZBPW'’s
approval of the type and manufacturer of the device. The Customer shall install the device at the
termination of the Customer water service at the outlet side of the secondary valve and shall be installed

in accordance with good design practice. Unprotected bypasses are not permitted.

If, in the opinion of ZBPW, the building use represents an extreme hazard, or that multiple hazards exist
within the building, or Customer Piping (internal or external) is too complex to provide for reasonable
inspection, or there exists a high potential for future cross connections, a backflow prevention device

may be required at the service location, in addition to internal protection.

47



B. Inspection and Maintenance of Backflow
Prevention Devices

The Customer shall permit access for inspection by ZBPW of any backflow prevention devices and all

internal plumbing with reasonable prior notice.

Backflow prevention devices must be installed in an area that will permit easy access for inspection,
testing, and maintenance. ZBPW shall specify inspection and testing of all backflow prevention devices
on a regular schedule. If a device is found to be defective, the Customer shall repair or replace the
equipment as necessary within thirty days. The Customer shall then notify ZBPW of compliance. Test
results shall be sent to the ZBPW Water Department. ZBPW will conduct a follow up inspection to ensure

compliance.

C. Compliance

The Customer must immediately correct any potentially hazardous backflow condition found during an
inspection of internal plumbing. Failure to take adequate corrective action may result in termination of

water service.

D. Severe Hazard Locations

Customer water services serving the following Facilities must be protected against backflow. A safe air

gap or reduced pressure backflow preventer is generally specified for the following uses:

e Hospitals, clinics, sanitariums and biological research centers

e Morgues, funeral homes and other places with autopsy Facilities

e Waste-treatment plants (both solid and liquid waste)

e Chemical plating plants

e Industrial plants having complex plumbing systems not visually traceable in their entirety

e Premises with an auxiliary water supply

48



e Premises where inspection is restricted

e Laboratories

e Marinas

e Food and beverage processing plants

e Petroleum processing or storage plants

e Radioactive material processing plants

e Premises with reclaimed water systems

e Facilities using treated water for process purposes

e Car Washes

E. Secondary Supplies

A Customer’s potable water plumbing cannot be connected to any well-water or surface water source, or

to any water storage tank not approved by ZBPW.

F. ViOlatiOnS /[ Commented [AB4]: Does not match section font size.

Any person or Customer found guilty of violating any of the provisions of this division or any written
order of the board of public works, in pursuance thereof, shall be responsible for a municipal civil

infraction.

20. Zeeland Board of Public Works
Fee Schedule

49



Miscellaneous Charges

Type

Charge

When applied

Non-sufficient funds (NSF) charge

$30.00

Per occurrence

Service Transfer Fee

$10.00 (water)

$15.00 (electric)

New account assessed at 1t billing

Water Utility
Fees and Charges

Type During (?) Charge Charge
M-F 7:30 a.m. - 3:30 After 3:30 p.m.
p.m.
Reconnection fee Disconnect $40.00 $75.00
Reconnect $40.00 $75.00
Reconnection fee for Disconnect $75.00 $75.00
meter tampering Reconnect $75.00 $75.00
Seasonal sprinkling Disconnect $75.00 $75.00
Reconnect $75.00 $75.00
Customer-requested Per each occurrence $75.00 $150.00
service investigation or after the first in any
meter reading calendar year. No charge
for any valid metering
issue.
Description When Applied Charge Notes

50



Meter Tampering

When discovered.
(Damaged equipment
will result in additional
charge for the meter
plus Meter Tampering

Charge.)

$500.00

Damaged Meter

Replacement

When discovered

Materials and labor costs

Relocations, damages,

etc.

Requested relocation

and/or damages

Materials and labor costs

Non-transmitting meter

provision

Residential service
customers have the
option to choose non-

transmitting meter

$75.00 up front change
and a monthly charge of

$10.00 per month

Waived in circumstances
where provision applies
to both electric and
water meters at the

same location.

Hydrant meter/RPZ

permit fee

For each request to use
water from a hydrant in
the water distribution

system

$100.00 includes 2-day
rental and up to 15,000

gallons of water

All water over 15,000
gallons is charged the

current commodity rate.

Hydrant meter permit

fee

Each occurrence

$75.00 per month

(1 day to 31 days)
32 days = 2 months fee

Security deposit—

Residential

For each rental unit
account without
landlord affidavit of
billing responsibility and

lease copy

$25.00

51



For each rental unit
account with a landlord
affidavit of billing
responsibility and lease

copy

$50.00

For each residential
customer following each
reconnect occurrence

for non-payment

$25.00

Security deposit—

ZBPW may require a

Two times average

Commercial/Industrial security deposit for monthly billing
commercial and
industrial accounts
Water connection fee— Meter size(inches) Fee per meter
Individual service
%" $5,398.00
%" $8,096.00
1" $13,494.00
1" $26,988.00
2" $43,180.00
3" $80,963.00
4" $134,938.00
6" $269,877.00

52



g"

$431,803.00

10"

$620,716.00

Water connection fee—

Subdivision service

Meter size (inches)

Fee per meter

%" $2,481.00
%" $3,722.00
1" $6,203.00
1" $12,405.00
2" $19,848.00
3" $37,216.00
4" $62,026.00
6" $124,053.00
8" $198,484.00
10" $285,321.00
Additional meter Required above meter

included in tap charge or

purchased meter Meter size (inches) Meter cost
%" $495.00
%" $540.00
1" $590.00

53



1%" $1,195.00
2" $1,420.00
3” $1,825.00
4” $2,195.00
6” $4,220.00
8” $6,335.00
10” $7,470.00
Termination of service at Building demolition, $2,500

Water Main

partial or full basement
installation, foundation
replacement or house

moving

54



@ ZEELAND
Board of Public Works

- Commen ted [AB1]: Table of Contents needed.

of Service




1. General Terms of Service
A. Definitions

Commercial Customer: A classification used for businesses not involved with the direct manufacture of
durable goods. A classification is also used for multiple family residential structures with two (2) or more

units or structures that are metered but is not a Dwelling Unit.

Critical Care Customer: A Customer who requires, or has a household member who requires, home
medical equipment or a life support system, and who have provided appropriate documentation to
ZBPW identifying the equipment or system and certifying that an interruption of service would be

immediately life threatening.

Customer: A purchaser of electrical and/or water services supplied by ZBPW, and/or wastewater service

supplied by the City of Zeeland.

Dwelling Unit: A single room, suite or groups of rooms or suites with accommodations to sleep, eat, and

has a bathroom.

Energy Improvement Program/Energy Waste Reduction (EWR) Program: The Energy Improvement

Program Fee is designed to recover ZBPW Energy Waste Reduction (EWR) plan costs as allowed by law.

Estimated Consumption: Consumption calculation based on prior use of the service, or the operating

characteristics of the building and equipment used.

Fuel and Purchased Power Cost Adjustment: the amount of kWh by which the applicable rates shall be
adjusted for billing each month. The adjustment will be applied monthly based on a 12-month rolling

average.

Heating Season: November 1 through April 15



Industrial Customer: A classification for businesses directly involved with manufacturing goods or

services for sale as an organized action.

Low Income Customer: A Customer whose household income does not exceed the published
percentage of the poverty level, as established by the State of Michigan or the United States Department
of Health and Human Services (DHHS), or who receives any of the following: assistance from a state

emergency relief fund, food stamps, or Medicaid.

Medical Emergency: An existing medical condition of a Customer, or member of the Customer’s
household, as defined and certified by a physician or public health official on official stationery or

company-provided form, that will be aggravated by lack of utility service.

Meter Reading: Electronic or manual effort to read the amount of electricity or water used by a

Customer.

Meter Constant: A fixed value used to convert Meter Readings into Customer energy use.

Monthly Rate: The charges, fees and unit prices as established by ZBPW'’s rate-making body and the
quantities to which they apply.

Multi-Dwelling Structure or Multi-Dwelling Unit (MDU): A building containing 2 or more Dwelling Units,

including but not limited to apartments, condominiums, or senior housing projects.

Person: Any individual, corporation, partnership, company, limited liability corporation, organization or

governmental entity.

Premises: A tract of land including its buildings.

Rate: the charges, fees, and unit prices as established by ZBPW/City of Zeeland and the quantities to

which they apply.

Residential Customer: A classification reserved for one- and two-family residential structures and other
multiple family structures where each Dwelling Unit is individually metered. Residential structures must

accommodate a place to sleep, eat and have a bathroom.



Senior Citizen: A Customer who is 65 years of age or older and advises ZBPW of his or her eligibility.

Service/Facility Charge: A monthly fixed charge that covers the expenses to maintain and service a
Customer’s account. This includes billing, metering, and Customer service. The Service/Facility charge
also funds a portion of the capital investments in equipment, structures, and meters as well as

engineering and construction services.
Service Point: The point at which the ZBPW or the City of Zeeland has agreed to provide utility services.

Tenant: Person(s) named responsible for the one or more utilities under an executed lease or similar

document.

ZBPW: When used in these Terms of Service, ZBPW is an abbreviation for Zeeland Board of Public Works.

2. General Provisions

All national and state statutes and regulations that govern the provision of utility services apply and
supersede the terms of service contained in this document. All local ordinances and codes of the
governmental units within the service territory of ZBPW also govern the services provided by ZBPW

where applicable.

A Customer that commences and/or maintains electric service with ZBPW agrees to abide by all ZBPW
Electric Terms of Service and Rates. All Rates are subject to revision at any time upon approval by the

ZBPW Board of Commissioners and Zeeland City Council.

A. Obligations

The obligations of both parties commence when ZBPW begins to supply service and continues until
either party has received from the other any form of communication (i.e. email, telephone call, or
written notice) to discontinue service. After notice is given, service may continue until a reasonable time
when ZBPW can disconnect service, not to exceed ten (10) days. These Terms of Service shall be
followed unless otherwise specified in a contractual agreement or as identified in the Terms of Service

for each utility offering.




B. Continuity of Service

The ZBPW supplies 60 Hertz current throughout its service area. ZBPW and the City of Zeeland will use

ordinary diligence in providing utility service but do not guarantee constant or continuous service. By

applying for utility service, each Customer shall be deemed to have agreed that:

1.

Notwithstanding any other provision in these rules, the ZBPW may interrupt, curtail, or suspend
electric service to all or some of its Customers with or without notice, for inspection, repair,
maintenance, alteration or change on the Customer’s premises or elsewhere, and shall have no
duty, obligation, or responsibility, for or by such interruption or suspension of service, or any
damage or loss resulting therefrom; and

ZBPW shall have no duty, liability, or obligation for or by any reason of responsibility for
Customer’s losses or damages due to service interruptions, phase failure or reversal, or
variations in service characteristics, or the use of the ZBPW equipment and facilities on a
Customers’ premises, or other conditions and causes beyond the ZBPW control.

3. New Service Requirements

The following information may be required to establish a new service.

A. Residential Service

Full Name

Service Address via a mortgage/property tax statement or executed lease (add)
Mailing Address if different from Service Address

Telephone Number

Email Address

State or Governmental issued Identification (i.e. Driver’s License, Military ID, Passport)

B. Business Service

Legal Business Name and Tax ID Number (as registered in Michigan)



e Type of Business

e Tax Status (Taxable, Tax Exempt or partial Tax Exempt, documentation will be required)
e Telephone Number

e Email Address

e Contact Name(s)

e Owner or Business Agent Name

e Mailing Address if different from Service Address

A new Customer must contact the ZBPW within ten (10) business days of commencing service to set up
their account. Failure to do so may result in the disconnection of service until the account has been
properly established. A new Customer account may not be established for a service location if a
delinquent Customer account holder resides at the same premises or is listed as a tenant on a new
premise (service location) as the new Customer, unless the balance due and owing for the delinquent
Customer account holder is paid in full and a deposit is collected according to Section 5G. Account

Security Deposits.

A Service Transfer Fee (as defined in the ZBPW Schedule of Fees and Charges) shall be applied to all new
accounts, both City and Township. The Service Transfer Fee will be added to the first bill. Rental

property accounts reverting to the landlord will be exempt from this fee.

4. Service/Facility Charge

All active accounts will be billed with the Service/Facility Charge based on account type and size. Service
must be completely disconnected or suspended to eliminate the service/facility charge.

Disconnect/Reconnect fees may apply.

A. Discontinuation of Service

All requests for a discontinuation of service shall be made through ZBPW Customer Service.

Discontinuation of service is subject to applicable fees and charges.



B. Suspension of Service

All requests for suspension of service shall be made through ZBPW Customer Service. Except as
otherwise set forth herein, ZBPW shall not issue credits for service lapses due to vacations or other non-
use of service. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a residential Customer may request a suspension of
service, which will be honored for a minimum period of three (3) months and a maximum period of six
(6) months. The Customer shall provide ZBPW with the date the suspension of service shall commence
and the date the suspension of service shall be lifted so that services resume. Only one suspension of
service shall be allowed per 12-month period. Service charges shall not be prorated for Customer-

requested suspension of service.

5. Responsibility for Payment of
Bill

A. General

Each ZBPW Customer is responsible for paying all utility bills as rendered on or before the due date
shown thereon. Bills are rendered monthly. Bills will be distributed by mail or electronically to all
Customers at least fourteen (14) days before the due date shown on the bills. ZBPW is not responsible
for bills lost in the mail. It is the Customer's responsibility to ensure timely payment of their bill,
regardless of delivery issues. Failure to receive a bill does not exempt the Customer from payment
obligations or potential late fees. The Customer remains responsible for payment of the bills until the
Customer orders service to be discontinued and ZBPW has had reasonable time to secure a final Meter
Reading. If a bill remains unpaid ZBPW shall have the right to discontinue service as defined in the Shut-

Off Policy (Section 6).



B. Non-Sufficient Funds/Fraud

Customers who have two (2) returned payments within a twelve-month period will be required to make
payments via cash or credit card for the next twelve months. Customers who commit check or credit

card fraud will be required to pay via cash only.

C. Requests for Billing History Data

ZBPW will provide Customers with their billing history at no charge, provided the information is
currently stored on an active database. Customer requests for billing history that is no longer on an
active database will be subject to record retention schedules and to payment of hourly fees based on
the average burdened hourly wage of the ZBPW employee assigned to perform the research and

compilation of the data.

D. Michigan Sales Tax

Bills for electric service are subject to Michigan State Sales Tax. Customers may file a request for
exemption from the application of sales tax and request reimbursement if less than 120 days of lapsing
coverage, in accordance with the laws of the State of Michigan and the rules of the Michigan State
Department of Treasury. In the event the required exemption documentation is not obtained within 120
days from date of sale, the Customer shall make its own refund inquiries directly to the State

Department of Treasury.

E. Estimated Consumption

While it is ZBPW standard to read meters monthly, readings may be estimated when conditions warrant.
Until reconciled by an actual reading, bills rendered on estimated consumption have the same force and
effect as bills rendered on actual meter readings. If for any reason all consumption used cannot be
registered accurately, the unmetered portion shall be estimated by ZBPW based on prior consumption

or the operating characteristics of the building and equipment.



F. Receipt of Payment

Full and partial payments will be applied in the following manner:

1. rTo\the oldest outstanding arrears

/[ Commented [AB2]: Match font for numerals.

2. 65% to the remaining outstanding electric account.

3. 15% to the remaining outstanding water account.

4. 20% to the remaining outstanding wastewater account.
5. On-bill loan account

6. All other fees and services

Payment assistance received from third party providers will be applied to appropriate services as

designated by the provider.

G. Late Charges

A late payment charge of 1.5% of the amount in arrears will be assessed when next month’s bill is
rendered. The late payment charge will not apply to any penalty portion of the Customer’s bill.

Customers may request a late charge waiver under extenuating circumstances.

H. Billing Errors

Errors in billing can occur for a variety of reasons. In some cases, the error can be clearly identified and
quantified, while in other cases the error can only be estimated. This policy establishes the rules for
handling errors in billing. This policy does not apply to theft or unauthorized use of service or estimated

bills.
Errors in billing can be caused, but are not limited to, any of the following reasons:

1. ‘An\ incorrect meter read whether by person or electronically.

2. Anincorrect Meter Constant.

/[ Commented [AB3]: Match font for numerals.




3. Installation of the incorrect metering equipment.

4. Anincorrect calculation of the applicable rate.

5. A meter switched by the utility or a utility representative.

6. Anincorrect application of the rate schedule.

7. A meter error (failure to measure or accurately record all usage).

8. Another similar act or omission by the utility in determining the amount of a Customer’s bill.

An undercharge or overcharge that is caused by a non-registering meter, an estimated meter read, or a

Customer read is not considered a billing error.

If an error in billing occurs and results in overcharging a Customer, ZPBW shall refund or credit the
overcharge based on the actual time the overcharge occurred within the 36-month period immediately
preceding the discovery of the error. Refunds to Customers will normally be made promptly upon

discovery of the error.

If an error in billing occurs and results in undercharging a Customer, the Customer is responsible for the
undercharged amount for up to the 12-month period immediately preceding the discovery of the error.
Amounts due to ZBPW from the Customer will be subject to normal collection policies, procedures, and
practices. A Customer may request and be granted a payment plan up to the number of months used to

calculate the undercharged amount.

G. Account Security Deposits

Security deposits shall be determined as follows:

1. h’he\ standard residential security account deposit will be applied according to the current ZBPW //{ Commented [AB4]: Match font for numerals.

Schedule of Fees and Charges.
2. The ZBPW shall require the standard residential account security deposit for all residential

accounts serving leased residential properties, including mobile home parks, and for Customers
who have filed for bankruptcy and continue to live in their homes.

10



3. Moreover, if any residential account has been disconnected for nonpayment, an additional
deposit equal to the standard residential security deposit will be required each time any
residential account is disconnected for nonpayment before service will be reconnected.

4. The ZBPW may require an account security deposit of up to two (2) times the average monthly
billing for commercial or industrial accounts.

5. An additional standard deposit will be required for properties in Holland Charter and Zeeland
Charter Townships which elect to exempt properties from the potential utility non-payment lien
through the Notice of Lease provisions in the Township’s utility lien ordinances.

ZBPW will refund deposits of $1.00 or more to all Customers who have voluntarily terminated service

and paid all charges due. Refunds under $1.00 will not be refunded due to associated processing costs.

H. Lien as a Security for the Collection of
Service Charges

Except as otherwise provided or limited by state law, ZBPW shall have as security for the collection of all
charges for utility services as authorized by the Revenue Bond Act of 1933, as amended, a lien upon the
premises to which such services were supplied. Such liens shall become effective immediately upon the
distribution or supplying of such service or services to such premises. The term "charges for utility
service" shall mean the rates, fees, rentals, and all other charges for furnishing such service and all
repairs, maintenance, and alterations of such service which the ZBPW determines to be the

responsibility of the service Customer.

A. Placement on Tax Rolls
I. City of Zeeland

Except as otherwise provided by State law, all unpaid charges for utility services furnished to any such
premises, which on the 31 day of March each year, have remained unpaid for a period of three (3)
months, or more, shall be reported by the Clerk per Zeeland City Charter Sec.13.25 to the City Council at
the first meeting thereof in the month of April. The Council thereupon shall order the publication in a
newspaper published in the city, of notice to all owners of property within the city that all unpaid utility

charges which have remained unpaid for a period of three (3) months or more prior to the 315 day of

11




March, and which have not been paid by the 30t day of April, shall be assessed upon the city’s tax roll
against the premises to which the utility services, for which unpaid charges accrued, were supplied or

furnished; and that such charges shall be collected in the same manner as the city taxes and said tax roll.

Il. Holland and Zeeland Townships

The Townships agree to assist and cooperate with the ZBPW in collecting delinquent charges for utility
services provided to ZBPW Customers in the township. Specifically, if the General Manager of the ZBPW
certifies in writing to the Township(s) on or before September 15 those charges for utility service(s)
which are delinquent six (6) months or more on August 31, then the Township(s) will enter a lien for
such charges on the Township tax roll for that year against the premises to which utility service has been

provided.

Ill. Protection of Landlord, Notice of Lease and Security Deposit

If the owner of a premise which receives services provided by the ZBPW shall lease the premises to a
tenant who is responsible under the lease for the payment of the charges for specified services, and the
property owner notifies ZBPW in writing of the lease agreement by an affidavit of lease (including a copy
of the lease executed by the owner and their tenant), then the charges for electric services provided to
such leased premises shall not become a lien against the premises after the date ZBPW receives notice.
Immediately after filing of such notice, ZBPW shall render no further service to the premises until it
receives a security deposit as security for the payment of the electric charges from the tenant (or an

individual or entity acting on behalf of the tenant).

6. Shut-Off Policy

This policy applies generally to all Customers of the ZBPW who receive ZBPW electric or water service.
Policy statements that apply solely to Residential Customers are noted. It is the policy of ZBPW to

conform to all requirements of Michigan Legislature - Section 460.9¢ (the “Act”) with regard to

residential utility shutoffs.

12


http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(udq02cq1orx42wdclshdovzu))/mileg.aspx?page=getobject&objectname=mcl-460-9q&query=on&highlight=shut%20AND%20off
http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(udq02cq1orx42wdclshdovzu))/mileg.aspx?page=getobject&objectname=mcl-460-9q&query=on&highlight=shut%20AND%20off

A. General Requirements
I. Proper Shut-Off

Subject to the other requirements of this policy, ZBPW may shut off service to a Customer for any of the

following reasons:

1. The Customer has not paid a delinquent account that accrued within the last six (6) years.
2. The Customer has failed to provide a deposit or guarantee as required by ZBPW.
3. The Customer has engaged in unauthorized use of ZBPW'’s service.

4. The Customer has failed to comply with the terms and conditions of a payment plan entered into
with ZBPW in accordance with ZBPW's rules.

5. The Customer has refused to arrange access at reasonable times for the purpose of inspection,
meter reading, maintenance, or replacement of equipment that is installed upon the premises or
for the removal of a meter.

6. The Customer misrepresented his or her identity for the purpose of obtaining ZBPW service or
put service in another person's name without the permission of the other person.

7. The Customer has violated any rules of the provider so as to adversely affect the safety of the
Customer or other persons or the integrity of ZBPW's system.

8. A person living in the Customer's residence meets both of the following:

a. Has a delinquent account for service with the ZBPW within the past six years but
remains unpaid, and

b. The Customer lived in the person’s residence when all or part of the debt was incurred.
The ZBPW may transfer the prorated amount of the debt to the Customer's account
based upon the length of time that the Customer resided in the person’s residence so
long as the Customer was not a minor at the time.

Il. Improper Shutoff

ZBPW may not shut off service to a Customer for any of the following reasons:

1. The Customer has not paid for concurrent service received at a separate metering point,
residence, or service location.

13



2. The Customer has not paid for service at premises not occupied by the Customer unless:
a. The Customer supplies a written notarized statement that the premises is unoccupied,
b. The premises is occupied, and the occupant agrees, in writing, to the shutoff of service,

c. Itis not feasible to provide service to the occupant as a Customer without a major
revision of existing distribution facilities, or

d. Itis feasible to provide service to the occupant as a Customer without a major revision
of existing distribution facilities and the occupant refuses to put the account in their
name.

lll. Service Shutoff Resulting in Death or Serious Injury

a. Notification

ZBPW shall notify the Michigan Public Service Commission (Commission) of any shutoff of service that
results in the death or serious injury of a residential Customer. ZBPW shall supply the Commission any
relevant information regarding the death or serious injury, including, the procedures followed during the

shut off.

B. Notice

Except where a shut-off is necessary to maintain service quality, prevent damage to the relevant
distribution system, or prevent damage to property, ZBPW shall not shut off service prior to sending a
notice to the Customer by first-class mail not less than ten (10) days before the date of the proposed

shut-off. ZBPW shall maintain a record of the date the notice was sent.

C. Permissible Shutoff

ZBPW may shut off service to a Customer on the date specified in the notice of shutoff or at a
reasonable time following that date. If ZBPW does not shut off service and mails a subsequent notice,
then ZBPW shall not shut off service before the date specified in the subsequent notice. Shutoff shall
occur only between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 2:00 p.m. Monday through Thursday. No disconnections

shall be permitted on a legal holiday or on the day before a legal holiday.

14



D. Termination of Service

ZBPW, upon approval of the Zeeland City Council, may adopt a termination of electric service policy
establishing the terms and conditions under which electric service to any Customer may be suspended,
discontinued, or terminated. In the event a termination of service requirement is adopted by state law,
which is applicable to ZBPW, ZBPW shall not adopt a policy which is less restrictive than applicable

statutory provisions.

Termination of services are subject to applicable service charges.

E. Shutoff When Restoration Services Are Not
Available

ZBPW shall not shut off service on a day, or a day immediately preceding a day when the services of

ZBPW are not available to the general public for the purpose of restoring service.

F. Contact to Customer

I. Generally

For involuntary shutoff of electric or water or services, at least one day before the service shutoff, ZBPW
shall make no less than one attempt, in addition to the notice of shutoff, to contact the Customer by one

or more of the following methods:

1. A personal or automated telephone call where direct contact is made with a member of the
Customer's household, or a message is recorded on an answering machine or voicemail.

2. First-class mail.
3. A personal visit to the Customer.
4. A written notice left at or on the Customer’s door.

5. Any other method approved by the Michigan Public Service Commission for regulated utilities.

Il. Remote Shutoff

15



For an involuntary shutoff using a meter with a remote shutoff capability, any notice shall state that the
disconnection of the service will be done remotely and that a provider representative will not return to

the Premises before disconnection.

lll. Documentation; Contact by Telephone

ZBPW shall document all attempts to contact the Customer. If contact is made by telephone, ZBPW shall
inform the Customer or other responsible person that the shut-off of service is imminent and of the

steps necessary to avoid shut-off.

F. Restoration

ZBPW shall restore service upon a Customer's request when the cause for the shutoff has been cured or

credit arrangements satisfactory to ZBPW have been made.

If the Customer qualifies for restoration and his or her household contains a meter that must be
restored manually, ZBPW shall make reasonable efforts to restore service to the Customer within eight
hours of the utility’s receipt of complete payment. If the meter has remote restoration capability,
service shall be restored on the first working day after the Customer requests restoration, except in the

case of documented equipment failure.

G. Charges for Shutoff and Restoration

Following disconnection of service, the entire past due ZBPW charges as well as applicable reconnection
charges and an additional security deposit (as applicable) must be collected in full prior to reconnection.

Personal checks and EFT/ACH will not be accepted for payment following disconnection.

H. Critical Care and Medical Emergency
Residential Customers

I. Postponement

16



For electric and water service, ZBPW will postpone shutoff of service for up to 21 days if a Customer is a
Critical Care Customer or has a certified medical emergency. To qualify for a postponed disconnection for
medical reasons, a medical certification form must be completed by a medical doctor or public health
official and submitted to the ZBPW prior to disconnection. The Customer shall identify the period during
which the shutoff will aggravate the medical emergency. If the Customer provides additional
documentation or certification, ZBPW will postpone the shutoff for additional periods of up to 21 days
for a total of not more than 63 days in any 12-month period per household member. Annually, shutoff

extensions totaling more than 126 days per household will not be given.

Il. Restoration

If a shutoff of service has occurred without postponement being obtained, ZBPW will restore the service
upon presentation of the appropriate documentation or certification. The service shall continue for up to
21 days. If the Customer provides additional documentation or certification, ZBPW will postpone the

shutoff for additional periods of up to 21 days for a total of not more than 63 days.

I1l. Other Protections

Application for this protection does not prohibit a ZBPW Customer from applying for separate

protections.

IV. Deferred Payment Plan

Any Customer, prior to termination, may establish a deferred payment plan to avoid termination of utility
service, under the condition that the Customer signs a written agreement with the utility which specifies

that:

1. The Customer will make regular payments in amounts acceptable to ZBPW for all charges of the
Customer until all outstanding charges are paid in full and

2. The Customer acknowledges that the utility services shall be terminated without any further
notification should the Customer fail to comply with the terms of the agreement and

3. The late charges shall be assessed during the deferment period on any applicable utility charges.

4. ZBPW is not required to enter into a subsequent payment until a Customer has complied with
the terms of any existing or previous agreements. If the Customer has defaulted on the terms

17



and conditions of a payment agreement within the last twelve (12) months, ZBPW is not
required to enter into a subsequent payment plan.

I. Active-Duty Military Customers

Active-Duty Military Customers are residential households where:

1. The household income is reduced because the Customer of record, or the spouse or domestic
partner of the Customer of record, is called to full-time active military service by the President of
the United States or the Governor of the State of Michigan during a time of declared national or
state emergency or war, and

2. Assistance is needed by the residential household to maintain service, and

3. The residential household has notified the provider of the need for assistance and has proven
verification of the call to active-duty status.

I. Shutoff Prohibited

ZBPW shall not shut off service to an active-duty military Customer during their service for a period of up
to ninety (90) days. In its sole discretion, ZBPW can provide one or more extensions to the active-duty

military Customer.

Il. Notification

An active-duty military Customer shall notify ZBPW of the end of his or her active-duty status as soon as

that status is known.

Il. Duty Not Void

Unless waived by the ZBPW, this shutoff protection does not void or limit the obligation of the active-

duty military Customer to pay for services received during his or her time of service.

IV. Payment Plan
In the event an active-duty military Customer receives assistance, ZBPW shall:
1. Establish a payment plan requiring minimum monthly payments that allows the active-duty

military Customer to pay any past amounts due over a reasonable time period not to exceed one
year, and

18



2. Provide a qualifying Customer with information regarding any governmental, ZBPW, or other
assistance programs, and

3. Provide active-duty military Customers with access to existing information on ways to minimize
or conserve their service usage.

7. Utility Customer Dispute

A. Complaint

A utility Customer may dispute the correctness of all or part of the current amount shown on a utility
bill. A utility Customer shall not be entitled to dispute the correctness of all or part of the amount if all or

part of the amount was the subject of a previous dispute.

B. Procedure

The procedure for utility Customer disputes shall be as follows:

(Within 30 days of the date such bill is issued, the utility Customer shall notify the utility, orally or in
writing, that they dispute all or part of the current amount shown on a utility bill, stating as completely

as possible the basis for the dispute.

If the utility determines that the present dispute is untimely or that the utility Customer previously
disputed the correctness of all or part of the amount shown, the utility shall notify the Customer stating
that the present dispute is untimely or invalid. The utility shall then proceed as if the Customer had not

notified the utility of the present dispute.

If the utility determines that the present dispute is not untimely or invalid, the utility, within three
working days after receipt of the Customer's notice, shall arrange an informal meeting between the

utility Customer and an official of the utility.

Based on the utility's records, the Customer's allegations and all other relevant materials available to the
official, the official shall resolve the dispute, attempting to do so in a manner satisfactory to both the

utility and the Customer.

19



Within three working days of completion of the meeting, the official shall notify the Customer of his

decision resolving the dispute.

If the decision is unsatisfactory to the Customer, the Customer, within three working days of his

notification of the official's decision, may request a hearing before a utility hearing examiner.

The hearing before the examiner shall be held within five working days of the utility's receipt of the

Customer's request.

At the hearing, the utility and the Customer shall be entitled to present all information that is, in the

hearing examiner's view, relevant and material to the dispute.

Based on the hearing, the examiner, within three working days of the completion of the hearing, shall
issue his decision resolving the dispute. His decision shall be final and binding on the utility and the

Customer.

The hearing examiner shall be the General Manager of the ZBPW for appeals regarding water and
electric charges. The hearing examiner shall be the City Manager for appeals regarding waste water
disposal charges. An appropriate interim official may be designated by the hearing examiner to address

disputes in their absence.

Utilization of this dispute procedure shall not relieve a utility Customer of their obligation to timely and
completely pay all other undisputed utility charges and the undisputed portion of the amount which is
the subject of the present dispute. Failure to timely and completely pay all such undisputed amounts

shall subject the utility Customer to all applicable late charges and to termination of utility service.

8. E-Services Privacy, Terms &
Conditions

Please view our website for the most up to date privacy policy, terms, conditions and cookies associated

with e-services. zeelandbpw.com/privacy-policy

20


https://zeelandbpw.com/privacy-policy/

Any questions regarding the privacy policy or terms and conditions should be directed to

info@zeelandbpw.com.

9. Theft

ZBPW will investigate cases of suspected theft and fraud. All cases, where there is sufficient evidence,
will be turned over to the City of Zeeland Police Department, Ottawa County Sheriff’s Office, and/or the

City Attorney.

ZBPW will attempt to recover all charges that were intentionally avoided or not paid, plus all monthly-
accrued late fees. In addition, six (6) percent over prime rate recovery charge will be assessed to charges,
fees and penalties. All costs relating to the investigation and remediation of theft of services will be

assessed to the account.

If the actual amount of service lost to the theft or diversion cannot be determined, the amount will be
estimated using previous account history. If neither the actual amount of service nor an estimated
amount of service for the particular account can be determined, the account shall be assessed the
average usage for the class of service prorated to the time the theft or diversion occurred. There is no

limitation on the time period for which past charges will be assessed.

Other actions, civil or criminal, will be decided by the General Manager of the ZBPW and/or City

Attorney, as appropriate.

10. Miscellaneous Provisions

A. Other Remedies

The implementation of Terms of Service does not preclude ZBPW from pursuing any of its legal rights,
including the right to place liens of property granted to ZBPW, whether by statute, charter, or other

power.

21


mailto:info@zeelandbpw.com

B. Forms

ZBPW may develop any forms or documents needed to implement services so long as the developed

forms or documents are consistent with the Terms of Service.

11. Electric Service Franchise Area

Please use the link below to view a map and description of the ZBPW electric service territory: (INSERT
LINK HERE

t Reriem

Holland

Chrizan Junior
High schaal

May Station

Zeeland BPW Electric Service Territory @ R =

22


http://www.hollandbpw.com/en/electricity
http://www.hollandbpw.com/en/electricity

12. Definitions

Accessible: Capable of being reached; within reach of ZBPW staff.
Ampere: Unit of electrical current.

Contiguous Parcels: Pieces of real estate that are adjoined or adjacent to each other and share a

common boundary, not separated by a public street.

Demand: The maximum amount of electrical energy that is being consumed at a given time. It is

measured in both Kilowatts and Kilovolt-Amperes.

Distribution Line: That portion of ZBPW'’s system which delivers Primary and Secondary Voltage from

transformation points on the electric system to the Customer.

Electric Power: A term used in the electric industry to mean inclusive power and energy, expressed in

Kilowatts and Kilowatt-Hours.

Energy: That which does or is capable of doing work. It is measured in terms of the work it is capable of

doing; electric energy is usually measured in Kilowatt Hours (kWh).
Hertz (Hz): Cycle per second.
Horsepower (hp): Unit of mechanical power equivalent to 746 watts of electrical power.

Kilovolt-Ampere (kVA): Unit of apparent electrical power which at 100% Power Factor is equivalent to

one Kilowatt.
Kilowatt (kW): One thousand Watts.

Kilowatt-Hour (kWh): Unit of electrical energy equivalent to the use of one Kilowatt for one hour. The

Kilowatt-Hour is used to measure and track consumption on utility bills.
Load: The amount of Power or Kilovolt-Amperes delivered at a given point.

Load Factor: The average Power divided by the peak Power over a period of time.

23



Line Extension Policy: a policy which establishes a maximum level of utility investment in the event that
upgrades, construction, or extension of facilities are required to provide service to new load connecting

to the ZBPW system.

Point of Interconnection: The point at which the Customer’s electrical conductors connect with ZBPW’s

distribution system.

Power: The rate at which electrical energy is transferred by an electric circuit measured in Kilowatts

(kW).

Power Factor (P.F. or PF): Ratio of real Power flowing to the Load (watts) to apparent Power in the circuit

(volt-amps), expressed in a percentage (%).

Primary Voltage: Nominal Voltage of 7,200 Volts or 12,470 Volts.

Qualified Facility (QF): A cogeneration or small power production facility that meets certain ownership,
operating, and efficiency criteria established pursuant to the Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act

(PURPA).

Riser Pole: Pole where the transition takes place between underground and overhead facilities. May be

primary or secondary.

Secondary Voltage: Nominal voltage of 480 volts or less.

Service Entrance Conductors: The Customer-owned conductors between the Customer’s main

disconnecting device and the termination of ZBPW'’s service conductors.

Service Upgrade: Replacement of a service panel, meter socket or transformer to a unit with a larger
capacity rating, or any Customer change that requires ZBPW to increase the size of its service conductor

to the Service Location for an existing Customer.

Volt: Unit of electrical force.

Watt: Represents a basic unit of electricity. It’s a small unit of measurement used to describe the electric

consumption of individual devices or small appliances.

24



Weather Head — The point where overhead electrical wires from the utility connect to the home’s
service entrance. It is typically shaped to prevent rainwater from entering the conduit, protecting the

electrical connections from moisture.

13. Service Conditions

A. Description of Service

I. Available Voltages

1. Single phase 120/240-volt three wire or 120-volt two-wire service is available.

2. Three phases, four wire 120/208 volt, four wire 120/240 volt, or 277/480 volt may be made
available for commercial and industrial services. Three phase residential services are available at
ZBPW discretion.

3. Primary Voltage service at 7,200/12,470 volt, three phase, four wire, is available. All equipment
necessary for the protection of the Customer’s equipment and the control of electricity shall be
located on the Customer’s side of the Point of Interconnection and shall be furnished, installed,
and maintained by the Customer. Point of Interconnection shall be at the Customer’s electrical
connection to ZBPW’s metering equipment (Grounded Wye).

4. The ZBPW is not required to provide more than one electric service to a Customer’s premises. In
cases where ZBPW permits an additional electric service, the Customer shall pay the additional
costs involved.

5. If a Customer desires a three-phase voltage different from the established voltage in the area, it
may be furnished at the ZBPW’s option. In such cases, the Customer may incur extra costs
involved. In such cases where there is more than one established voltage in the area, the ZBPW
shall determine which voltage will be furnished and any applicable costs.

Il. Access to Premises

Employee(s) of ZBPW shall have the right to enter upon the Premises of any electric Customer at any

time during normal business hours for the purpose of meter examination, testing, changing and/or

25



moving any electrical equipment, meters, apparatus, and/or wiring, making a connected load count, or

measuring the Customer's maximum electric Demand.

Ill. Customer Responsibility—Electric Meters

Each Customer shall have the responsibility for installing electric metering sockets to permit ZBPW to
connect its meter or metering system to the city electric distribution system. The meter socket, meter, or
metering device shall be and remain Accessible to employees of ZBPW and must be maintained in front
of and to both sides of the meter for installation, operation, testing, and replacement. ZBPW may
promulgate additional rules and regulations regarding the technical requirements and specifications for

connection to metering devices.

In the event ZBPW should change its meters or implement an alternate meter reading system, the
Customer, upon not less than thirty (30) days' notice, shall arrange for the necessary electrical
installation, including but not limited to the replacement of electric meter sockets, in order to make the

Customer connection compatible with the new meters or alternate meter reading system.

ZBPW may offer an installment payment of costs or other financial incentive to the Customer for the
conversion of the Customer equipment in order to construct and install compatible metering sockets and
equipment for the meters or metering system of ZBPW. The terms of the installment payment of costs or
other financial incentive shall be incorporated into a resolution as adopted, from time to time, by the
Commissioners of Zeeland Board of Public Works and/or the Zeeland City Council, which shall specify the

assistance available to Customers.

In the event a Customer fails to pay for the conversion of the electric metering socket and/or
equipment, ZBPW shall have the right to enter on the Premises and arrange for such connection work to
be done and place a lien on the Customer Premises for such costs and installation. The installation of
necessary metering sockets shall be subject to all rights and remedies as permitted by law and charter

for the establishment and priority of a lien as permitted by law.

IV. Trimming of Trees and Obstructions

All vegetation maintenance performed by ZBPW follows pruning standards approved by the American

National Standards for Line Clearance. Our goal is to retain the health of trees and other vegetation, as

26



we clear lines to ensure Customer safety and system reliability. We strive to complete a tree trimming
maintenance cycle throughout our service area every three years in order to provide clearance for

power lines.

ZBPW shall have the right, privilege, and authority to trim trees, overhanging branches, hedges, shrubs,
or other obstructions which might endanger the safety or interfere with the construction, operation,
and maintenance of any poles, cross-arms, wires, conductors, insulators, or other electrical fixtures,
devices, or apparatus of ZBPW. By acceptance of electric service from ZBPW, each electric Customer
shall be deemed conclusively to have granted such right, privilege, and authority to ZBPW; and if any
electric Customer thereafter should challenge or object to the exercise of such service in the general
utility function of ZBPW, service to such Customer may be refused and/or discontinued for that reason

alone.

B. Right of Way and Easement Restoration

ZBPW utility equipment (fire hydrants, poles, transformers, etc.) is often located in the road right-of-way
or in easements provided on Customer property. Landscaping (lawns, shrubs, trees, flowers, plants,
stone, mulch, etc.) shall not be located so as to prevent access to ZBPW utility equipment. In the event
this policy is disregarded and installed landscaping is disturbed during the course of work to maintain
and/or replace ZBPW utility equipment, ZBPW shall not be held responsible for repair or replacement of
disturbed landscaping, trees, fencing, structures, or other items placed in the right of way. Restoration of
work to maintain, repair or replace components in the right of way or designated utility easement is
limited to replacement of any disturbed streets, driveways, curbs, sidewalks or parking lots and
reseeding of turf areas for erosion control. For designated utility easements restoration of paved
surfaces is limited to those incorporated into the easement or in existence at the time of execution of

the easement.

Trees and tree limbs can sometimes bring down poles and conductors during storms and severe weather.
When this happens, problem trees will be cut so ZBPW can make needed repairs to restore service. The
tree debris, brush and wood may be left on the Customer’s property during storm events. ZBPW does

not pick up brush or cut wood as a result of storm damage.

27



14. Use of Service

Electricity is supplied to a Customer for exclusive use on the premises to which it is delivered by ZBPW.
Service may not be shared with another, sold to another, or transmitted off the premises without

written permission of ZBPW.

Customers may install their own check meter for tenants, lessees, or other persons, to whom ultimately
the service is distributed in order to apportion the usage for monthly billing purposes. Additionally, the
renting of premises, with the cost of service included in the rental as an incident of tenancy, will not be

considered a resale of such services.

A. Customer Equipment

The Customer is responsible for ensuring that their wiring and equipment meet all the requirements of
the latest edition of the National Electric Code. ZBPW may deny or terminate service to any Customer
whose wiring or equipment constitutes a hazard to ZBPW employees, equipment, or its service to

others.

The Customer shall install and maintain the necessary devices to protect their equipment against service
interruptions, phase loss, variations in voltage and other disturbances in ZBPW electric transmission and
distribution system, as well as the necessary devices to protect ZBPW system equipment against

overload caused by the Customer’s equipment.

B. Equipment on Poles

It is the intent of ZBPW to provide a safe working environment for its employees and additional parties
with whom ZBPW has a pole attachment agreement by regulating the attachment of Customer-owned

equipment to ZBPW poles.

1. Customer-owned equipment shall not be installed on ZBPW poles for new installations.

2. ZBPW will furnish and install a service pedestal adjacent to the pole for connection to
Customer’s underground service conductors. The service pedestal will be the service point and

28



will be the demarcation point between the ZBPW distribution system and the Customer’s
underground facilities.

3. An external disconnect and internal/external protection device on Customer side of Point of
Interconnection is required.

Upon replacement of a pole, ZBPW, at its discretion, may either relocate Customer owned facilities to
the new pole, or remove the Customer owned facilities from the pole and establish the service point as
a service pedestal installed adjacent to the pole. ZBPW will inform the Customer of the needed

relocation and determine a mutually agreeable location for the Customer-owned equipment.

1. Customers shall obtain approval of the service point and meter location before starting
installation of a new or additional service entrance. ZBPW is responsible for installing the
underground service conductors from ZBPW service point to their service equipment.

2. Modifications to Customer owned facilities must comply with the requirements of the current
edition of the National Electric Code.

Any exceptions to the above requirements must be approved by ZBPW.

C. Power Quality

The Customer shall use the service so as not to cause interference, affect voltage, affect frequency, add
harmonics, or cause other disturbances to the ZBPW electric system or another Customer’s service. If
ZBPW notifies the Customer of such a condition, the Customer shall discontinue operation of equipment
causing such condition until a correction has been made. If the Customer does not remedy the condition
within ZBPW requested time frame, ZBPW will discontinue service until the Customer has remedied the

situation and has paid fees for investigations and reconnections.

The Customer will be charged for all costs associated with alterations to ZBPW electric system required
to continue proper operation in conjunction with the Customer’s equipment. In determining the
existence of disturbances, ZBPW will rely on the latest revision of all pertinent IEEE and ANSI Standards.
ZBPW may also use other appropriate standards or criteria in determining disturbances to the ZBPW

electric system.

29



D. Tampering with a Metering Device

An electric Customer of ZBPW shall not tamper with any ZBPW equipment; install or have installed any
wiring, connection, apparatus, or other device which prevents the electric meter or metering system
from registering or recording properly all energy used; or to be used; or which enables such Customer to
obtain or use any electric energy without the same having been registered properly by any electric

meter or metering device of ZBPW.

This section shall supplement and not be in lieu of any provision of state law, including but not limited to

MCL 750.282.

A Meter Tampering fee shall be charged in any instance where it is found that a meter or any part of
ZBPW owned electric equipment has been tampered with, regardless of if theft of electricity occurred or

not. This fee shall include both the cost of repair and an applicable service call charge.

15. Metering

A. General

All energy sold to Customers will be measured by a meter owned and maintained by ZBPW. In locations
where it is impractical to meter, such as street lighting or some temporary special installations,

consumption will be calculated and billed according to a ZBPW approved monthly rate.

B. Installation/Ownership

The Customer is responsible for installing and maintaining a metering socket(s). Approved one position
metering sockets will be provided to the Customer at no charge by ZBPW. ZBPW approved utility grade
metering sockets with two or more positions will be procured by the Customer (Sockets rated for more

that 200A will be procured by the Customer).

ZBPW shall maintain the transformer rated meters, sockets, potential and current transformers, and

metering cabinet.

30



Customers shall furnish, install, own, and maintain all other service equipment, wiring, and conduits

from the Weather Head of an overhead service connection or from the Point of Interconnection of an

underground service connection. See Section 15. I. Primary Metering guidelines for equipment

ownership details for primary metered Customers.

C. Metering Specifications

1.

120/240 Volt single phase service, 200 Ampere or less, shall use 4 jaw meter socket. 120/208
Volt single phase service, 200 Ampere or less, shall use 5 jaw meter socket with neutral terminal
fifth jaw in the 6 o’clock position in the meter socket. 400 Ampere service shall use class 320 self-
contained socket. If single phase service is needed greater than 400 Ampere, transformer
metering shall be installed.

120/208 Volt, 120/240 Volt, and 277/480 Volt three phase service, 200 Ampere or less, shall use
7 terminal self-contained meter socket. 400 Ampere service shall use class 320 - 7 terminal self-
contained socket. Services larger than 400 Ampere will be measured with instrument rated
meter at the Point of Interconnection with the Customer. All 3 phases must be supplied to the
meter socket for proper meter operation.

200A meter sockets shall be furnished by ZBPW. The Customer is responsible for installation,
wiring connections, and maintenance of the meter socket.

400 Ampere service shall use class 320 - 7 terminal self-contained socket provided by the
customer. The Customer is responsible for installation, wiring connections, and maintenance of
the meter socket.

Metering installations not covered by paragraphs 1, 2, 3, or 4 as shown above or variations to
the above specifications shall be approved in advance by the ZBPW Transmission and
Distribution Department.

D. Equipment Location

ZBPW requires that all electric metering devices be accessible for inspection and maintenance at any

time. As such, all metering equipment shall be located outdoors unless otherwise approved by ZBPW.

Metering equipment may not be behind debris, locked fences, gates, or obstructions. Decks, walls,

vegetation, or any obstruction are not permitted within 36 inches of any ZBPW electrical equipment per

the latest revision of the National Electric Code.

31



ZBPW may require metering equipment to be relocated if the current location does not meet

accessibility standards.

ZBPW may approve the installation of metering equipment indoors when there is no suitable outdoor

location. Indoor locations shall remain accessible to ZBPW and must be kept free of obstructions.
All metering locations shall meet the clearance requirements specified in the National Electric Code.

Meter sockets, meter connection boxes, and instrument transformer enclosures shall not be used as
junction boxes for supplying the Customer’s branch circuits or grounding conductor termination. No

wiring other than service entrance and bonding conductors shall be run through this equipment.

The height of a single meter panel shall not be less than three feet nor more than five and one-half feet

above finished grade or floor level.

For stacked multiple meter socket panels, the lowest meter shall not be less than two feet from the
floor for indoor locations. For outdoor locations, the installed meter centerlines shall be a minimum of
thirty inches from finished grade and a maximum of seventy-two inches from finished grade and shall

be limited to a maximum four-meter stack.

E. Multiple Occupancy Buildings

The metering equipment for multiple occupancy buildings, where several floors, apartments, stores, etc.
are rented separately, shall be grouped in a ZBPW approved location where they will be Accessible at all
times to ZBPW service employees. Metering equipment in multiple occupancy buildings shall be plainly
marked with permanent tags identifying the portion of the building served. Such identification is the
responsibility of the owner and must be verified prior to meter installation. If identification changes after
meter installation or verification does not occur, any billing discrepancies are the responsibility of the
owner. Refer to Section 14. Use of Service for further information on the prohibition of resale of

electricity in multiple occupancy buildings.

32



F. Separate Disconnect

Customers shall provide a separate disconnect for utility and emergency purposes for each service that
is not a self-contained metered service in multi-occupancy buildings that are installed or upgraded after
January 1, 2019. The disconnect shall be Accessible to emergency and utility personnel, capable of
interrupting the Customer Load, and lockable by the utility. The disconnect and access to it shall be

maintained by the property owner.

Transformer rated services without separate disconnects that are delinquent accounts shall provide a
separate disconnect within 90 days of disconnection notice. Failure to do so will result in discontinuation

of services until remedied.

G. Meter Calibration Request

Upon Customer request and subject to applicable fees, ZBPW may check meter calibration to ensure it is
within the permitted accuracy limits of plus or minus two percent. Inaccurate meters will be repaired or

replaced.

H. Damaged Meter

The Customer shall be held liable for damage to the meter from acts of carelessness, negligence, or
willful damage. This includes damage caused by ice buildup or falling ice. ZBPW will repair or replace any

meter so damaged, and the cost shall be billed to the Customer.

I. Primary Metering Guidelines

Customers served with Primary Voltages choose to own and maintain their transformer(s). Customers
with individual services requiring transformation above 1,000 kVA are required to be primary metered.

The following guidelines will apply:

I. Zeeland Board of Public Works Responsibilities

ZBPW will furnish, install and maintain the primary service and metering equipment and cabinet in

accordance with the applicable rates and extension policies. “Primary Service” is defined as the utility’s

33



overhead drop or underground lateral conductors from the last pole, switchgear or other ZBPW

structure to the Customer’s property line.

ZBPW shall install the primary service to the Customer’s property line or pre-determined location and
make final connections at the metering cabinet or overhead rack. Primary metering may be pad

mounted or on a Riser Pole (as specified by the ZBPW).

Il. Primary Metering Customer

The Customer shall apply to ZBPW for proposed primary service and obtain approval of the location,
equipment, and design before starting installation of the service entrance. Customers shall submit a plan
view drawing of the installation and shop drawings of switchgear to ZBPW for approval prior to finalizing

orders for service equipment to avoid delays and unnecessary expense for the Customer and ZBPW.

Service entrance equipment located at the service point shall include a three-phase, gang-operated load
break disconnection means and overcurrent protection. The disconnect shall be located to provide

visible open and operating capabilities to both the Customer and ZBPW.

Any exceptions to the above requirements must be approved by ZBPW.

34



The Customer shall furnish and install cables up to the metering cabinet, as specified in the

/—Customer Switch
/

ZBPW Meter Cabinet / /—Custorr_ler
A y Protective

Device / Fuse

JERL J] I

ZBPW 12.47kV Feed / Mustomer Feed ustomer Load

i

"APPLICATION FOR AN EXTENSION OF ELECTRIC LINES" contract. A two-hole NEMA standard lug shall be

provided for each conductor including the neutral bus.

J. Transformer Purchase Procedure

In the event that a ZBPW Customer would like to purchase a ZBPW-owned transformer, the following

guidelines are established.

1. Inthe event that an ZBPW Customer is without electricity due to failure of a Customer owned
transformer, the Customer may purchase a transformer from the ZBPW inventory in order to
restore Power to their facility, as long as there is adequate inventory to meet ZBPW system
needs. ZBPW will then order an equivalent replacement to replenish inventory and the Customer
will pay for the replacement transformer including sales tax, delivery charges and 10% service
charge.

2. If a Customer desires to purchase a ZBPW-owned transformer that is currently in service at the
Customer’s site, ZBPW may offer the transformer for sale to the Customer for the fair market
value of the unit. The market value will be determined by ZBPW based upon the value of used
transformers that are currently for sale, but the value shall not be less than 25 percent of the
price of the unit when it was purchased new. If the Customer accepts the market price and
documents the intent to purchase, ZBPW will declare the transformer surplus and offer it for sale
to the Customer for the established price plus any sales tax that may be required.

35



3. ZBPW provides no guarantee or warranty on the transformer unit or its installation. All Customer
owned primary metered and transformer installations must comply with ZBPW primary metering
policy and National Electric Code requirements. The Customer is responsible for transformer size
requirements and may be required to replace the transformer in order to comply with the
National Electric Code.

16. Selection of Rates

The Customer will be placed on the rate schedule deemed appropriate by the ZBPW for the applicable
class of service. This classification may not necessarily result in the lowest available rate for the
Customer. Commercial and Industrial rate (e.g., Rates B, C, and D) determinations are based on the
average or peak demand, load factor, annual energy consumption, time-of-use patterns, power factor,
voltage level of service, and other relevant usage characteristics. Rate assignment will occur at the time

service is initiated, or within a reasonable time after a change of account or a new service request.

In some cases, a Customer may be eligible to receive service under two or more applicable rates. ZBPW
will evaluate the options and determine the rate based on the best information available at the time.

The final responsibility for selecting the appropriate rate rests solely with ZBPW.

In the event a Customer is eligible for more than one rate, they may not change from the assigned rate
to another until at least twelve (12) months have elapsed. This restriction may not be circumvented by
temporarily terminating service. ZBPW may waive this provision if it determines that a rate change is

necessary for a permanent rather than temporary or seasonal advantage.

No credits or back-billed amounts will be issued when rates are changed. The new rate will become

effective as of the date the change is implemented.

A. Residential Electric Vehicle Charging

ZBPW offers rebates for residential Level 2 EV chargers through the ZBPW Retail Energy Improvement
Program (to comply with the Clean and Renewable Energy and Energy Waste Reduction Act, 2008 Public
Act (“PA”) 295, MCL 460.1001 et seq., as amended).

The Time-of-Use Rate for Residential Customers possessing a Plug-In Electric Vehicle is a required rate for

all Customers receiving a rebate from ZBPW for a Level 2, 240V AC, Electric Vehicle (EV) charger installed

36



at their residence. The rate shall be applied to energy use during on, mid, and off-peak time periods as

defined on the approved rate sheet.

Level 2 charging is defined as providing 208-240-volt single phase alternating current energy to an
onboard battery of an electric motor vehicle that is registered and operable on public highways in the
State of Michigan. Low-speed electric vehicles, including golf carts, are not eligible to take service under

this rate, even if licensed to operate on public streets.

Customers shall not back-feed or transmit stored energy from the electric vehicle’s battery to ZBPW'’s

distribution system.

B. Non-Residential Electric Vehicle Charging

Electric vehicle chargers owned by Customers for commercial purposes shall be installed on either the
Customer’s internal electric system, where the Customer’s rate shall apply to all energy usage provided
to the charging stations, or under a separately metered commercial electric vehicle charging service as

described in the Commercial Electric Vehicle Charging Station Rate EVC.

The provision of electric vehicle charging service for which there is no direct per kWh charge shall not

be considered resale of service as described in Section 14.

17. Distribution Line Extensions

A Line Extension Policy by which Zeeland Board of Public Works will extend electric lines and facilities to
serve Applicants that have made a written application for electric service within the retail service area of

the Zeeland Board of Public Works is as follows:

1. Inthe event that upgrading, construction, or extension of facilities is required to provide service
to the Applicant, the Zeeland Board of Public Works will furnish the facilities required, but not to
exceed a cost greater than the allowable construction credit established for the service
classification being applied for, unless the Customer makes an in-aid-to-construction
contribution.

37



engineering, and labor, including administration overheads, fringe benefits, and the costs of
service transformers and metering equipment, needed to complete the construction to the
service point for the Customer. Charges for service conductor and installation as well as the
connection fee (if applicable) shall be separately assessed. The estimated construction
investment will include only the non-betterment costs of the construction required to provide

The estimated construction investment shall include the costs of materials, equipment,

service to the Customer. A non-betterment cost excludes the costs of replacement or addition of

facilities solely for the benefit and at the election of the Zeeland Board of Public Works.

Construction” contribution. The in-aid-to-construction contribution will be determined as the
monetary difference of the non-betterment portion of the estimated construction investment

less the allowable construction credit established by this policy.

a. The service furnished to a Customer of the Zeeland Board of Public Works is subject to
the following maximum contributions to serve the load. Cost in excess of the amounts

Where the estimated construction investment exceeds the established allowable construction
credit, the Zeeland Board of Public Works will receive from the Customer an “In-Aid-To-

The allowable construction credits established by this policy are as follows:

listed below are subject to an in-aid-to-construction contribution.

Maximum Utility

Investment per

Rate Class Customer Key
Residential S 2,021 Res
Residential Development 1,527 Res

General Secondary (B) 0.132 Per Annual kWh
General Secondary (C) 23.46 Per Annual kW
C&Il Primary (D) 11.01 Per Annual kW
Commercial Charging Secondary servid 13.99 Per Annual kW
Commrcial Charging Primary v 11.67 Per Annual kW
Economic Development Rider

General Secondary (C) 20.87 Per Annual kW
C&I Primary (D) 9.85 Per Annual kW

5. Customers who make connections under this policy are required to sign a five-year contract with

the Zeeland Board of Public Works for service under the proposed rate. Customers are not

allowed to change rates during the five-year period without prior approval of the Zeeland Board

38



of Public Works. The Zeeland Board of Public Works may assess a charge equal to the difference
between the amount of time serviced under the rate and the remaining time on the five-year

contract:

For Example: If the initial cost of connection was $10,000 and Customer(s) disconnect(s) after
four years, the following charge will be assessed: 1/5 times 10,000 = $2,000 charge to the

Customer.

6. Customers with an existing service who are requesting an upgrade of the facilities to serve
additional load, the Zeeland Board of Public Works will contribute the following amounts based

on the additional (new) load.

(Amount times the estimated annual usage of new load)

Utility
Rate Class Investment Basis
Residential S 0.2267 Per Annual kWh
Residential Development 0.1713 Per Annual kWh
General Secondary (B) 0.1315 Per Annual kWh
General Secondary (C) 23.46 Per Annual kW
C&Il Primary (D) 11.01 Per Annual kW
Commercial Charging Secondary Servic 13.99 Per Annual kW
Commrcial Charging Primary 11.67 Per Annual kW
Economic Development Rider
General Secondary (C) 20.87 Per Annual kW
C&I Primary (D) 9.85 Per Annual kW

7. A development period of five (5) years will apply to all extensions which require an in-aid-to-
construction contribution. This five-year development period will commence with the date

service is first supplied to the Customer.

The General Manager shall be responsible for administration of this policy for Zeeland Board of Public

Works investment below $100,000. Zeeland Board of Public Works investments exceeding $100,000 shall

require approval of the Board of Commissioners.

39



The Board of Commissioners of the Zeeland Board of Public Works shall be responsible for the periodic

review of this program to determine if the policy continues to meet the objectives of the City of Zeeland.

A. Residential

ZBPW will install, own, and maintain all electric lines and equipment up to the Weather Head of the

building.

The Customer will install, own, and maintain the secondary service from the Weather Head through the
electric meter and all internal residential wiring. The Customer or their representative will provide all
needed easements for the line extension. In addition, they must provide specifications on electric

Loads, site plans, and other information needed to properly install service.

Who Owns What?

When damages occur, who is responsible for making repairs?

Homeownars
Equipment

VS.

Meter: Measures the amount of electricity your home consumes, typically in kilowatt-hours (kwWh).

Utilities use meter readings to determine your monthly bill.

40



Meter Socket: The mounting device or enclosure on the exterior of your home where the electric meter
is installed. It connects the incoming power lines to your home’s electrical system and securely holds the

meter in place.

Padmounted Transformer: A ground-level, enclosed transformer used in underground utility systems. It
reduces high-voltage electricity from distribution lines to a lower voltage suitable for residential or

commercial use.

Pole-Mounted Transformer: Typically mounted on a utility pole and steps down high-voltage electricity

from distribution lines to a lower voltage suitable for residential or commercial use.
Service Line: Delivers electricity from the utility’s distribution system to the customer’s meter.

Service Mast: The vertical metal conduit or pipe mounted on your home that carries overhead electrical

wires down to the meter. It provides a secure and protected path for electrical service entrance wires.

Service Panel (Breaker Box): The central point inside your home where incoming electricity is divided

into individual circuits. It contains circuit breakers or fuses that protect each electrical circuit.

Weather Head: The point where overhead electrical wires from the utility connect to the home's service
entrance. It is typically shaped to prevent rainwater from entering the conduit, protecting the electrical

connections from moisture.

B. Commercial and Industrial

ZBPW will install, own, and maintain the electric lines and equipment up to the Point of

Interconnection.

The Customer will install, own, and maintain the electric lines and equipment from the Point of

Interconnection through the wiring in their facility.

The Customer or their representative will provide all needed easements for the service extension. In
addition, they must provide specifications on electric Loads, site plans, and other information needed to

properly install service.

41



C. Underground Extensions

All new and upgraded services shall be underground, unless determined by ZBPW.

l. Residential

ZBPW will install, own, and maintain all electric lines and equipment up to and including the service

pedestal. This equipment shall include, but not be limited to, the primary distribution cable, transformer,

transformer pad, secondary cable to the pedestal, secondary cable to the meter socket and the
distribution pedestal. Equipment shall be located in the right-of-way, the Customer’s property, or on an
easement on the Customer’s property as prescribed by the ZBPW Transmission & Distribution

Department.

The Customer will install, own, and maintain the secondary service from electric meter socket, through

their electric meter and all wiring beyond that point.

The Customer will provide all needed easements. The Customer will also provide specifications on all

electric Loads, site plans, grading, and any other underground lines.

1. For mobile homes in parks with individual services, ZBPW will own, install, and maintain an
underground service to its termination in a ZBPW meter socket. (See diagram below)

2. The socket will normally be mounted on a supporting structure, referred to as a pedestal. The
pedestal is owned, installed, and maintained by the mobile home park owner, along with the
required service disconnect box.

3. The pedestal and its location must have prior design approval from ZBPW.

4. ZBPW will furnish the meter socket and any service conduit to the meter socket for pedestal
installation.

5. Pre-manufactured pedestals must be pre-approved before installing.

6. Individual mobile homes, basement homes, well houses, and other structures as designated by
the ZBPW, require a customer-owned service pedestal or pole to support the ZBPW'’s service
conductors, Customer’s service conductors, and equipment and the ZBPW’s meter.

42



7. For mobile homes attached to a permanent foundation that are considered a permanent
dwelling, a metering pedestal is not required, and the meter socket shall be attached to the
permanent structure as required by the ZBPW.

Mobile Home Electrical Metering Standard

2" PIPE —

= \ ZBPW
—Ll METER _\
Or—

MTA U
A
A
HAIE _=I_|_I': AT TR
/T i
¥
T T A ~ e
~ 7
ONCRETE — -
NE/E
4
| )

Installation Notes:

1. Minimum burial depth for conduit shall comply with NEC requirements.

2. Concrete footing minimum: 2" deep x 6" diameter.

3. Conduits shall be Schedule 40 PVC unless noted.

4. Galvanized support pipe: 3’ min. embedded above concrete footing.

5. Meter & disconnect height: 3'6™-5’ above grade.

6. All installations shall comply with NEC and ZBPW specifications.

7. ZBPW will provide 200A meter socket and 2" conduit necessary for service entrance.

Revision History

Version Description

08/29/2025 1.0 Initial Release

43



Il. Commercial and Industrial

ZBPW will install, own, and maintain electric lines and equipment up to and including the transformer.
Any ZBPW owned three phase pad mounted transformer shall be located within 25 feet of a drivable
surface suitable for truck access. A drivable surface suitable for truck access shall be defined as asphalt
paving, concrete, or a gravel four season road that is provided by the Customer or developer, where the
surface is Accessible to a driveway, parking lot, or public roadway. If the Customer chooses to own their
transformer, ZBPW will install, own, and maintain electric lines and equipment up to and including a

metering cabinet that is installed on the primary side of the transformer.

The Customer will install, own, and maintain all secondary service conductors and equipment from the
transformer serving their facility. If the Customer owns this transformer, the Customer will install, own,

and maintain all conductors and equipment from the primary metering cabinet to their facility.

The Customer will provide acceptable easements. The Customer will also provide specifications on
electric Loads, site plans, grading, and any other information needed in order to properly install

underground lines.

D. Trenching and Duct

The owner, developer, or Customer shall be required to provide, at no expense to ZBPW, rough grading
(within six inches of finished grade) prior to the installation of ZBPW'’s facilities so that underground
electric distribution system and street lighting cables can be properly installed in relation to the finished
grade. Owner, developer, or Customer shall install and maintain permanent survey stakes indicating
property lines, at no expense to ZBPW, after rough grading, and prior to the installation of ZBPW

facilities.

18. Temporary Services

ZBPW will provide temporary electric service for construction purposes, shows, vendors, events, and
other non-recurring purposes in accordance with the following terms: Temporary service cannot be used

as a permanent service or be connected for more than one year. Temporary connections lasting more

44



than one year must receive prior approval by ZBPW as part of the application for service process. ZBPW

has the right to determine whether the temporary service is overhead or underground.

A. Guidelines

1.

Application for temporary service must be made by the property owner or building contractor if
for construction purposes. A valid address for the temporary service and the permanent billing
address of the Customer must be provided.

The requesting Customer will be responsible for installation and line extension fees. Usage will
be billed to the Customer under an applicable ZBPW rate.

All temporary installations must be inspected for code compliance prior to being energized.
ZBPW must receive notice of the inspection from the recognized inspection agency. Customers
will inform ZBPW when the service may be disconnected. cants will provide access, easements,
specifications on electrical Loads, site plans, or any additional information needed to properly
install and provide temporary service.

ZBPW must approve the service location.

B. Underground Installation Specifications

1.

ZBPW will own and maintain the service pedestal or pad mount transformer from which
temporary service will be provided. ZBPW will make the final connection of the Customers
underground service conductors in the pedestal or transformer.

The Customer will furnish and install underground service conductors from the service to the
ZBPW pedestal or transformer. The conductors must be of sufficient length to reach the supply
terminals of ZBPW equipment.

Conductors must be installed and buried within one (1) foot of the pedestal or transformer.

The Customer will have existing underground utilities located before the installation of the
underground temporary service or conductors by calling the “MISS DIG” one-call locating system
at 1-800-482-7171.

C. Temporary Service Fees

1.

Where overhead service can be supplied from existing facilities by installation of a single span of
service drop conductors, or underground service can be supplied from an existing pedestal or
transformer, a temporary electric service charge will be billed to the Customer.

45



2. Where it is necessary to install a temporary overhead transformer to provide service, a
temporary overhead transformer charge will be billed to the Customer.

3. Where it is necessary to install a temporary pad mounted transformer to provide service, a
temporary pad mounted transformer charge will be billed to the Customer.

4. Temporary installations not covered in paragraphs 1 through 3 above shall require a ZBPW
Electric Transmission & Distribution engineering estimate to determine cost of providing service.
The Customer will be charged for the installation and removal of the required temporary line
extension.

5. Where a portion of a temporary line installation can be used as part of a permanent line
extension, the cost of that portion will be evaluated as a permanent line extension subject to
ZBPW Distribution System Extension section above.

19. Relocation of Utility Facilities

It is the intent of ZBPW to cooperate with public and private developers in relocating its electric facilities
within a public right-of-way or existing easement when requested by a developer. The cost for such
relocation shall be borne by the developer, shared with the developer, or absorbed by ZBPW as

determined in the following guidelines.

1. ZBPW shall relocate its facilities consistent with the request provided that the relocation can be
accomplished within approved design standards and governing codes. ZBPW shall not be
obligated to relocate its facilities inconsistent with such standards and codes.

2. Private developers shall be responsible for the full cost, including administrative and overhead
costs, for the relocation of ZBPW facilities within public rights-of-way or existing easement.
When facility relocation is requested as part of a new development that will generate new
revenue for ZBPW, and the relocation is authorized by ZBPW engineering personnel as being
required to complete the project, the relocation costs will be considered as part of the
installation costs and will be addressed by Line Extension Policy in Section 17. Any relocation that
is cosmetic in nature or of a personal preference, and not required for the delivery of electricity,
is solely the responsibility of the developer.

3. ZBPW shall absorb the cost of relocation when requested by the unit of government responsible

for the public right-of-way or existing easement in order for that unit of government to carry out
a general public improvement.

46



4. The cost of relocation of ZBPW facilities in the public right-of-way or existing easement shall be
borne by the government unit requesting the relocation if the development is for proprietary
purposes as opposed to governmental purposes.

5. If the unit of government forces ZBPW out of the right-of-way or existing easement, the cost of
the relocation shall be borne by the governmental unit.

A. Street Lighting

ZBPW may install street lighting in areas served by its distribution system subject to the governing
entity’s approval, ZBPW approved standards, and the ZBPW rate schedule. ZBPW may provide
underground street lighting in areas directly served by underground distribution systems according to

the following rules:

1. ‘Where\applicable, street lighting facilities including standards, luminaires, cables, and associated

facilities will be installed after curb and gutter installation.
2. Underground conduits shall be installed under all drivable surfaces.

3. Where applicable, a reasonable effort should be made by the governing entity and its contractor
to coordinate the installation of conduits during road and driveway construction.

4. Conduits will be installed across all quadrants of intersections where streetlights are proposed at
locations to be specified by the ZBPW Transmission & Distribution Department. ZBPW'’s
Transmission & Distribution Department may reduce or increase the number of conduits to meet
the conditions of the system or site.

5. Where concrete is continuous between curb and sidewalk and or property line, conduits shall be
installed from light to light. Handholes will be installed at each light standard. The number of
conduits installed will be specified by ZBPW’s Transmission & Distribution Department.

6. Standards and poles will be installed three (3) feet behind the back of curb or drivable surface
and six (6) feet from any curb radius or driveway. Exceptions shall be approved by ZBPW'’s
Transmission & Distribution Department.

47

///[ Commented [AB5]: Match font for numerals.




B. Security Lighting

Upon a Customer’s request, ZBPW will install security light(s) on a Customer’s property, at a fixed

monthly rate, subject to the following rules. Rates and service definition can be found in the ZBPW rate

schedules.

ZBPW will furnish and install a complete dusk-to-dawn lighting fixture, including one span of wire
not exceeding 160 feet, without the Customer incurring an installation charge. Distances greater
than 160 feet of wire and/or requiring pole will be charged to the Customer as an installation
charge. The unit will be controlled by a photoelectric cell. Switches are not permitted. Any
applicable state and federal taxes will be added to the Customer fees indicated in the rate
schedule. No discount will apply for security lights.

. The Customer will grant an easement, at no cost to ZBPW, for necessary pole(s) and the right of
ingress and egress to service the lighting unit.

. The Customer will agree to pay the monthly charges indicated in the rate schedule for a
minimum of forty-eight (48) months. If the service is disconnected at the Customer’s request at
any time in that forty-eight (48) month period, the balance that would be billed for the
remaining portion of that minimum period will become immediately due. The amount due will
be calculated as the number of months remaining multiplied by the monthly rate in effect at the
time of the disconnection.

20. Use of Electric Poles and
Equipment

ZBPW'’s poles, wires, and equipment, together with any interconnections thereof, are the exclusive
property of ZBPW, and the service connection of a Customer’s premises to them does not entitle the

Customer to any use of them, except as permitted by the ZBPW and as necessary for the delivery of

ZBPW'’s service to the Customer.

The use of any part of ZBPW'’s electric distribution system without prior ZBPW approval is expressly

prohibited.

48



A. Authorized Attachments

ZBPW may enter into a pole attachment agreement providing joint use of certain of its poles. The use of
any pole by anyone without first having entered into a written agreement with ZBPW is prohibited. Any
applicant desiring to attach to a ZBPW pole must follow the pole attachment application processes and
pole make ready processes of the ZBPW, complete the applications, sign required agreements and agree
to pay all reasonable and established charges. Processes, applications, and agreements are available
upon request. Only approved and certified contractors are authorized to attach equipment on ZBPW

poles.

B. Unauthorized Use and Removal

The unauthorized attachment (including painting or marking) of any signs, banners, lines, cables,

equipment, or any other matter to ZBPW'’s poles or equipment is prohibited.

Authorization may be granted by ZBPW designated representative based upon purposes permitted by
Michigan state law and requirements of governmental authority for the health, safety, or welfare of the

general public.

ZBPW may remove or cause to be removed, without notice, any unauthorized foreign matter from its
poles at the expense of the Customer, the person(s) attaching the unauthorized matter or, in the event
neither can be identified, the individual, firm, or organization which appears to be the primary sponsor,
user or beneficiary of the unauthorized matter. ZBPW will observe reasonable precautions to prevent

any damage resulting from such removal but will not be liable for any damage thereto.

21. PURPA Qualifying Facilities

The ZBPW permits Customers to install distributed generation systems that meet the requirements of
the Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act of 1978 (PURPA). All installations shall conform to the latest

applicable rules specifying terms, conditions and interconnection requirements.

49



A. Availability

Applies to Customers who own and/or operate an Electric Power generating facility using cogeneration
or fuels derived from biomass, waste, or renewable energy sources, and which is a ‘Qualifying Facility’

(QF) as prescribed by rules of PURPA.

ZBPW may, at its own discretion, limit the cumulative total nameplate generating capacity of all QFs

interconnected to the distribution system.

B. Application and Enrollment

Customer shall make a formal application for interconnecting a QF by completing an application available
via the ZBPW. In addition to submitting an interconnect application, the Customer must pay required

application fees and agree to pay all ZBPW costs associated with evaluating and interconnecting the QF.

After ZBPW has completed the evaluation with an interconnection study, and approved the proposed
interconnection, the Customer will be required to enter into an “Interconnection and Operating

Agreement.”

C. Interconnection Requirements

The interconnection must be in compliance with PURPA and Federal Energy Regulatory Commission
(FERC) rules and regulations. ZBPW shall own and install any interconnection facilities on the utility side
of the meter required for the QF. However, costs associated with the installation and maintenance of
the QF, including the interconnection evaluation, costs of connection, switching and metering,
transmission and distribution, safety provisions, control devices, and any administration costs incurred
by ZBPW directly related to the installation and maintenance of the QF are the responsibility of the
Customer. Additionally, the Customer shall pay for the actual cost of relocating and/or rearranging

existing facilities to allow interconnected QFs.

The QF shall be subject, at all reasonable times, to an inspection by an ZBPW authorized representative
and shall comply with the electrical parameters identified in the latest edition of The Institute of
Electrical and Electronic Engineers “Standards for Interconnecting Distributed Resources with Electric

Power Systems” (IEEE Standard 1547). This includes, but is not limited to, requirements related to

50



voltage regulation, reactive power capability and power factor control, frequency regulation, voltage
and frequency ride-through performance, protection coordination and fault detection, synchronization,
grounding methods, harmonic distortion limits, electromagnetic interference, islanding detection and

prevention, and interoperability and communication capabilities.

The QF must cease parallel operation upon notification by the ZBPW during system outages and other
emergency or abnormal conditions if such operation is determined to be unsafe, interferes with the

supply of service to others, or interferes with system operation or maintenance. In the event that the
QF damages ZBPW'’s system, the Customer shall be solely responsible for all costs associated with the

repair and/or replacement of the damaged portion or equipment.

The ZBPW shall not be liable to the Customer or any other person for any loss, injury, damage, casualty,
fees or penalties, asserted on the basis of any theory, arising from, related to or caused by the
construction, installation, operation, maintenance or repair of the QF, and associated equipment and
wiring, except to the extent of its own gross negligence or willful misconduct, but only to the extent
permitted by law. Neither by inspection nor non-rejection nor in any other way does the ZBPW give any
warranty, expressed or implied as to the adequacy, safety or other characteristics of any equipment,

wiring or devices, installed on the Customer's premises, including the QF.

The Customer shall indemnify and hold harmless the ZBPW, its commissioners, managers, employees,
agents, consultants, attorneys and assigns from and against any and all losses, claims, damages, costs,
demands, fines, judgments, penalties, payments and liabilities, together with any costs and expenses
(including attorneys’ fees) incurred in connection with, resulting from, relating to or arising out of the
construction, installation, operation, maintenance and repair of the QF, including the Customer’s failure
to comply with the Interconnection requirements or any abnormality or failure in the operation of the

QF, or any adverse impact to the ZBPW's system or its other Customers.

D. Standby Service

Qualifying Facilities under this section may elect to purchase any or all standby services at the rates

described below.

51



6. Standby Rate (SB) — Monthly charge applied to the subscribed nameplate capacity (kW) of QF for
which ZBPW provides back up service.

7. Supplemental Power (SP) — Monthly charge based upon Customer’s rate due to QF not
providing, on a regular basis, all Power requirements

8. Maintenance Power/Unscheduled Outages (MP) — Daily charge on kW for subscribed
nameplate capacity if Customer schedules maintenance during the On-Peak time period.

22. Zeeland Board of Public Works
Fee Schedule

Miscellaneous Charges

Type Charge When applied

Non-sufficient funds (NSF) charge $30.00 Per occurrence

Service Transfer Fee $10.00 (water) New account assessed at 1°t billing

$15.00 (electric)

Electric Utility

Fees and Charges

Type During (?) Charge Charge

M-F 7:30 a.m. — 3:30 p.m. | After 3:30 p.m.

Reconnection fee for non- | Disconnect $55.00 $90.00
payment
Reconnect $55.00 $90.00

52



Reconnection fee for Disconnect $100.00 $100.00
meter tampering

Reconnect $100.00 $100.00
Voluntary disconnect fee | Disconnect Up to $55.00 $75.00
(each occurrence) Reconnect $55.00 $75.00
Description When Applied Charge Per
Meter Tampering When discovered. $500.00 -

(Damaged equipment will
result in additional
charge for the meter plus
Meter Tampering

Charge.)

Damaged Meter

When discovered.

Materials and labor costs

Temporary service fee

$110.00 plus electricity
cost. Additional charges
possible to cover

construction costs.

Each service installation

Flat Rate Service

Non-Residential services
that Zeeland BPW
determines meet flat rate
criteria. (Streetlights,
Cable Boosters, Tornado

Sirens, etc.)

Varies - based on cost to

serve

Each service installation

Non-transmitting meter

provision

Residential customers

may have the option to

$110.00 one-time initial

fee

Waived in circumstances
where provision applies

to both electric and water

53



choose a non-

transmitting meter.

$10.00 per month

meters at the same

location.

Customer-requested
service investigation or

meter reading

$110.00

No charge for any valid

metering issue.

Each occurrence

Electric Utility

Fees and Charges (continued)

Description

When Applied

Charge

Security deposit — Residential

For each rental unit acct without
landlord affidavit of billing
responsibility and

lease/regulations copy

$100.00

For each rental unit account with
a landlord affidavit of billing
responsibility and

lease/regulations copy

$200.00

For each residential customer
following each reconnect

occurrence for non-payment

$100.00

Security deposit —

Commercial/Industrial

ZBPW may require a security
deposit for Commercial and

Industrial accounts

Two (2) times average monthly

billing

54



Winter construction premium (all

To all underground installation

$1.75 per foot additional charge

services) charges between November 15
and April 1
Pole attachment fee Annual fee Per pole attachment agreement

Single family residential service

Description

When Applied

Charge

Overhead distribution to overhead

service

New service when requested by

customer

$200.00 connection fee plus wire
over 100 feet and equipment

charges

Underground service

New service or existing overhead
to underground service
conversion - when requested by

customer

$200.00 connection fee & $5.64
per trench foot or $10.64 per

boring foot

Mobile home (within mobile home

park)

New service when requested by
customer and within mobile home

park

$200.00 connection fee—ZBPW

installs wire to service point

Multi-family residential service

New service—Developer furnishes

$100.00 per unit connection fee

(2—4 units) and installs wire from meter(s) to
service point $100.00 per unit connection fee
plus $8.38 per trench foot or
New service — ZBPW furnishes and $12.43 per boring foot.
installs wire from meter(s) to
service point.
Commercial / Industrial Service
Description When Applied Charge

55



Overhead distribution to overhead

service

New single phase service when

requested by customer

$250.00 connection fee plus wire
over 100 feet and equipment

charges

New three-phase service when

requested by customer

$400.00 connection fee plus wire
over 100 feet and equipment

charges

Overhead distribution to

underground service

New service single-phase when

requested by customer

$250.00 connection fee $8.38 per
trench foot or $12.43 per boring

foot

New service three-phase when

requested by customer

$450.00 connection fee &
$14.07per trench foot or $19.27

per boring foot

Existing service single-phase
change when requested by

customer

$250.00 connection fee & $8.38
per trench foot or $12.43 per

boring foot

Existing service three-phase
change when requested by

customer

$450.00 connection fee & $14.07
per trench foot or $19.27 per

boring foot

Relocations, damages, etc.

Requested relocations and/or

damages

At cost

Underground distribution to

underground service

New service single-phase when

requested by customer

$250.00 connection fee plus $8.38
per trench foot or $12. 43 per

boring foot

New service three-phase when

requested by customer

$500.00 connection fee plus
$14.07 per trench foot or $19.27

per boring foot

56



Existing service single-phase
change when requested by

customer

$250.00 connection fee & $8.38
per trench foot or $12.43 per

boring foot

Existing service three-phase
change when requested by

customer

$500.00 connection fee & $14.07
per trench foot or $19.27 per

boring foot

57




MICHIGAN PRO
INSURANCE A

Agenda for the Michigan Professional Insurance Authority (MPIA)
1:00 p.m. — Tuesday, October 28, 2025
Grand Haven Board of Light & Power Offices
Administrative Office Board Room
1700 Eaton, Grand Haven, Mi

1. Call to Order

2. Acceptance of Agenda*

3. Approval of May 22, 2025 MPIA Meeting Minutes*

4. Election of Officers*

5. Finance Discussion

a.
b.

C.

Audit Report* — Eric VanDop, Partner, Brickley DelLong
Investment Review — Andrew Khosrofian, Assistant Vice President, Portfolio
Manager & Analyst, Diamond Capital Investment
FY 2025 Financial Statement Review* - Kevin Plockmeyer, Treasurer Designee
i.  Balance Sheet for Period Ending September 30, 2025
ii. Income Statement for Period Ending September 30, 2025
iii. FY 2025 Budget to Actual Review for Period Ending September 30,
2025
iv.  Grand Haven Income Statement for Period Ending September 30, 2025
v. Zeeland Income Statement for Period Ending September 30, 2025

6. Management Review

a.

b.

C.

Review of Insurance Renewals - Ken Bush, Managing Member, Risk Financing
Analysts, LLC

Conflict of Interest and Ethics Declaration — Board Members to Sign

Provided Form

Day to day operations review — Kevin Plockmeyer

7. Other Business

a.
b.

"0 Qo

Accept DFIS Audit Report and Plan of Action* — Kevin Plockmeyer

Accept ZBPW Claim Estimate for September 20, 2025 Storm Damage* - Kevin
Plockmeyer

Designation of Deputy Secretary and Deputy Treasurer* - Ken Bush

Establish Operations Committee* - Ken Bush

Transmission and Distribution Facilities Valuation Update — Ken Bush

Next meeting date

8. Public Comment Period

9. Review of Claims

a.
b.

Enter Closed Session (Roll Call Vote)*
End Closed Session (Roll Call Vote)*

10. Adjournment

* denotes Board action requested



MICHIGAN PROFESSIONAL INSURANCE AUTHORITY
MINUTES
OCTOBER 28, 2025

Location: 1700 Eaton Drive, Grand Haven, MI 49417

Time Called to Order: 1:00 pm

Present: Directors Boatright, Cooney, and Shelley.

Absent: Director Westbrook.

Others Present: BLP Finance Manager Lynn Diffell, City of Zeeland Assistant City
Manager/Finance Director Kevin Plockmeyer, City of Zeeland Lead Accountant Detra
Telgenhof, BLP Administrative Services Supervisor Danielle Martin, Ken Bush of Risk
Financing Analysts, Eric VanDop of Brickley DeLLong, and Andrew Khosrofian, David
Franklin, and Theresa Walker (remotely) of Diamond Capital Management.

1.

Acceptance of Agenda

Motion to approve the meeting agenda.
Moved: Cooney Supported: Shelley Motion Carried Unanimously.

Approval of Minutes
Motion to approve the May 22, 2025 meeting minutes.

Moved: Shelley Supported: Cooney Motion Carried Unanimously.

Election of Officers
Motion to elect Rob Shelley as Chair/Secretary and Andrew Boatright as Vice
Chair/Treasurer.

Moved: Cooney Supported: Shelley Motion Carried Unanimously.

Audit Report
Motion to accept and file the audit report.

Moved: Boatright Supported: Shelley Motion Carried Unanimously.

Informational Item
Andrew Khosrofian, David Franklin and Theresa Walker of Diamond Capital
Management, provided an investment review.

Financial Discussion

Motion to receive and file the financial statements.
Moved: Boatright Supported: Cooney Motion Carried Unanimously.

Informational Items
Ken Bush of Risk Financing Analysts provided a review of insurance renewals.

Directors signed the Conflict of Interest and Ethics Declaration.

Kevin Plockmeyer provided a day-to-day operations review.



10.

11

12.

MICHIGAN PROFESSIONAL INSURANCE AUTHORITY
MINUTES
OCTOBER 28, 2025

DFIS Audit Report and Plan of Action

Motion to accept the DFIS Audit Report and send the letter from the National Bank
of Indianapolis for DFIS consideration as the Plan of Action.

Moved: Shelley Supported: Boatright Motion Carried Unanimously.

ZBPW Claim

Motion to approve the costs associated with Zeeland’s claim arising from September
20, 2025 storm damage.

Moved: Boatright Supported: Cooney Motion Carried Unanimously.

Designation of Deputy Secretary and Deputy Treasurer

Motion to designate Grand Haven’s Administrative Services Supervisor as Deputy
Secretary and Zeeland’s Finance Director as Deputy Treasurer.

Moved: Cooney Supported: None Motion failed.

Operations Committee
Motion to establish an Operations Committee.
Moved: Boatright Supported: None Motion failed.

Informational Item
The Transmission and Distribution Facilities Valuation Report was discussed.

Other Business
The next meeting is scheduled for Wednesday, May 20, 2026 at the Zeeland offices.

Public Comment Period
No comments were provided.

Closed Session

At 2:48pm by motion of Director Cooney, supported by Director Boatright, the Board
entered closed session pursuant to Section 8(1)(h) of the Open Meetings Act to
consider material exempt from discussion or disclosure by state or federal statute,
specifically information regarding that portion of the funds or liability reserve of a
pool established for the purpose of satisfying a specific claim or cause of action, as
protected under Section 12 of the Intergovernmental Contracts Between Municipal
Corporations Act, MCL 124.12

In Favor: Boatright, Cooney, Shelley Opposed: None

Motion Carried Unanimously.

. Return to Open Session

At 3:06pm the Board adjourned the closed session and re-entered open session.
Moved: Boatright Supported: Cooney Motion Carried Unanimously.

Approval of Closed Session Strategy
Motion to approve the strategy as discussed in closed session.
Moved: Cooney Supported: Boatright Motion Carried Unanimously.

-2-



MICHIGAN PROFESSIONAL INSURANCE AUTHORITY
MINUTES
OCTOBER 28, 2025

13. Adjournment

Motion at 3:06pm to adjourn the October 28, 2025 meeting.
Moved: Cooney Supported: Boatright Motion Carried Unanimously.

Respectfully submitted,

Rob Shelley
Secretary to the Board
(by Danielle Martin)

DM



MICHIGAN PROFESSIONAL INSURANCE AUTHORITY
CLOSED SESSION MINUTES
OCTOBER 28, 2025

Location: 1700 Eaton Drive, Grand Haven, M1 49417
Time: 2:48 pm

Present: Directors Boatright, Cooney, and Shelley.
Absent: Director Westbrook.

Others Present: BLP Finance Manager Lynn Diffell, City of Zeeland Assistant City
Manager/Finance Director Kevin Plockmeyer, City of Zeeland Lead Accountant Detra
Telgenhof, BLP Administrative Services Supervisor Danielle Martin, Risk Financing
Analysts Managing Member Ken Bush.

Purpose: Closed session pursuant to Section 8(1)(h) of the Open Meetings Act to consider
material exempt from discussion or disclosure by state or federal statute, specifically
information regarding that portion of the funds or liability reserve of a pool established for
the purpose of satisfying a specific claim or cause of action, as protected under Section 12
of the Intergovernmental Contracts Between Municipal Corporations Act, MCL 124.12.

Time Closed Session Ended: 3:06 pm

Respectfully submitted,

Robert Shelley
Secretary to the Board
(by Danielle Martin)

DM



	1.  Meeting Agenda November 11 2025
	2.  BPW Minutes October 14 2025
	4.  Safety Minute - Complacency
	5. A. Electric Statement of Revenues and Expenses
	5. B. Water Revenues and Expenses
	5. C. 1. Electric Disbursements
	5. C. 2. Water Disbursements
	5. D. Recommended Transfers
	6. A. 1. Finance Customer Service Update - November 2025
	6. A. 2 Water Rate Revisions effective  January 1, 2026
	UFS 2026 Rate Design Memo dated October 8, 2025
	Ordinance No. 1045 Water Rate Revisions eff January 1, 2026

	6. A. 3. Electric Rate Revisions effective January 1, 2026
	UFS 2025 Electric Rate Design Slide Presentation
	Ordinance No. 1044 Electric Rate Revisions

	6. A. 4. PFAS Settlement Fund Commitment
	6. B. 1. Water Department Report
	6. B. 2. Church St Reconstruction - Central Ave. to CWP
	Bid Award Recommendation Letter
	Estimated Project Budget and Funding

	6. B. 3. Carlton Booster Station Improvements Professional Services
	Carlton Booster Station Proposal Letter_2025.10.10
	Carlton Booster Station - design engineering budget_2025.10.10

	6. C. 1. T&D Department Update - November 2025
	6. D. 1. Power Production Report - November 2025
	7.  Other Business Memo November 11 2025
	7. A. Introduction of New Employee - Chris Wolters
	7. B. MPPA Commerical and Industrial Demand Response Program
	C & I Demand Repsone Program Key Talking Points
	Resolution
	C & I Demand Response Project Master Participation Agreement

	7. C. Water and Electric Terms of Service
	Water Terms of Service (draft)
	Electric Terms of Service (draft)

	7. D. MPIA Fall Board Meeting October 28 2025

